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Mrs Justice Dias :
A:  INTRODUCTION
1. From time to time, the court finds itself in the position of having to investigate eventswhich took place many years or even decades ago and where, because it was neveranticipated at the time that those events would later become the subject of feveredlitigation, no particular steps were taken to preserve contemporaneous documentation orto crystallise recollections.  Almost invariably, the key participants will have moved on,the memories of those remaining will have faded, and much of the oral evidence willcome from people who either came much later to the story or were only peripherallyinvolved (if at all) and can only speak in terms of general practice.  In such circumstances,the court must perforce do the best it can on such material as is available to it.
2. This is one of those cases.  The dispute arises out of the historic mis-selling of paymentprotection insurance (“PPI”) over the period prior to 14 January 2005.  For conveniencethese will be referred to as the “pre-2005” policies.  (Quite what the exact starting pointmight have been, no-one was able to identify, although it was thought to be some time inthe 1970s.)  The policies in question were underwritten by various predecessors of theClaimants (“AXA”) as insurer, and sold as an adjunct to retail store cards by variouspredecessors of the Defendants (“Santander”) as credit lender.  An important feature ofthis case is that for much of the relevant period, the various insurance entities and creditlending entities were all part of the GE corporate group reporting to the same profit centrewithin GE.
3. As is well known, store cards are retailer-branded credit cards.  They were marketed bycredit lenders to customers through high-street retailers and required the customer to makea minimum monthly repayment in respect of any outstanding balance on the card.  Inreturn for a monthly premium added to the credit balance (typically 78 pence per £100outstanding), PPI insurance could also be purchased, which typically covered some or allof the customer’s repayment obligations under the credit agreement in certain events,including, death, accident, illness, or redundancy.1  Over time, additional benefits wereoften added, such as price protection (which reimbursed the customer if the purchaseditem was subsequently reduced in price within a specified period) and purchase protection(which covered accidental damage to purchased items within a specified period.)
4. The marketing of store cards and any associated PPI product mainly took place in retailstores at the till, although some PPI sales were concluded later over the telephone.  Thesales were conducted pursuant to arrangements made between the credit lender and theindividual retailers and the insurer was not physically involved in the actual sellingprocess.  The insurance itself was a fairly standard product, albeit with minor variationsin cover for different stores.  No doubt reflecting this general division of input, around95% of the policy premium remaining after payment of claims was typically paid to thecredit lender while around 5% was retained by the insurer.2

1 As premium was only charged by reference to the balance outstanding on the card, the amount could fluctuatedepending on the extent to which the card was used.  Furthermore, accounts could come in and out of cover asand when the balance dropped to nil.
2 See further paragraphs 50-52 below.
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5. During the course of the late 1990s and early 2000s, complaints relating to the mis-sellingof PPI generally began to increase, leading to a veritable explosion from around2011/2012, which was undoubtedly fuelled by the involvement of more or less scrupulousclaims management companies.  This ultimately resulted in redress being paid to hundredsof thousands of customers by way of premium refunds which, with interest, totalled some£38 billion across the industry for all forms of PPI.3  Because of the way in which theregulatory regime worked (of which more anon) and notwithstanding that the complaintsoverwhelmingly related to the way in which the PPI had been sold rather than the productitself, it is AXA which has been required as inheritors of the insurer’s liabilities to bearthe costs of this redress in respect of pre-2005 sales amounting to almost £500 millionplus more than £70 million in respect of fees payable to the Financial Ombudsman Service(the “FOS”) for complaints referred to the FOS, as well as the internal administrativecosts of processing complaints.
6. In relation to policies sold after 14 January 2005, it is Santander as inheritor of theliabilities of the credit lender which has assumed full liability for all customer redress andassociated costs.  This is because under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000(“FSMA”), the credit lenders themselves became regulated entities at that date in relationto their insurance mediation activities and, as such, were obliged by the regulators to takeresponsibility for any complaints arising out of policies sold thereafter.
7. In practice, the sales of the PPI policies in issue before me were reported by the creditlender to the insurer in bulk which meant that the insurer had no customer data whichwould have enabled it to handle complaints effectively.  For that reason, complaintshandling in relation to the pre-2005 policies was in fact undertaken on behalf of AXA bySantander, latterly pursuant to a Claims Handling Agreement (the “CHA”) concluded inDecember 2017 (subsequently amended in December 2018).  Pursuant to the CHA, AXAhas paid service charges of over £120 million to Santander.
8. By this claim, AXA seeks to recover its losses relating to the pre-2005 policies fromSantander on a number of alternative bases.  No claim is made in respect of the servicecharges paid to Santander under the CHA which are now accepted to be irrecoverablefrom any Santander entity:

(a) First, AXA alleges that a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) wasconcluded between the parties in 2015 pursuant to which Santander agreed to takeresponsibility for handling all complaints arising out of the mis-selling of pre-2005 PPIpolicies sold by its predecessors and underwritten by AXA’s predecessors and to payall associated customer redress, FOS fees and administrative costs;
(b) Alternatively, it alleges that Santander is obliged to indemnify AXA against anyliability arising out of its predecessors’ acts or omissions pursuant to an indemnityclause contained in an agreement (the “Agency Agreement”) concluded between therelevant parties on 1 December 2000;

3 PPI was not, of course, only sold as an adjunct to store cards.  It was also sold, for example, in conjunctionwith mortgages and personal loans.
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(c) Alternatively, it alleges that it is entitled to claim some but not all of its losses underthe Civil Liability (Contribution) Act 1978 (the “Contribution Act”) on the basis thatboth AXA and Santander were liable to the customers whose claims were paid by AXA;
(d) Finally and alternatively, it claims damages in common law negligence for breach ofduties owed directly to AXA’s predecessors by Santander’s predecessors as their agent.It is conceded that a claim on this basis for losses arising in relation to any policies soldbefore December 2002 is now time barred.4

9. For its part, Santander pursues two counterclaims.  The first is not controversial andrelates to around £7 million deducted by AXA from sums otherwise payable to Santanderpursuant to a profit-sharing agreement in the Agency Agreement.  AXA accepts that thissum should be set off against any award in its favour.  The second arises only if theContribution Act is found to be applicable (Santander’s primary case being that it is not).In that event, Santander asserts that it is entitled to recover some £151 million that it hasitself paid directly to customers in respect of pre-2005 sales on the basis that responsibilityshould be apportioned in whole or in part to AXA’s predecessors.  A further unrelatedcounterclaim for rectification was conceded by AXA before trial and has now fallen away.
B:   THE PARTIES
10. The corporate history on both sides is exceedingly complicated.  Fortunately for bothcourt and reader, the following can be taken as a sufficiently accurate summary for thepurposes of the present dispute.
11. The relevant policies were all underwritten by one or both of two English domiciledcompanies, Financial Insurance Company Limited (“FICL”) and Financial AssuranceCompany Limited (“FACL”).  It is unnecessary to draw any distinction between themand they were referred to collectively throughout the trial as “FICL/FACL”.Historically, FICL/FACL operated jointly under the trading name of GE FinancialInsurance which was part of the GE Capital corporate group until it was transferred to theGenworth corporate group (“Genworth”) in 2004.  Genworth was in turn purchased byAXA on 1 December 2015 at which point, the First Claimant inherited the business, rightsand obligations of FICL while the Second Claimant inherited the business, rights andobligations of FACL.  Both Claimants are domiciled in France and carry on business asinsurance underwriters within the AXA corporate group.  Again it is unnecessary to drawany distinction between them and I shall therefore refer in this judgment simply toFICL/FACL, Genworth and AXA as appropriate.
12. The Defendants are both members of the Santander group domiciled in England.  Thepolicies in issue in these proceedings were all sold on behalf of FICL/FACL by the FirstDefendant (“SCL”) which, for much of the relevant time, was called GE Capital Bank(“GECB”).  GECB was originally part of the Debenhams corporate group before beingacquired, first by the Burton group and subsequently, in July 1990, by the GE Capitalcorporate group.  In 2009, GECB was acquired by the Santander group and changed itsname to SCL.  Pursuant to a novation agreement dated 22 January 2010, SCL novated itsrights and obligations relating to UK insurance business under the Agency Agreement to
4 A standstill agreement was entered into in December 2017 such that claims in relation to policies sold during15-year period from 2002 are preserved.
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the Second Defendant (“SISUK”).  For the most part I shall refer in this judgment toGECB and Santander as appropriate, only drawing a distinction between SCL and SISUKwhere it is necessary to do so.  The Third Part 20 Claimant, Santander UK plc (“SUK”)is the parent company of SCL and was joined to the proceedings for the purposes of thenow-redundant counterclaim for rectification.  Other than featuring in some of thecontemporaneous documents it plays no substantive part in this dispute.
13. From approximately May 1992, FICL/FACL and GECB were both part of the GE Capitalgroup and FICL/FACL were the exclusive underwriters of store card PPI offered byGECB in the UK.  It was common ground that in relation to the sale of PPI specifically(as opposed to the credit lending aspects of the store cards), GECB was acting asFICL/FACL’s agent.  From 1 December 2000, the relationship between the parties wasgoverned by the Agency Agreement referred to above, although a series of drafts makesclear that it was under negotiation from at least 1996, if not earlier.
C:   THE SCOPE OF THIS TRIAL
14. It was common ground that the present hearing should determine the question of liability.The issues which arise in this respect are identified in relation to each of AXA’s separatecauses of action in sections J-M below.  However, quantum is altogether morecomplicated.  AXA’s losses relate to over 650,000 individual customer complaints.  Withthe sanction of the court, the parties sensibly agreed to proceed on the basis of a statisticalsampling exercise.  As a result, they have agreed that a sample of 771 complaint files (the“Complaints Sample”) can be treated as representative of the total population ofcomplaints in issue in the proceedings, such that it can be assumed that if a particularproportion of the Complaints Sample exhibits a particular category of mis-selling, thesame proportion of the overall population will have been similarly mis-sold.  Variouscategories of mis-selling were also identified and the parties have agreed the correctcategorisation of 469 files in full and a further 141 files in part.  The categorisation of theremainder is still contentious.
15. In the event, so far as concerns quantum the parties agreed a way forward which wasencapsulated in a Consent Order approved by the court on 13 February 2025 to the effectthat:

(a) The court will determine whether each of the agreed categories of mis-selling is capablein principle of giving rise to liability on the part of Santander to AXA;
(b) For each such category, the court will also determine the type of factual circumstancesin which a particular sale within that category will give rise to liability, informed by arepresentative sample of disclosed complaint files;
(c) The court will give such guidance in principle as it considers appropriate as to theevidence required to establish whether a particular file exhibits the relevantcircumstances, for example, whether in the absence of evidence to the contrary it isappropriate to rely on a customer’s assertion as to his or her personal circumstancesand/or as to how a sale took place.

16. It is not envisaged that the court should finally settle any disputes on categorisation ordetermine any questions relating to extrapolation.  Rather, the intention is that, armedwith the guidance referred to above, the parties will exercise best endeavours to resolve
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these matters before returning to court for a further hearing at which the outstandingquestions will either be determined or directions given for their determination.
17. On the opening day of trial, I voiced some concern as to how the court could or shouldapproach the matters set out in sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) above.  For example, to whatextent, if at all, was the court being asked to make a determination which went furtherthan merely confirming that specific sample cases fell into particular categories?  Whatsort of guidance on evidence was being sought when it was not suggested that either partyshould be at liberty to adduce further evidence to bolster its position apart, perhaps, fromreferring to hitherto overlooked or unappreciated documents already in the trial bundles?
18. By the conclusion of the hearing, the parties were agreed that there were some issues ofgeneral principle which I should determine finally as far as possible and they helpfullyset them out in a schedule which I address in a separate Appendix to this judgment.  Theyalso agreed that I should be at liberty to confine myself to making particulardeterminations on the facts of specific sample cases if I felt that a more general statementwas not possible or appropriate.   That is accordingly the approach I have adopted.
D:   THE WITNESSES
19. I have already alluded to the difficulty of trying to make findings about events whichoccurred in the distant past against the background of fading, if not already faded,memories and without a comprehensive documentary record.  Given the general paucityof documentation covering the early years of the relationship between the parties, it waseasy for both parties to home in on isolated specific documents in order to challengeevidence given by the witnesses.  However, the fact that one or other party behaved in aparticular way at one or more specific points in time clearly does not mean that itnecessarily behaved consistently in that way over the entire or, indeed, any particularperiod of the relationship.  Put more simply, the fact that assertion X might be falsified inrespect of one particular date does not logically lead to the conclusion that the converseproposition, Y, is established, let alone established as an invariable practice.  This is apoint which obviously cuts both ways and I bear it well in mind in weighing the oral anddocumentary evidence.
20. AXA called oral evidence from the following four witnesses.
21. Mr Howard Jones:  Mr Jones is now retired.  He joined GE in 1994 having previouslyworked for most of his career in insurance, initially on the GECB side of the fenceoverseeing its telesales operation in Leeds.  In 1995 he became responsible for theinsurance side of GECB’s business and in that capacity began working together withFICL/FACL to provide PPI in conjunction with store cards.  Most of his day-to-day workinvolved managing the insurance products sold by GECB.  In about May 1996, he andGECB’s other insurance personnel moved to the FICL/FACL side of the fence where hebecame Client Relationship Manager with general responsibility for the GECB account,reporting to FICL/FACL’s Assistant General Manager, Mr Ken Mothersdale.  In July1998, he moved to GE Life at which point he ceased to have any involvement in storecard PPI.  He left the GE group altogether in 2000.
22. Mr Jones was an honest witness who was trying to assist the court to the best of his ability.But, as he frankly accepted, his memory of events over a four-year period more than aquarter of a century ago was very hazy.  He readily admitted under cross-examination that
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his recollection might be mistaken and when pressed on particular details by reference tospecific documents, he capitulated relatively easily.  That said, he maintained that he wasleft with residual impressions which I am reluctant to dismiss out of hand.
23. Mr Justin Halse: Mr Halse is also now retired.  He joined FICL/FACL in 1998 afterworking at Lloyd’s of London.  Soon thereafter, he became Marketing Finance Managerin which capacity he oversaw the finance aspects of pricing FICL/FACL’s insuranceproducts.  In 2005 he led the Deal Review Committee, which was a cross-departmentalcommittee reviewing all new product proposals and deals with new clients or extensionsto existing arrangements.  In 2007 he also became head of the Risk team at FICL/FACL.His evidence mainly related to the pricing of the PPI products sold by GECB and waslargely uncontentious.
24. Mrs Emma Smith:  Mrs Smith (then Ms Brown) joined FICL/FACL after graduating in2000, initially in the marketing team.  In around 2001 she moved to the sales departmentwhere she was part of the client relationship team for Black Horse Finance Limited.  In2003,5 she became the Client Servicing Manager for GECB, reporting to the then ClientRelationship Manager, Mrs Kate Greenaway, and it was in that capacity that she becameinvolved with store card PPI.  In 2005, she left FICL/FACL briefly to join MarshMcLennan but returned to the fold in 2006 in a completely different capacity and hasremained there ever since.
25. I found Mrs Smith to be an honest and reliable witness.  She was frank and realistic in herevidence when she could not recall something but stood her ground effectively andconvincingly where she could.  I accept her evidence.
26. Mr James Rember: Mr Rember joined GE Capital in 1998 as Senior Legal Counsel.  In2001, he moved to FICL/FACL as European Legal and Compliance Director supportingits consumer insurance business division.  When FICL/FACL were transferred toGenworth in 2004, he moved with the business to become General Counsel of Genworth’sCredit & Lifestyle Protection business division.  When that division was in turn acquiredby AXA in 2015, he remained as General Counsel with an expanded role which nowincluded the AXA group’s existing global creditor insurance business.  He remained inthat role until August 2023 before joining Coverys UK in December 2023 after a shortperiod acting as consultant to the AXA group.  Mr Rember’s main involvement in thematters relevant to this action related to the period from 2012 including, in particular, theevents surrounding the disputed Settlement Agreement and the negotiation of the ClaimsHandling Agreement.
27. It appears that Mr Rember did not part company with AXA on entirely amicable termssince he brought an employment claim against it.  The claim was settled on terms whichprovided for him to give evidence for AXA in these proceedings in return for payment atthe rate of £450 per hour with a minimum retainer of £900 per month. Nonetheless, I donot consider that the fact that he was being paid by AXA for his assistance detracts fromthe weight to be attached to his evidence.  As he was no longer an employee and so not
5 I reject Santander’s submission that this date was a mis-recollection on Mrs Smith’s part and that she only firstbecame involved in the GECB account in September 2004.  Santander argued that the earliest document whichcould be found to refer to her was from the later date.  However, despite being pressed hard on the point, MrsSmith’s firm recollection was that she had been involved with the account for some time (i.e., more than a fewmonths) before 2005 and I accept her evidence.
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under any obligation to give evidence, I do not find anything objectionable in him havingagreed suitable terms on which he would be prepared to devote a no doubt substantialamount of time and effort to assist.  Mr Pateman and Mr Brandon-Cross were likewiseremunerated for their time by Santander. The amount of Mr Rember’s remuneration isentirely appropriate for a professional person and is nowhere near a level which might bethought to cast doubt on his integrity.
28. As it was, save in relation to one matter (addressed later), I found him to bestraightforward and concise in his evidence and prepared to answer the questions put tohim fully and fairly.  Santander, however, sought to impugn his credibility on the basis ofAXA’s conduct in relation to the CHA and the (now-conceded) claim for rectification.  Insimple terms, the parties had agreed that the service charges payable to Santander forhandling claims under the CHA should be irrecoverable in all circumstances, the intentionbeing to provide protection to both SCL and SISUK.  But due (as we now know) to anerror on the part of Santander’s external counsel, the wording of the final agreement waschanged in such a way as apparently to exclude SISUK from the scope of this protection,and AXA took advantage of this mistake in order to plead a claim for recovery of theservice charges.  On behalf of Santander, Mr Adam Zellick KC submitted that this wasdiscreditable in circumstances where Mr Rember had personally agreed that the chargesshould not be recoverable.
29. As to this, I am not persuaded that Mr Rember acted in any way improperly, let alonedishonestly.  Indeed, it is quite possible that neither side fully appreciated the implicationsof the drafting change when the CHA was signed.  However, when proceedings came tobe issued, I find that Mr Rember almost certainly suspected that Santander had made amistake and potentially missed a trick of which AXA might be able to take advantage.Given that Santander was as big a beast in the jungle as AXA and, moreover, a litigationopponent, I do not regard Mr Rember as having been under any obligation to draw thepotential mistake to Santander’s attention.  He was entitled to assume that it could lookafter itself.  It was undoubtedly unsatisfactory that the claim was not withdrawn morepromptly after Santander proffered an explanation in December 2021, but the point goesno further than that and I do not find that it casts doubt on Mr Rember’s evidence moregenerally.
30. I should also say that Mr Rember was meticulous about confirming oral discussions in afollow-up email.  This is in stark contrast to Santander which rarely, if ever, took notes ormade a record of meetings or conversations.  None of Mr Rember’s emails or records waschallenged as inaccurate contemporaneously and I accept them as reliable.  In so far asMr Hazell gave evidence to the effect that they were not in fact always correct, he tookno steps to say so at the time or to have them corrected, and I disregard that evidencewhich I find somewhat unsatisfactory.
31. The witness statement of a fifth witness of fact, Mr Mark Doherty, which related toaccounting matters, was admitted by agreement without Santander requiring him to attendfor cross-examination.
32. The following witnesses gave oral evidence on behalf of Santander.
33. Mrs Kate Greenaway: As noted in paragraph 24 above, Mrs Greenaway wasFICL/FACL’s Client Relationship Manager for the GECB account and the line managerof Mrs Smith.  Her first position within the GE corporate group in 1993 was as a
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Marketing Assistant.  She started working with PPI directly from about 1996/1997 whenshe became a Client Servicing Manager for FICL/FACL’s client relationship with GElenders, including GECB.  In 1998, she moved to fill the same role in relation to certainnon-GE clients and in 1999 she was promoted (with effect from 2000) to ClientRelationship Manager for FICL/FACL’s PPI products.  In that capacity she assumedresponsibility for the management of FICL/FACL’s relationship with GECB (and others),in succession to Mr Jones.  Mrs Greenaway remained with the business throughout theacquisition by Genworth but was made redundant in 2007, following which she wasimmediately offered a job by GECB, moving to SISUK after GECB’s acquisition bySantander.  She did not have any material involvement in relevant events after 2007.
34. It is fair to state that Mrs Greenaway’s recollection was not particularly good.  However,she was a cautious and careful witness, and I found her to be honest and straightforwardin her answers although I did wonder whether she was tempted at times to take refuge inher lack of clear recollection as a way of avoiding difficult questions.  Nonetheless, so faras her evidence went, I accept her as a witness of truth.
35. Mr Bradley Brandon-Cross:  Mr Brandon-Cross had been involved with PPI from themid-1980s and joined the GE group in 1994 when it acquired the company for which hewas then working.  From then until 2000, he was Managing Director within the GE groupof, first, international business and, subsequently, UK business (which latter includedFICL/FACL).  He was also Chair of the PPI Committee at the Association of BritishInsurers (“ABI”) from 1998-1999.  As such, Mr Brandon-Cross’ evidence was given at ahigh level, and he had very little direct knowledge of the specific matters relevant to thislitigation.  As a result, and despite some combative exchanges with counsel, he was notalways able to support the assertions in his witness statement with concrete evidence.
36. Mrs Philippa Owen:  Mrs Owen joined the financial side of GECB in September 2003,initially as an auto pricing manager.  Her first direct involvement with store card PPI wasin August 2008 when she became Head of Financial Planning & Analysis, where she wasresponsible for managing the profit and loss account, including the financial aspects ofstore card PPI.  From around 2009/2010, issues of consumer redress became anincreasingly large part of her role, including responsibility for making adequate provisionin the accounts.  Despite having been due to leave Santander at the end of 2014, she wasasked to stay on specifically to continue managing the financial aspects of PPI complaintsand from 2015-2021 she was head of Regulatory and Remediation Finance at SantanderUK.
37. I found Mrs Owen to be a straightforward and credible witness.  She was careful in herevidence, and I accept her as a witness of truth.
38. Mr Timothy Lloyd:  Mr Lloyd was formerly General Counsel and Company Secretary ofAlliance & Leicester plc and moved with it when it was acquired by Santander.  InOctober 2014, he was appointed General Counsel of Santander UK plc, a position heretained until his retirement at the end of August 2016.  He was a member of Santander’sExecutive Committee (“ExCo”) from 2008.  As Mr Lloyd frankly accepted, he only hada walk-on part in the drama being played out between the parties, albeit an important one.He had not previously been aware of the dispute regarding PPI redress and was only madeaware of it for the first time in 2015 when he was briefed to attend the critical meeting on4 June 2015 at which AXA asserts that a settlement was agreed.  His evidence was thusconfined to that meeting and the comparatively brief period thereafter until he retired.
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39. Mr Lloyd was a pleasant and open witness.  He gave his evidence in a fair andstraightforward manner, and I have no hesitation in accepting him as a witness of truth.
40.  Mr Steve Pateman:  Mr Pateman was Executive Director and Head of UK Banking atSantander UK from 2011 to September 2015 reporting directly to its CEO.  He onlybecame involved in the dispute with Genworth in 2015 and, like Mr Lloyd, his only directparticipation was at the meeting of 4 June 2015.
41. Mr Pateman was a fair and measured witness although, as he realistically accepted, hisrecollection of events nearly a decade ago was very limited in circumstances where hewas only asked to recall them for the first time in 2023.  On his own admission he couldnot recall precise words or details.  I found it somewhat implausible that he had not beenmade aware of the agreements reached between Genworth and Santander in 2012 and2013 given the size of the sums involved, although he maintained that this was indeed so.The answer may lie in the fact that, as he described it, Santander operated in a very“siloed” manner where each unit had its own clearly defined areas of responsibility andspecific reporting lines, and it was only at ExCo level that cross-unit issues would bediscussed.
42. Mr David Hazell: Mr Hazell joined Santander in March 2012 as Director of Compliancefor the UK group companies.  He remained in that position until he moved to SantanderHoldings USA Inc in the United States in November 2016.  During that time, he wasresponsible for advising upon and monitoring compliance with regulatory rules, guidanceand expectations.  However, he was only marginally and occasionally involved with PPIissues as these were handled by a ring-fenced PPI Remediation team.  Remediation wasa separate function within the Internal Governance and Control team which was headedby Mr Jorge De La Vega and did not fall within Mr Hazell’s compliance remit.  As such,he and his team were only called upon to support the Remediation team with regulatoryadvice when requested.
43. Mr Hazell was nonetheless involved to some extent in the dispute with Genworththroughout 2012 until 2015.  He also attended a meeting with Genworth in August 2012as well as the meeting on 4 June 2015.
44. As a witness, Mr Hazell was less than satisfactory.  His recollection was patchy and didnot always reflect the contents of his witness statement, although I do not necessarilycriticise him for that as it is not unusual for dormant memories only to be triggered onbeing shown particular documents.  However, he was unnecessarily defensive and wasseemingly so determined to give away as little as possible that he repeatedly refused incross-examination to comment on any documents to which he was not himself party –even when he was being asked to accept no more than that they said what they said.Despite being Head of Compliance, he disclaimed knowledge or responsibility for muchof what was being discussed and agreed within Santander regarding PPI remediation.This was on the basis that it was all being dealt with by the Remediation team led by MrDe La Vega and that the compliance team would only get involved in response to specificrequests.  Towards the end of his evidence, however, he stated that he would have updatedMr De La Vega on the outcome of the 4 June 2015 meeting.  In answer to a query fromthe Bench as to why he had taken it upon himself to do this given what he had previouslysaid about the separation between the two teams, he claimed that he had worked closelywith Mr De La Vega and he would therefore have felt it appropriate to do so.  Thesuggestion of a close working relationship with Mr De La Vega had never previously
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been made in either his written or oral evidence and, indeed, was completely at odds withthe thrust of his earlier testimony.  It was also noteworthy that, while Mr Hazell claimedto have had very clear opinions about where liability should sit for the pre-2005complaints which frequently differed from the views expressed by others withinSantander, yet there was no evidence that he ever challenged those different views, eitherorally or in writing.  Overall, I was left with the impression that the views he expressedin court were not necessarily views he expressed quite so trenchantly at the time.  Itherefore treated his evidence with some caution where it was not supported by thecontemporaneous documents.
45. A statement from a seventh witness, Mr Alan Conway, was admitted under the CivilEvidence Act 2005 as Mr Conway is sadly seriously unwell and was unable to attendcourt to give evidence in person.  He joined Santander as an in-house solicitor in 2005following its acquisition of his previous employer, Abbey National, and worked as atransactional lawyer with a focus on commercial contracts.  At the end of October 2014,he was asked by Ms Joanna Day, his ultimate line manager, to become involved in thedispute between Genworth and Santander and he was accordingly party to thecorrespondence both leading up to and following the meeting on 4 June 2015, which heattended.
46. The factual evidence conflicted in a number of respects.  I have no doubt that each witnesswas honestly trying to assist the court to the best of his or her recollection but, given thepassage of time since the events in question and the fact that many of the witnesses wereonly recently asked to recall what happened, it is inherently likely that to some extenttheir recollections were based on an element of reconstruction, whether conscious or not.On top of that, it is in the nature of things that individual participants in the same eventwill approach matters from their own perspective and are accordingly likely to perceiveand remember things in different ways which emphasise different aspects of whatoccurred.  For all these reasons it is entirely unsurprising that recollections may differ,and where this happens it is ultimately for the court to weigh the competing accounts asbest it can in order to decide on a balance of probabilities what is most likely to haveoccurred.
47. Each party called expert evidence on the marketing and regulation of credit insurance inthe period c. 1990-2005: Mr Stuart Pendleton for AXA and Mr John Blundell forSantander.  As one might expect, there was substantial agreement between them on mostpoints, including in particular the standards which applied to the selling of store card PPIover the relevant period.  Both experts were knowledgeable and authoritative, and I wassatisfied that their evidence was a fair reflection of their honest opinion. The few matterson which they differed are discussed below in relation to the relevant issues.
E:   THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FICL/FACL AND GECB IN PRACTICE
48. The legal relationship between FICL/FACL and GECB is considered in more detailbelow.  So far as the practical aspects of that relationship are concerned, however, I findthe following to be established on the evidence.
49. GECB was the dominant provider and distributor of store cards in the UK and by 2004had captured around 50%-70% of the market, representing some 12.5 million customers.Many of these customers also purchased PPI policies which generated approximately £1billion in premium.  The precise mechanics of selling were determined between GECB
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and each individual retailer and FICL/FACL had no involvement in the physical sales.Indeed FICL/FACL were excluded from GECB’s relationship with the retailers (no doubtfor reasons of confidentiality) and so had no direct contact either with them or with theend customers (unless and until a claim was made under the policy).  Moreover, GECBwas reluctant to permit FICL/FACL to have access to its telemarketing centre in Leeds(described as the “jewel in its crown”) and attempts by FICL/FACL to get visibility overcustomer data and, for example, penetration rates,6 were generally either rebuffed orignored.  Thus, FICL/FACL could not actively seek out customers for themselves anddepended on policies being sold by GECB alongside the store cards.  It was not in disputethat in this respect GECB was acting as FICL/FACL’s agent and that the retailer wasacting as a sub-agent of GECB.
50. As indicated in paragraph 4 above, around 95% of the policy premium remaining afterpayment of claims went to GECB as lender while 5% was retained by FICL/FACL.  Theallocation of premium was in theory a matter for negotiation between GECB andFICL/FACL on a scheme-by-scheme basis, although the extent to which FICL/FACL hadany real bargaining power in the relationship was questionable (see paragraphs 55ffbelow).  That said, the allocation of PPI premium was broadly similar across the entireindustry and typically reflected the following:

(a) Around 50%-70% would be payable upfront to GECB as advance commission.  Thiscommission was never repayable in any circumstances;
(b) Around 5% was retained by FICL/FACL to fund their administration and set-up costsand provide a profit margin;
(c) Around 25%-40% was retained by FICL/FACL as a claims fund.  Any surplus left inthe claims fund after all claims had been met (typically about 25% of the fund) wasdistributed as profit share.  Invariably 100% of any profit share went to GECB and anyshortfall in the claims fund was borne by FICL/FACL, although there was somepossibility of off-setting losses against prior or subsequent periods;
(d) Around 2% was paid to the government as Insurance Premium Tax (“IPT”).

51. After payment of claims, therefore, GECB typically retained around 61%-76% of the totalpremium.  From this it would fund its own costs and expenses as well as any fees or costspayable under its retailer agreements albeit, on the evidence, the majority of these costsrelated to the store card credit lending aspects of the agreement, rather than the PPIproduct specifically.  There were thus clear advantages to GECB in selling as manypolicies as possible.  Not only was it profitable business in itself for GECB, but the PPIalso protected GECB’s credit risk as it covered certain accidental and unforeseen eventsthat might otherwise have affected the customer’s ability to service the loan.  In addition,as explained by Mr Blundell, profits from the sale of PPI could be used by GECB toexpand its position in the credit market, for example by cross-subsidising its core lendingproduct so as to offer more competitive interest rates than its competitors.
52. By contrast, FICL/FACL’s net margin after payment of their own costs and expenses wasaround 2.5%-3%.  While they could theoretically earn interest on the claims fund pending
6 The penetration rate refers to the proportion of insured balances and indicates the extent of PPI take-up bycustomers.
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disbursement, their ability to do so was necessarily constrained by the need to ensure thatthe fund was readily available to meet claims as and when required.
53. Sales of PPI policies were reported by GECB to FICL/FACL in bulk by means ofbordereaux without any details of individual transactions.  FICL/FACL thus had novisibility over any customer data unless a claim happened to be made under a policy.  Forthis reason, they were not in a position to understand what new types of cover might beattractive to potential customers or how existing products could be improved.  I amsatisfied on the evidence that the design of new products and any proposed amendmentsor enhancements to cover was therefore almost entirely driven by GECB and thatFICL/FACL were purely reactive to its requests.  This is consistent with the viewexpressed by the Insurance Ombudsman7 that it was lenders in the industry who designedPPI products.
54. Whenever a request was made by GECB to FICL/FACL for a piece of new business (bethat cover for an entirely new scheme or an upgrade to the cover offered on an existingscheme, or a completely new product), it would typically also suggest an appropriate retailprice and premium split.8  FICL/FACL would then consider whether they could write theproposed cover at the proposed price.  Since they did not have access to customer data,they could only rely on their experience of comparable schemes with other lenders andany change in pricing would have to be negotiated with GECB, along with the detailedallocation of premium.
55. The evidence of AXA’s witnesses, which I accept, was that negotiations with GECB werevery tough and that GECB was constantly applying pressure on FICL/FACL to increasethe percentage of advance commission and reduce the claims retention, since advancecommission was essentially “risk free” money from its point of view.  Notwithstandingthat the companies were part of the same corporate group and that FICL/FACL operatedeffectively as captive in-house insurers which GECB was expected to use, GECB couldin theory take its business elsewhere if FICL/FACL refused to accept its proposed termsand, according to Mr Halse, this always felt like a real possibility.  No doubt, as MrsGreenaway said in her statement, the companies were working together with the sharedgoal of developing and maximising the business for the overall benefit of the GE group,but as Mr Brandon-Cross stated in his witness statement, FICL/FACL’s strategy was towork with GECB to sell PPI and boost income and profit for GECB, which was a separatecorporate entity from FICL/FACL with separate accounts.  What is clear from theevidence is that FICL/FACL’s share of the pie was towards the lower end of the rangeswhich were regarded as normal in the industry at the time.
56. Further, the evidence of Mrs Smith and Mr Jones was that GECB was very demanding asregards the time in which it expected FICL/FACL to deal with requests for new cover andthe level of support that it required.  FICL/FACL would frequently be asked to respondto a request from GECB within a matter of days so as to meet a planned launch date forthe new scheme or product.  According to Mr Jones, GECB was much closer thanFICL/FACL to the general GE culture of pushing to lead the market, win work andinnovate.  That said, FICL/FACL had the last word on the terms and conditions of any
7 In a speech delivered to the IBC Creditor Insurance Conference on 10 December 1997.
8 Although sometimes the pricing negotiations would start with FICL/FACL’s wholesale price to which GECBwould add a margin.
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policy, for example with regard to exclusions, and some 70% of their business was withother lenders mainly operating outside the store card market.
57. Once agreement was reached between the parties on a particular product, an addendumwould be agreed which set out the basic details of the scheme, its key provisions andeligibility requirements and the premium split.  The addendum also identified the partyresponsible for the costs of producing policy documents, marketing materials and claimsforms.  These addenda were intended to be appended to the Agency Agreement whichwas under negotiation between the parties from about 1996 and were in fact so appendedwhen it was finally signed on 1 December 2000.
58. Although GECB’s witnesses maintained that the relationship between the parties wasamicable, having heard the witnesses, I accept that relations were difficult.  MrMothersdale expressed it thus in 1997: “Among the more difficult of our clients is GCF,who, because they are a sister GE company and because of the personality involved areaggressively demanding and unreasonably intolerant at times.”  Furthermore, GECB hadvery much the whip hand in all negotiations.  Credit lending was its core business and ithad a huge share of the store card market, easily outstripping its competitors.  Only GECBhad access to the retailers and the customers and only GECB was in a position to assesswhat products were likely to be attractive to end users and what would sell well.  In theabsence of any customer data, FICL/FACL were unable to form any view on such matters.Thus, it was GECB which effectively drove the design and pricing of products andFICL/FACL’s role was essentially relegated to that of finding a way of providing whatGECB wanted.  Moreover, although FICL/FACL were not dependent on GECB for themajority of their income which (as already noted) came from outside the store cardmarket, equally it represented a significant proportion of that income which could notreadily be replaced were GECB to start dealing with another insurer.  I therefore rejectthe suggestion that GECB was a mere go-between or cipher interposed betweenFICL/FACL and the end customer.
59. The actual sales process is discussed in more detail later.  At this point, it need only bementioned that the vast majority of PPI policies (around 95%) were sold at the point ofsale by the retail staff of the relevant store at the same time as the customer completed acustomer credit application form for a store card.  This was perceived as being by far themost efficient way to achieve take-up.  It almost invariably took place in public at the tillwhile the customer was also purchasing goods from the retailer and customers werefrequently offered a discount as an incentive to take out a store card.  Prior to 1994, PPIwas generally sold on an “opt-out” basis where it was included in the transaction unlessthe customer positively indicated to the contrary.  However, such “negative option”selling was phased out from 1994, whereafter the credit application form for the store cardincluded a section requiring the customer to indicate positively that he or she wantedcover, either by signing or ticking a box - so-called “opt-in” cover.
60. It was not disputed that GECB’s primary concern was with its core lending business andthat the focus of the transaction was therefore very much on the store card.  On GECB’sown estimate, typically only around 20-30 seconds was devoted by sales staff to sellingPPI in what was generally a fast-paced and pressured environment, particularly duringend-of-season sales or other busy times when there were lengthy queues at the tills.  Itwas also not disputed that sales staff were often part-time or temporary, for examplestudents or teenagers doing weekend or vacation work, and that they were frequentlyincentivised to sell as many policies as possible.  Some stores nonetheless offered
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customers the possibility of going to a separate part of the store to consider and/or discussthe credit agreement and ancillary PPI before signing up.
61. A small minority of policies was sold over the telephone by GECB’s own call centre staff,often during a “welcome call” following up on the conclusion of the credit agreement.Sales by this means offered a somewhat greater opportunity to discuss the nature of thecover and explain its features.
F:   THE REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
F.1: FICL/FACL
F.1.1: BIA/ABI
62. Until FSMA was introduced in 2000, the selling of PPI was self-regulated by the industryitself.  In previous incarnations FICL/FACL were both members of the British InsuranceAssociation (“BIA”).  In 1981, the BIA issued a Code of Practice covering allintermediaries other than registered insurance brokers.  As a condition of membership,members undertook “to enforce the Code and to use their best endeavours to ensure thatall those involved in selling their policies observe its provisions.” It further provided thatit “shall be an overriding obligation of an intermediary at all times to conduct businesswith the utmost good faith and integrity.”  There were specific requirements for anintermediary to:

“A.1.(iii) ensure as far as possible that the policy proposed is suitable to the needs andresources of the prospective policyholder”…
B(i) identify the insurance company;
(ii) explain all the essential provisions of the cover afforded by the policy, or policies, whichhe is recommending, so as to ensure as far as possible that the prospective policyholderunderstands what he is buying;
(iii) draw attention to any restrictions and exclusions applying to the policy.”

63. As members of the BIA, FICL/FACL automatically became members of the ABI intowhich the BIA was merged in 1985.  In January 1989, the ABI issued its own code ofpractice for intermediaries (the “ABI Code”) in materially identical terms to the priorBIA Code.
64. In 1996, the ABI issued a Statement of Practice regarding PPI which “stronglyencourages and expects its members to observe the terms of this Statement and to ensurethat all those involved in selling their policies are aware of, and are asked to abide by,its provisions.” In a section headed “Selling and Marketing Principles”, the Statementprovided that:

“Insurers will comply with the [ABI Code].  The Code provides a framework of generalprinciples within which all general insurance products should be provided…
The specific requirements of the Code vary according to the type of insurance andcircumstances of the prospective insured person.  However, in all cases providers will
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ensure as far as is reasonable that the policy proposed is suitable to their needs andresources.
Providers will give sufficient detail of the essential provisions of the cover afforded by thepolicy so as to ensure, as far as possible, that the prospective insured person understandwhat he/she is buying.
In particular:

 the suitability of a contract will be explained to those who are self-employed, thoseon contract or part time work, and those with pre-existing medical conditions;
 details of the main features of the cover as well as important and relevantrestrictions will be made available and highlighted at the time the insurance is takenout with full details being sent afterwards;
 all written material will be clear and not misleading;
 full details of the cover will be provided as soon as possible after completion of thecontract.”

As regards the policy itself, the Statement exhorted insurers to continue to develop clearerpolicy wording and required policies to define the terms used.  Further:
“The policy will make it clear that change in the insured person’s status, for example frompermanent salaried employment to self-employment, or fixed-term contract or temporarywork could significantly alter entitlement to benefit.
The policy will define when the insured person will receive benefit.  Any conditions relatingto payment of benefits will be clearly displayed in marketing material and policydocumentation.
Insurers will set out clearly any variations or restrictions in cover for insured persons whoare self-employed or on contract or part-time work.  These terms will be clearly defined inthe policy.  Similarly, the effect of pre-existing medical conditions upon the extent of coverwill be explained…”

65. In 1999, the ABI issued Guidance in relation to the Code.  This stated as follows:
“The revised ABI Code was introduced in 1989 to improve consumer protection in theselling of general insurance.  It is designed to ensure that people are clear about the termsand conditions of the policy and the status of the intermediary with whom they deal.  TheCode is mandatory for business sold by ABI members in the UK.
…
What the Code Requires
The Code provides a framework of general principles within which companies should sellgeneral insurance.  The interpretation of the requirements varies according to theparticular type of insurance and the circumstances of the customer.
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ABI members, rather than intermediaries, are responsible for enforcing the Code.Members undertake to use all reasonable and practical efforts to ensure that theythemselves and those selling their products comply…
Complaints Handling.
ABI recommends strongly that member companies join a recognised adjudication schemesuch as the Insurance Ombudsman Bureau (IOB) or the Personal Insurance ArbitrationServices (PIAS).  Membership of these organisations can achieve the overall consumerprotection which is central to the successful operation of the Code.
…”

66. At around the same time, the ABI also issued a résumé of the Code specifically forintermediaries. This contained the following:
“Interpreting the Code
ABI has prepared guidance on how insurers should interpret the key requirements of theCode regarding “best endeavours”, “explain all the essential provisions” and “drawattention to any restrictions and exclusions”. The guidance acknowledges that theinterpretation of the requirements will vary according to the particular type of insuranceand the circumstances of the customer. Examples of how the guidance should be applied torelevant selected classes of insurance are detailed.
Dealing with the specific requirements, the following general interpretation should beapplied:
“Best endeavours”
This aspect is relevant to ABI members who are responsible for enforcing the Code ratherthan intermediaries. The phrase is linked to the member “undertaking to enforce the Code”and use of the phrase “best endeavours” means that every practical effort should be madewithin reasonable bounds as well as in accordance with the general framework of guidanceand individual insurers’ operational methods. The procedural guidance in paragraph 3provides a more structured framework whereby this obligation on ABI members can be metmore definitively.
“Explain all the essential provisions”
It is necessary for the intermediary (insurer, if dealing direct) to provide an overview ofthe policy. The detail will vary depending on the particular class of insurance. However,the proposer should have a reasonable understanding of what he is buying, whether this isexplained orally or whether he is given a summary and his attention drawn to the mainpoints. In this respect, it is important to recognise the responsibility under the ABIStatement of General Insurance Practice that insurers will work towards clearer policywordings.
The intermediary is not expected to go through all the provisions and exclusions in detail.The important feature is to identify the level of cover being provided (for example, in thecase of household contents whether it is indemnity or new for old ), that the type of policybeing sold suits the circumstances of the proposer and the level of protection they are
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seeking as far as possible. It is not good enough simply to offer, for example, an indemnitybasis of cover without explaining the limitations and, indeed, that other options areavailable, unless, of course, the proposer wittingly asks for that type of cover.
“Draw attention to any restrictions and exclusions”
The same general principles outlined above apply equally here. Certain exclusions,conditions, restrictions etc under a particular policy will be common to all policyholders,for example, a condition about fraud. In those circumstances, it would not be necessary toidentify these other than by reference to general exclusions applying to all policyholders ofa particular type of insurance, either orally or in policyholder documentation.
However, some will be more relevant and, indeed, significant to certain but not otherpolicyholders. An example would be where benefit to self-employed people is eitherexcluded or severely restricted for redundancy cover under a creditor insurance policy.Clearly, self employed people should be made aware of this so they can decide whether theother benefits under the policy and the premium to be paid justifies taking out such a policy.
Examples of what may be required depending on the circumstances of the proposer, forsome types of insurance are:-
…
Creditor (payment protection)
Length of time payments will be made and policy duration eg monthly policies in connectionwith mortgage related businesses.
Self-employed exclusions, exclusion of pre-existing health conditions, time limits relatingto claims payments, age restrictions.
…
Membership of a recognised adjudicator scheme
ABI strongly recommends to its members to join a recognised adjudicator scheme, eg theInsurance Ombudsman Bureau (IOB) or the Personal Insurance Arbitration Service(PIAS), to achieve the overall consumer protection central to the successful operation ofthe Code.”

67. From at least 1995, FICL/FACL were members of the IOB.
F.1.2: GISC
68. In 2000, the General Insurance Standards Council (“GISC”) was set up as an independentorganisation to regulate the sales, advisory and service standards of members (includinginsurers and intermediaries).  Its main purpose was to make sure that customers weretreated fairly. With effect from July 2000, it promulgated its own Code for privatecustomers which stated as follows:

“The Private Customer Code
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This Private Customer Code sets the minimum standards of good practice which allmembers of GISC must follow when they deal with private customers. It gives you importantprotection and should help you to understand:
 how insurers, intermediaries and agents, and anyone acting for them, must deal withyou;
 what information you should receive before you commit yourself to buying anyinsurance; and
 how your insurance should be dealt with once it is in place.
…
1 Our commitments
1.1 As members of GISC, we promise that we will:
 act fairly and reasonably when we deal with you;
 make sure that all our general insurance services satisfy the requirements of thisPrivate Customer Code;

…
 give you enough information and help so you can make an informed decision beforeyou make a final commitment to buy your insurance policy;
…
Matching your requirements
3.2  We will make sure, as far as possible, that the products and services we offer you willmatch your requirements.
 If it is practical we will identify your needs by getting relevant information from you.
 We will offer you products and services to meet your needs, and match anyrequirements you have.

…
Information about products and services
3.3 We will explain all the main features of the products and services that we offer,including:
 who the insurer is;
 all the important details of cover and benefits;
 any significant or unusual restrictions or exclusions;
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 any significant conditions or obligations which you must meet; and
 the period of cover.
…”

69. FICL/FACL were members of the GISC from April 2001 at which time they also joinedthe GISC’s own independent adjudication scheme.
F.2: GECB
70. GECB was not an insurer and, hence, not a member of the BIA, ABI or GISC.  Instead,it was from about 1992 a member of the Finance and Leasing Association (the “FLA”).The FLA adopted its own Code in about 1993 which was updated from time to time andwhich set out “standards of good practice for the finance and leasing industry…  TheCode does not, in all cases, indicate in precise terms particular action which must or mustnot be taken.  It sets out principles which members are required to apply, with good senseand in the spirit of the Code.”  Under Section 1.0, members were required to act withintegrity and to act responsibly and with care in the day-to-day conduct of their business.They were also required to provide adequate training for their staff, bringing theprovisions of the FLA Code to their attention and requiring them to carry out their dutiesaccordingly.
71. In a section headed “Credit Insurance” the FLA Code provided that:

“4.2  Details of the major items of cover and exclusions under credit protection insurancepolicies arranged by the member, including eligibility criteria, shall be set out both clearlyand prominently in appropriate literature.  Customers shall be given this information,together with the cost of the cover, prior to making a decision to apply for insurance or atthe time that an application for insurance is being made.”
An updated 2000 version of the FLA Code contained a similar provision as follows:
“3.2  Before or at the time you take out insurance, we will provide you with sufficientinformation to explain both clearly and prominently what the product is, the costs, andthe key benefits, exclusions and eligibility criteria of your policy.”

72. While GECB was not a member of any independent adjudication scheme, complaintscould nonetheless be made against it in relation to mis-selling under the FLA Code andat common law.
F.3: FSMA
73. The coming into force of FSMA on 1 December 2001 changed the regulatory landscapedramatically.  From that date, FICL/FACL became regulated with regard to theunderwriting of insurance and subject to the compulsory jurisdiction of the FOS.Importantly, transitional provisions introduced at the same time applied FOS jurisdictionalso to historic sales that were previously subject to the jurisdiction of the IOB.
74. From 14 January 2005, GECB also became regulated under FSMA in relation to insurancemediation activities and was thus subject from that date to compulsory FOS jurisdiction.However, because it had not previously been a member of any of the adjudication schemes
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listed in the transitional provisions, the FOS did not have jurisdiction over GECB inrelation to complaints about mis-selling prior to 14 January 2005.  Thus were sown theseeds of the present dispute.
75. Since 1 December 2001, the regulatory redress system for customers mis-sold PPI hasbroadly been as follows:

(a) The Dispute Resolution section of the FSA/FCA Handbook (“DISP”) containsmandatory comprehensive rules and guidance for complaints handling and redresswhich apply to all regulated entities from the date on which they became regulated.Since 2010, Appendix 3 of DISP has set out a detailed regime specifically for thehandling of all PPI complaints, regardless of when the policies were sold.  This appliesmuch more rigorous standards than those which applied previously.
(b) A customer can make a regulatory complaint about PPI mis-selling directly against aregulated financial services company.  The company may choose to offer redress inresponse and must decide whether or not to do so by applying the appropriatecomplaints handling procedures.
(c) If the complaint is rejected or the customer disputes the offer made, it can refer thecomplaint to the FOS which was established in 2000 and given statutory powers inrelation to FSMA in 2001.
(d) If the FOS has jurisdiction over the complaint, it will assess it in accordance with broadprinciples of fairness, taking account of regulatory standards at the date of sale and itsview of appropriate market practice, and may order the company in question to payredress.  Redress is calculated by reference to the amount necessary to put complainantsin the same financial position as if the PPI had not been sold to them.  This is generallytaken to be the premium paid plus interest.

G:   THE EMERGENCE OF PPI MIS-SELLING COMPLAINTS
76. It was common ground that complaints about the mis-selling of PPI were virtuallyunheard of until the late 1990s/early 2000s.  Where complaints were made, they tendedto be about the rejection of claims under the cover itself, not about the way in which ithad been sold.
77. In December 1997, however, the Insurance Ombudsman gave a speech drawing attentionto what he perceived as serious deficiencies in the selling of store card PPI and suggestingthat this was potentially a significant problem across the industry and that what he sawwas only the tip of the iceberg.  Thereafter, the issue of mis-selling assumed ever greaterprominence and on 30 January 2007, following an investigation commenced in 2005, theFSA issued a Final Notice to GECB requiring it to pay a penalty of £610,000 in respectof a variety of regulatory breaches in relation to PPI.  These included the failure to review,amend and then operate its sales procedures so as to ensure that all customers receivedadequate information about the policy before making a decision to purchase, failure tomonitor sales practices effectively and remedy any non-compliance, and failure to amendits training procedures to ensure consistent application of sales processes by sales staff.As noted by the FSA:
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“The insurance could be sold on behalf of GECB by store staff employed by high streetretailers across the UK and therefore the firm operated an unusually large salesdistribution model.  The failures had the potential to impact upon a very large number ofcustomers.
This letter forms an important part of the narrative background although it was agreed thatthe findings cannot be relied upon as evidence of the truth of what is said.

78. Three years later, the FSA sent an open letter to industry participants dated 1 August 2010(the “Open Letter”) listing common failings across the industry as a whole in relation toPPI sales of all types, i.e., not just store card PPI.  While the letter in terms only addressedfailings since 2005, the Policy Statement which it accompanied expressly referred toextensive evidence of similar failings before 2005.  These included:
(a) Pressurising the customer into taking PPI;
(b) Automatically including PPI in a loan quotation on the assumption that the customerwould want it;
(c) Leading the customer to believe that the PPI policy had to be taken out in order to obtainthe loan;
(d) Selling the policy without explicit agreement from the customer;
(e) Failing to disclose fairly and clearly and in good time before the sale was concludedthat PPI was optional and that it involved the purchase of an insurance policy;
(f) Failing to take reasonable steps to ensure that the customer only bought a policy underwhich he or she was eligible to claim;
(g) Failing to disclose clearly and fairly (where it was or ought reasonably to have been soaware) and in good time before the sale was concluded that parts of the cover did notapply to the customer in question;
(h) Failing to disclose significant exclusions and limitations fairly and clearly and in goodtime before the sale was concluded.

79. Appendix 3 to DISP dealing specifically with PPI was also introduced at this time andcomplaints began to increase markedly thereafter.  Inevitably, it was only a matter of timebefore the issue of PPI mis-selling was taken up by claims management companies andthis led to a veritable explosion in complaints from about 2012 covering sales going backas far as the 1970s.  Such complaints tended to fall into one of the following broadcategories:
(a) Ineligible customers: where customers were either ineligible for or would face difficultyin claiming benefits under the policy by virtue of their age, employment status, or a pre-existing medical condition;
(b) Unwilling customers: where the policy was sold without informing customers that theywere in fact purchasing PPI, e.g., as an automatic add-on to the store card;
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(c) Uninformed customers: where customers were not informed of relevant and significantexclusions, costs or limitations of cover;
(d) Unsuitable customers: where the policy did not represent good value to the customerbecause, for example, they already had sick-pay benefits or other means to coverrepayments in the event of accident or sickness, or where the policy would only covera small fraction of the outstanding balance on the store card.

80. Given the regulatory position outlined above, Santander (on behalf of GECB) has handledand paid compensation where appropriate in respect of all customer complaints relatingto policies sold after 14 January 2005 applying the procedures and approach set out inAppendix 3 of DISP as it is required to do as a regulated entity.  It accepts that as betweenitself and AXA, it is solely responsible for these complaints and does not seek to recoverany of the sums or associated costs that it has paid out in respect of them (totalling around£235 million).
81. In relation to complaints relating to sales pre-2005, AXA as a regulated entity becameliable under the FSMA transitional provisions to handle mis-selling complaints inaccordance with the provisions of Appendix 3 of DISP irrespective of:

(a) the date when the sales took place, i.e., whether pre- or post-2005;
(b) the fact that the policies were in fact sold by GECB on its behalf; and
(c) the standards of selling which prevailed at the date of sale.

82. As such, complaints submitted after the introduction of DISP in 2010 have mandatorilyhad to be assessed by reference to much more stringent standards than necessarily appliedwhen the policies in question were sold.  As a result, AXA has been required to pay outthe sums referred to above which it now seeks to recover, in whole or in part, fromSantander.  It is not in dispute that since neither GECB nor Santander was regulated priorto 14 January 2005, AXA bears sole regulatory responsibility for these complaints.However, AXA contends that as between itself and Santander, Santander is nonethelessliable for any mis-selling in relation to pre-2005 sales on one or more of the groundsasserted in paragraph 8 above.
H:   THE FACTUAL BACKGROUND LEADING TO THE DISPUTE
83. This section sets out a very abbreviated summary of the timeline leading up to thecrystallisation of the dispute.  For the most part, the issues which I have to resolve focuson specific matters or issues of principle.  Nonetheless, it is helpful to place the relevantevents in some sort of temporal context.  As indicated above, however, it has to be bornein mind that the documentary record was by no means complete and that the gaps werenot necessarily filled by oral evidence.  For example, the earliest available document datesonly from 1994 whereas some of the policies covered by this litigation were sold in the1970s.  There were also frequent instances of a point being raised in correspondencewithout any indication of how it was eventually resolved.  And where, for example, therewere only a few documents in which a question such as training was discussed, it wasimpossible to know whether that was because these were the only occasions when it wasconsidered, or simply because they are the only records which survive.
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84. The earliest of the sales within the Complaints Sample took place in December 1982.This appears to have been an opt-out sale where the customer claimed to be unaware thatPPI had been added to their account.  It was not in dispute that negative option sales werephased out across the entire industry in around 1994 because they were perceived to beunfair and consumer-unfriendly.  By then, the ABI and FLA Codes had both beenadopted.
85. At this time there was no written or formal agency agreement between FICL/FACL andGECB, although negotiations for an agreement seem to have commenced towards the endof 1994.9  None of the witnesses was able to say why it had been considered necessary toconclude a formal agreement, given that the parties were both in the same group and hadbeen operating the substance of an agency relationship for many years without apparentproblem.  None of them suggested that a written agreement was expected to do anythingmore than formalise the pre-existing arrangements.
86. By 1996, a draft agreement had been negotiated with an effective date of 1 July 1996.  On2 September 1996, Mr Jones wrote a file note recording that the agency agreement wasin the process of being signed and that ABI compliance was being discussed at the sametime.  For reasons which no-one could explain, however, the agreement was never signeduntil it was eventually executed on 1 December 2000 in substantially similar terms to theprevious draft, albeit not identical.
87. The emergence of PPI mis-selling as a serious issue has been described above.  Prior to2012, FICL/FACL had minimal, if any, involvement in mis-selling complaints as thesetended to be directed to GECB/Santander (with whom the customer had the creditrelationship) who handled them in accordance with the FLA Code to which it was subjectand paid redress where considered appropriate.  The only complaints that FICL/FACLreceived and processed directly were those relating to claims from customers under thepolicy itself, for example where a claim had been declined or the quantum of a claimpayment was disputed.  However, some mis-selling complaints could reach FICL/FACLwhere the complaint was declined by GECB and was then referred by the customer to theFOS who in turn referred it to FICL/FACL as the sole regulated entities for pre-2005policies.
88. From about 2012, the increasing number of referrals from the FOS concerning allegedmis-selling by GECB began to cause serious concern within FICL/FACL.  An internalSantander report into claims handling similarly noted that the level of PPI complaints wascontinuing to rise in response to increasing media coverage and interest from claimsmanagement companies and the amount of its provision for potential liabilities was alsocommensurately increased.  In a letter dated 13 March 2012 addressed to the Head ofPartnership Management at SISUK, Mr Rember drew attention to the fact that Santanderwas declining around 90% of store card PPI complaints in contrast to its decline rate ofonly 10% for PPI policies overall.  He stated that initial discussions had been taking placewith Alison Webdale of Santander’s Compliance team about how Santander was applyingAppendix 3 of DISP, pointing out that there was now a prima facie assumption that anycomplaint about PPI mis-selling would be upheld by the distributor and appropriateredress paid.  He stated that Genworth had already received about 820 referrals from the
9 An internal FICL/FACL memorandum from March 1996 notes the delay in signing the agreement and refers tothis as a matter which “has been ongoing for about 18 months.”
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FOS which was investigating a further 914 complaints.  He invited discussion on astrategy for handling both existing and future complaints, particularly bearing in mindthat Genworth did not have any of the information necessary to process complaints andcalculate appropriate redress.  He put forward two possible solutions, both of whichassumed that Santander would be responsible for claims handling and payment of anyredress.
89. This letter led to a debate within Santander as to how complaints were being handledwhich involved, variously, the teams dealing with Remediation and PPI (Rich Harris andCaroline Swan), Complaints (Mr Crowley), Compliance (Ms Webdale and Mr Hazell),SCL (Mrs Owen and Mr Atkinson), SISUK (Colin Greenhill) and Legal (RobWorthington).  Internal emails identified that: (i) SCL (as the successor to GECB) wasdifferentiating between pre- and post-2005 sales; (ii) it was declining complaints withoutFOS rights in relation to the former on the basis that GECB was not regulated in respectof these sales; (iii) it was instead referring dissatisfied customers to the FLA; (iv) if thecustomer nonetheless took the complaint to the FOS, this would lead to a referral toGenworth.  Such a differentiation between pre-2005 and post-2005 sales was in markedcontrast to the approach adopted by the rest of the Santander group which had previouslybeen regulated through membership of GISC.  It is also clear that the different approachtaken by GECB was questioned by some and that Mr Crowley and others took the viewthat it should be abandoned so as to bring GECB in line with the wider Santander groupwhich drew no distinction between the position before and after 2005.  Moreover,whatever the strict regulatory position, it was recognised that there might be anexpectation on the part of the regulators that Appendix 3 of DISP should be applied topre-2005 sales with customers being given FOS rights.
90. By May 2012, Santander’s uphold rate for pre-2005 complaints was around 3% comparedwith at least 84% and possibly 96% for post-2005 sales.  Nonetheless, on 2 May 2012SCL sought approval from Santander’s ExCo to continue with its existing claims handlingapproach on the basis that this was justified by GECB’s regulatory position prior to 2005.If approved, SCL proposed that the approach would then be notified to the FSA beforeGenworth could take the matter further.  Calculations showed that an uphold rate of 96%for complaints relating to pre-2005 sales would require an additional provision in theaccounts of well in excess of £100 million – a matter which caused Mrs Owen, at least,some alarm.
91. Approval was clearly given by ExCo since, on 4 May 2012, a meeting took place betweenSantander and Genworth at which Santander stated that it was not obliged to applyAppendix 3 of DISP to pre-2005 sales and had no liability to fund any redress whichGenworth was obliged to pay.  It seems that this position was also communicated in a callon the same day to the FSA which did not apparently object.  It was subsequentlyconfirmed by emails dated 10 May 2012 from, respectively, Mr Worthington to Genworthand Mr Hazell to the FSA.  Santander did nonetheless revise its claims handling policy toensure compliance with the ABI Code so as to “ensure robustness of approach”.
92. On 5 July 2012, Mr Rember wrote to Mr Greenhill of SISUK fundamentally disagreeingwith Santander’s stated position and indicating that Genworth proposed to start payingredress and charging Santander for both redress and any associated costs.  He set outGenworth’s analysis in some detail but in essence his position was that Appendix 3 ofDISP required the same approach to be taken regardless of when the sale took place, and
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that since Santander was solely responsible for the sales of PPI, it alone should bear anyliability arising from mis-selling.
93. By July 2012, Santander had obtained advice from KPMG as to how other marketparticipants were handling pre-2005 complaints.  In correspondence, Caroline Walters ofKPMG referred to two banks in a similar position which made no distinction betweenpre-and post-2005 sales (albeit at least one involved credit cards rather than store cards).She also drew attention to an expectation on the part of the FSA that a robust investigationshould be carried out irrespective of when the sale occurred, and identified at least a riskthat the FSA might regard the distinction as infringing the obligation to treat customersfairly (“TCF”).  It is clear that her main concern was not so much the non-provision ofFOS rights as ensuring that appropriate decisions were taken in dealing with the complaintitself.
94. On 13 August 2012, a meeting took place between Santander and Genworth at thesuggestion of the former to discuss Mr Rember’s letter of 5 July with a view to exploringa commercial solution.  Mr Rember confirmed the outcome of the meeting in an emaildated 14 August 2012 which was accepted to be an accurate record.  It shows that theparties agreed that :

(a) Santander would take over the handling of existing complaints and assumeresponsibility for redress payments and any associated costs incurred by Genworth.These sums would be set off against any profit share otherwise payable to Santander;
(b) In respect of future complaints, Santander was working with KPMG to review itsexisting claims handling process with the aim of ensuring greater consistency betweenpre- and post-2005 complaints.  Once the review had been completed, the parties wouldput in place a process for reducing the number of FOS referrals and handling suchreferrals as were made;
(c) Pending agreement on the new process (which it was recognised might take some time),any new complaints would be passed to Santander who would handle them in the sameway as existing complaints.

95. It was thus agreed at this stage that Santander would assume responsibility for handlingclaims and paying redress, costs and FOS referral fees on all complaints received prior tothe introduction of the envisaged new process and that any sums for which Santander wasliable would be offset against profit share.
96. At some point, it seems that a “Dear CEO” letter was sent by the FSA to Santander whichcaused it to adopt a more generous claims handling approach.  However, not everyonewithin Santander appears to have been aware of the agreement reached with Genworth inAugust 2012.  An internal email from Mrs Owen dated 9 October 2012 expressed concernthat the financial implications of the agreement might not have been fully understood, andthat there was a potential exposure of hundreds of millions of pounds should claimsmanagement companies get wind of the fact that Genworth was paying redress.  On theother hand, a gap analysis carried out by Santander in October 2012 expressed the viewthat the distinction between pre- and post-2005 sales, while legally justified, did notmorally give good service to customers under the “treat customers fairly” principle andrecommended removing it.
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97. In November 2012, Mrs Owen carried out some further calculations of the additionalprovision which Santander would need to make if the uphold rate for pre-2005 sales wasincreased.  In short, for every 1% increase in the uphold rate, a further £1.3 million wouldbe required.  Thus, an uphold rate of 92% would require further provision of £118 million.On 8 November 2012, Mr Harris (who was head of the Remediation and PPI Programme)confirmed that he was aware of the potential impact on provisioning and that changeswere being made to the claims handling policy.  This was clearly a reference to the newprocess to be put in place following conclusion of the KPMG review.
98. On 29 November 2012, Ms Webdale drafted an email recording a meeting held with theFSA and the FOS the previous day, apparently in the context of a review by the FSA intoSantander’s PPI claims handling procedures.  It is not entirely clear whether this emailwas ever finalised or sent.  Be that as it may, it referred to a concern raised by the FOS atthe start of the meeting that different review standards were being applied by Santanderto pre- and post-2005 complaints.  Santander’s response was apparently to assure the FSAand the FOS that the same principles were being applied to both but that 2005 marked thepoint at which it became easier to locate original documentation or electronic copies“which they were satisfied with”.  If this is an accurate description of what was said, itwas more than a little economical with the truth to say the least.
99. On 4 December 2012, Mr Rember chased Mr Hazell for an update on the introduction ofthe new claims handling process.  On 21 December 2012, Ms Webdale circulated theproposed new policy internally within Santander and requested feedback before providingit to Genworth.  By early February 2013, however, Mr Rember had still not been providedwith the policy and was becoming somewhat frustrated at the delay which was starting toput Genworth in a difficult position with the FSA.  By April 2013, the compensation, FOSfees and costs being disbursed by Genworth had exceeded the amount of profit share dueto Santander and on 26 April 2013, Mr Rember’s colleague, Mr McDonnell, warnedSantander that Genworth would thereafter look to start invoicing it instead for the amountsin question.
100. In May 2013, Santander finally approved the new claims handling policy although it wasstill not shared with Genworth as had been promised.  Calculations carried out by MrsOwen’s team estimated that application of the new policy would require additionalprovision of £18.7 million.
101. A further development to be noted around this time was the proposed sale by Santanderof its cards business to a company called NewDay – referred to in the contemporaneouscorrespondence as Project Tosca.  The sale to NewDay required Genworth to enter into anovation agreement and therefore depended on its co-operation.
102. On 1 July 2013, Mr Rember wrote to Mr Hazell referring to the August 2012 agreementand recording that Mr Hazell had previously agreed and acknowledged that Santanderwas ultimately responsible for funding the processing and payment of redress in relationto mis-selling complaints referred to Genworth by the FOS.  He noted that whileSantander had indicated that the new process would be in place by the end of 2012, therehad in fact been no noticeable decrease in the rate of FOS referrals and that Genworthwas still receiving more than 100 per week for which it now proposed to start invoicingSantander, as there was no remaining profit share against which to effect an offset.
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103. After discussing the matter internally, Ms Webdale arranged a meeting with Mr Remberwhich took place on 22 July 2013.  Mr Rember’s follow-up email to Ms Webdale recordsthat they reached agreement on the following matters:
(a) Santander would send Genworth the new claims handling policy for pre-2005complaints;
(b) Santander would arrange some dates for training Genworth’s operational staff on thenew policy;
(c) A process would be agreed between the parties for the handling of future FOS referralsin relation to complaints declined by Santander under the new policy.  Santander wouldcontinue to fund these but wanted to have an opportunity to re-review them beforeGenworth responded to the referral.

104. Ms Webdale never challenged Mr Rember’s account of the meeting directly.  However,she did query internally with Mr Hazell whether it had indeed been agreed as part of theinterim arrangement reached in August 2012 that Santander would be responsible forredress and costs in relation to future FOS referrals.  Mr Hazell’s response was that he didnot recall having discussed the question of FOS referrals after introduction of the newpolicy as the focus had only been on existing complaints and the need to agree a processto reduce the volume of future referrals.  His position was essentially that Genworthshould start handling complaints in accordance with the new policy.  If it chose to payredress outside the policy, Santander should not have to contribute.  Furthermore, if theFOS overturned a decision reached under the new policy, then liability rested withGenworth alone and it was a purely commercial decision for Santander whether it wishedto contribute or not.  While he had previously been concerned that Santander’s previousapproach to assessing complaints left it exposed to criticism, he felt this was no longer anissue under the new claims handling policy.
105. At all events, from July 2013, Genworth began to invoice Santander directly for (i) redress(ii) FOS fees and (iii) its own administrative costs incurred in handling pre-2005complaints and, notwithstanding Mr Hazell’s position, Santander paid these invoiceswithout objection or reservation until February 2014.  On 9 September 2013, MrMcDonnell followed up Mr Rember’s list of action points from the 22 July 2013 meeting,noting that the process for handling future FOS referrals was under discussion betweenGenworth and Ms Webdale.
106. There matters apparently rested until February 2014 when Santander abruptly stoppedpaying Genworth’s invoices in so far as they related to FOS fees and Genworth’s ownadministrative costs.  Internal correspondence within Santander suggests that this wasbecause Santander believed there should have been no (or only minimal) further FOSreferrals after the new process was introduced so that Genworth should not in fact haveincurred any FOS fees or administrative costs.
107. On 6 May 2014, Santander wrote formally to Genworth setting out its position as follows:

(a) A process had been agreed with Genworth towards the end of 2013 whereby Santanderwould handle all pre- and post-2005 claims in accordance with its new policy.  If theclaim was accepted, Santander would pay the redress.  If the claim was rejected, thecustomer would be given FLA rights;
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(b) Should the complaint then be referred to the FOS and thence on to Genworth, Santanderwould send Genworth the necessary paperwork to enable it to deal with the claim butGenworth would be expected to endorse Santander’s original position unless newevidence or information had come to light in which case Santander would re-review it;
(c) All previous payments had been made by Santander solely on a goodwill basis;
(d) While Santander would continue to deal with all pre- and post-2005 claims and payredress where necessary, it would no longer pay Genworth’s administrative costs or anyFOS fees.

108. This was the first occasion on which it had ever been suggested that Santander had onlybeen making payments on a goodwill basis and the assertion was immediately challengedby Genworth.  On 22 May 2014, a conference call took place between Mr Rember andMr McDonnell on behalf of Genworth, Mr Dewey of SISUK and Mr Schumann ofSantander UK.  As recorded by Mr Dewey, Santander had two objectives: first, toconsider settlement of Genworth’s outstanding invoices and, second, to understand theparties’ respective positions so that they could work towards progressing Project Tosca.Santander offered to pay any remaining redress included in the outstanding invoices byoffset against profit share.  Genworth agreed to consider this, although its preference wasto deal with the issue in its entirety and not just limited to current invoices.  For its partGenworth explained that it was still receiving FOS referrals, albeit the volume wasreducing.  It referred to the agreement reached in August 2012 for Santander to reimburseredress, FOS fees and administrative costs which it believed still applied and whichSantander had not challenged until its letter of 6 May 2014.  In answer to Santander’ssuggestion that the August 2012 agreement was only ever an interim arrangement pendingintroduction of the new process, Genworth maintained that the new process had neverbeen intended to derogate from Santander’s continuing liability for pre-2005 complaintsin principle but simply to remove Genworth (and, indirectly, Santander) from furtherexposure to FOS referrals.  However, this had not happened.
109. Further correspondence in which the parties debated their respective positions did notresolve the matter and on 7 August 2014, Ms Day of Santander’s Legal team wrote againexpressing disappointment that Genworth was refusing to co-operate in relation to thesale to NewDay.  She reiterated that Santander was under no regulatory responsibility inrelation to pre-2005 claims and asserted what was said to be its definitive position, namelythat it would continue to reimburse Genworth in respect of claims handled prior to 1 May2013 when the new policy came into effect but not thereafter.  It would, however, continueto pay for cases where it was determined in accordance with the new policy that eligibilitycriteria were not met.  Mr Rember replied on 14 August 2014, challenging the underlyingbasis of Santander’s position but indicating that he was open to discussing a possiblesolution.  In her formal response dated 17 November 2014, Ms Day acknowledged thatdifferent people in different departments of Santander had been taking part in discussionswith Genworth at different times and that this may have created an unhelpful degree ofconfusion.  She likewise indicated a willingness to meet on a without prejudice basis inorder to find a mutually acceptable solution and draw a line under the matter.
110. It took many months to set up a meeting.  Mr Rember was particularly concerned to ensurethat any attendees on behalf of Santander would be fully briefed with “knowledge of thefull history” and “empowered to discuss possible solutions” with Genworth.  He wasassured by Mr Conway and Ms Day that the request had been forwarded to “our key
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stakeholders” and that key decision makers would be present.  After repeated chasing byMr Rember, Ms Day confirmed on 13 April 2015 that Santander wished to resolve thematter “effectively and holistically” without resort to litigation.
111. Eventually, the long-awaited meeting took place on 4 June 2015.  On behalf of Genworthit was led by Mr Rember and also attended by Mr McDonnell and Genworth’s Chief Riskand Compliance Officers.  True to their word, Ms Day and Mr Conway had arranged forthe meeting to be attended on behalf of Santander by some very senior people.  It was ledby Mr Pateman (the Executive Director and Head of UK Banking at Santander UK) withMr Lloyd (Santander’s General Counsel), Mr Hazell (Director of Compliance), Ms Dayand Mr Conway (both senior lawyers) and Ms Walters also in attendance.  Mr Patemanand Mr Lloyd were both members of Santander UK’s most senior executive managementcommittee, ExCo, at the time.  It will be necessary to return to this meeting in the contextof AXA’s primary case that a binding settlement was reached on that occasion.  Forpresent purposes, it is sufficient to note that the parties agreed that Mr Rember’s note ofthe meeting circulated on 5 June 2015 correctly recorded that:

(a) Mr Pateman acknowledged that Santander as distributor of the policies was liable forany mis-selling and should therefore be funding redress and FOS fees and reimbursingGenworth for its administrative costs;
(b) Mr Pateman indicated that he would prefer Santander to carry out the actual claimshandling without Genworth’s involvement (thereby eliminating any administrativecosts to Genworth) and Genworth agreed to seek approval from the FOS for such anarrangement, failing which Genworth would appoint Santander as its agent to managethe complaints on its behalf;
(c) It was agreed that monies currently owing to Genworth should be paid by Santanderinsofar as they could not be set off against any profit share;
(d) Santander asked Genworth to resume discussions with NewDay and acknowledged thatit would remain liable for mis-selling regardless of any agreement reached.

112. Mr Rember’s note then set out a list of “steps to be taken to reflect the agreed outcomesof the meeting:
“1. Santander and Genworth to sign an agreement setting out their agreement on liabilityand the management of complaints. It was agreed that Genworth would prepare the firstdraft of this.
2. Santander to obtain FOS agreement to FOS contacting Santander about complaintsrather than Genworth. It was agreed that SP would speak to FOS about this at his meetingwith FOS later that day.  DH would update JR on this. Genworth and Santander wouldneed to agree with FOS the on going process for managing existing complaints and futureones.
3. Santander and Genworth to agree a reconciliation of the amounts owing to each in orderto settle any outstanding amount.
4. Genworth to restart its discussions with NewDay with a view to commencing profit sharepayments to NewDay once the appropriate agreement had been signed. The obligation to
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pay profit share to New Day would not be retrospective and would only apply to paymentsafter an agreed date. It was agreed that Genworth would not be responsible for any profitshare payments to NewDay prior to the agreed date as these would be settled bySantander.”
113. On 9 June 2015, Ms Day confirmed, after obtaining the “relevant inputs”, that MrRember’s understanding of the position as reflected in his note of 5 June 2015 was correctand that “naturally, it makes sense for this to be incorporated into an agreement.”  Sheexpressed the view that since Santander would now be assuming responsibility for theactual handling of complaints, it would no longer be reimbursing Genworth’sadministrative costs as these would be eliminated.  On 14 June 2015, she confirmed thatMr Pateman had discussed the claims handling position with the FOS who had raised noobjections to the proposal.10

114. Genworth duly produced a first draft of the Settlement Agreement on 18 June 2015.  Thedetails were then negotiated between the parties until a final version was agreed in lateOctober 2015.  A claims handling agreement was also agreed in parallel, with finalisationsubject to the signing of the Settlement Agreement.  By email dated 20 October 2015, MrConway asked Mr Rember to arrange for five copies of the Settlement Agreement to beexecuted by Genworth and then sent to Santander for signature by the appropriatecompanies.  Genworth did this on 22 October 2015.  However, despite increasinglyfrustrated chasing emails by Mr Rember met with equally frustrated apologies from MsDay and Mr Conway, the Settlement Agreement was never signed by Santander.  Itappears that Mr Pateman left Santander UK at the end of November to move to anotherrole within the group and, according to Mr Conway’s email to Mr Rember of 19November 2015, the directors who were authorised to sign in his place (knowing nothingabout the background) had requested that the agreement be referred to ExCo for reviewand approval.  An ExCo meeting then took place on 25 November 2015 and it is one oflife’s little ironies that none of the three executives who had attended the 4 June 2015meeting (Messrs Pateman, Lloyd and Hazell11) was present.  The minutes record simplythat further analysis of the agreement was ongoing due to its volume implications and thatit had not yet been signed.
115. After yet further chasing emails had received no response, Mr Rember was eventuallyinformed by Ms Day on 14 December 2015 that the matter would be presented to ExCobefore Christmas for final confirmation that it could be signed and that she had been askedto prepare yet another summary for the committee to consider.
116. On 7 January 2016, Ms Day wrote formally to Mr Rember.  After noting that Santander’sinternal governance procedures required ExCo to review the proposed settlement withGenworth following Mr Pateman’s departure, she stated that new information had cometo light from the FOS which suggested that some of FICL/FACL’s PPI products wereflawed, in particular in relation to so-called Budget Accounts.  According to Ms Day, theFOS had suggested that some of these products should never have been offered for saleat all.  If so, Santander believed the question of mis-selling was irrelevant and for thisreason did not intend to proceed with the Settlement Agreement.  Ms Day appears to have
10 As it happened, Mr Pateman had a pre-arranged meeting with the FOS immediately after the meeting on 4June 2015.  Although this was to discuss an unrelated matter, he took the opportunity to raise the proposal.
11 Although Mr Hazell later became a member of ExCo, he was not formally on the committee at the time.
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been referring to the subject matter of a meeting between Genworth and the FOS somenine months earlier in April 2015, when the latter expressed concern that GECB’s BudgetAccount might not have represented good value for money as the premium was calculatedas a percentage of the outstanding balance and customers buying this product typicallyonly had very low balances.
117. Unsurprisingly, Santander’s volte face was greeted by Genworth with dismay and, it isfair to say, outrage, not least because of GECB’s own close involvement in the design ofthe Budget Accounts and other PPI products offered for sale.  Meanwhile, the question ofhow claims should be handled going forward remained unresolved.  On 3 July 2017,Santander notified Genworth that it would no longer pay anything in respect of pre-2005policies and on 31 July it stopped handling complaints in relation to such policiesaltogether.  This effectively left Genworth over a barrel.  Santander had handled all claimshitherto and Genworth did not have any of the information necessary to allow it to assumethat role itself.  Any interruption or delay in handling complaints would have adverseregulatory consequences and Genworth could not realistically secure claims handlingservices from anyone other than Santander.
118. After exchanges of correspondence between their respective solicitors, the partieseventually concluded a stand-alone Claims Handling Agreement on 7 December 2017whereby Santander agreed to continue to provide claims handling services in accordancewith Appendix 3 of DISP in return for a service fee on the express condition that such feewould be irrecoverable by Genworth and that all redress and associated costs would beborne by Genworth/FICL/FACL.  On the same date, the parties entered into a standstillagreement suspending the running of time in relation to the claims now made by AXA.On 24 December 2018, the CHA was amended and restated in respects which areirrelevant for present purposes.
119. To complete the picture, it is necessary also to be aware that Santander’s refusal to signthe Settlement Agreement had an impact on the acquisition of FICL/FACL by AXA.  Therelevant Sale and Purchase Agreement was concluded on 1 December 2015 when the fullscope of FICL/FACL’s potential liability for PPI mis-selling was still unknown.  At thatstage it was anticipated that the Settlement Agreement would be signed and that Santanderwould ultimately take responsibility for those liabilities.  The SPA accordingly containedan express provision that 90% of such liability would be allocated to Genworth as sellerbut that this liability would cease on signature of the Settlement Agreement.Notwithstanding the non-signature of the agreement, Genworth refused to pay and thisled to proceedings by AXA against Genworth (“the Genworth proceedings”).  Followinga judgment by Mr Justice Bryan in favour of AXA on liability and quantum, AXA andGenworth entered into a confidential settlement agreement in July 2020.  In practicalterms, therefore, it is Genworth rather than AXA which stands to benefit from success inthis action.
120. On 29 December 2020, a pre-action letter was sent on behalf of AXA to Santander andthe present proceedings were commenced on 29 January 2021.
121. Before proceeding further, it is convenient to dispose of two points.
122. First, AXA repeatedly emphasised the gross injustice which it said would result ifSantander were permitted to avoid liability to make any contribution to AXA/Genworth’s
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losses in this case.  Mr Andrew Green KC submitted on its behalf with considerable forcethat, of the total redress which Genworth had paid out:
(a) Some 25% (£113 million) related to a return of premium – of which GECB had enjoyed95% of the benefit;
(b) Some 30% (£140 million) related to interest charged by GECB on those outstandingpremiums, of which it had received 100% of the benefit;
(c) Some 45% (£207 million) related to statutory interest on (a) and (b) – again representinga benefit accruing almost exclusively to GECB.

123. It is an inescapable fact that AXA/Genworth is in the unfortunate position of having beenstatutorily required to refund monies which it never received and to pay interest on thosesums representing a benefit which it never enjoyed, while Santander, who did reap thosebenefits, claims that it is not obliged to contribute a penny.  The outrage felt byAXA/Genworth is compounded by the fact that the Settlement Agreement under whichSantander voluntarily undertook to assume the burden of making redress was simplyrejected by it at the last minute when it had not only been finally agreed but had also beensigned by Genworth and delivered to Santander for execution at the latter’s expressrequest.
124. Were it only a question of fairness and equity, AXA would be on strong ground indeed.However, it is truism that hard cases make bad law and a general feeling that AXA hasbeen ill-used is no substitute for proper legal analysis.  The court’s task is not simply todo justice; it is to do justice according to the law, and any sympathy that I might otherwisehave felt for AXA’s plight must be firmly put to one side when undertaking that task.
125. A similar point can also be made in relation to Santander’s converse complaint.  This isthat the DISP complaints regime pursuant to which AXA/Genworth have been requiredto pay the sums claimed in these proceedings (and which Santander itself has beenrequired to apply in respect of post-2005 sales) involves the application of much morerigorous standards than those regarded as acceptable at the time the sales were made.  Itis also heavily weighted in favour of the consumer through evidential presumptionsrequiring assertions made in the complaints form to be accepted in the absence ofevidence to the contrary, and by requiring complaints in certain instances (for example,negative option sales or sales to the self-employed), to be mandatorily “auto-upheld”without further investigation into the facts (such as whether the customer might in facthave known about and wanted the cover).  It was submitted by Mr Zellick that if thecurrent claim succeeds, the effect would be to hold Santander liable for sales which wereproperly made in accordance with the universally applied standards of the day and withoutproper scrutiny of the factual basis of the underlying complaint.  He argued that this wouldbe wholly unjust and unjustified.
126. Again, however, appeals to jury points of this nature cannot avail if AXA succeeds insatisfying the court that it has a cause of action against Santander which is both factuallyand legally well-founded.
I:   “RESPONSIBILITY” FOR MIS-SELLING AS BETWEEN FICL/FACL ANDGECB
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127.  A recurrent theme of Santander’s submissions was that responsibility for any mis-sellingwas to be laid – if not entirely, then at least substantially – at FICL/FACL’s door on thebasis that they had an overriding responsibility for the way in which PPI was sold.  Thisargument was packaged in a variety of beguiling ways depending on the context in whichit was deployed.  Thus, in the context of AXA’s indemnity claim, it was presented as afailure by FICL/FACL to comply with a condition precedent requiring it to have compliedwith their duties under the Agency Agreement or as a question of causation/authorisation.In the context of the claim in negligence, it was said to be relevant to breach and causation.
128. I put it to Mr Zellick during the course of argument that the question of responsibilitymight be answered differently depending on the particular relationship in which it arose.For example, the undisputed fact that FICL/FACL bore primary responsibility for the saleof PPI vis-à-vis the regulator, did not necessarily mean that they bore primaryresponsibility as between themselves and GECB or the end customer.  Mr Zellick,however, was unperturbed by any such potential distinctions.  In his submission,FICL/FACL bore primary responsibility vis-à-vis the regulator, GECB and the endcustomers.  This is a submission which will have to be scrutinised in due course in relationto each head of claim.  Nonetheless, in whatever guise the argument was presented, itraised the following issues with which it is convenient to deal with compendiously at theoutset:

(a) The standards to be applied to the sale of PPI policies at the relevant time;
(b) Whether, on the evidence, PPI was mis-sold by GECB in breach of those requirements;
(c) If so, whether there were any steps which FICL/FACL could reasonably have takenwhich would have avoided such breaches.

129. Having done so, it will then be possible to draw the consequences of my findings in thecontext of each cause of action asserted by AXA.
I.1: The applicable standards
130. There was no real dispute that the appropriate standards to be applied to the sale of PPIwere those set out in the applicable regulatory Codes.  There was also some debate about“industry standards” more generally.  However, when assessing the conduct of the partiesI do not consider that they can be regarded as having acted reasonably by following lowerstandards than those required by the industry regulators: see Lloyd’s Bank Ltd v Savory& Co., [1933] AC 201; Bolam v Friern Hospital Management Committee, [1957] 1 WLR582.  If the practices of the industry as a whole were uniformly poor and below thoserequired under the ABI Code, then so much the worse for the industry.
131. The extracts from the various codes set out above show that they did not differ over timein their essentials, at least in the period up to the introduction of FSMA.  The expertsprimarily concentrated on the requirements of the ABI Code and I accept that this is theappropriate benchmark against which the conduct of the parties should be measured.
132. On the basis of the agreed expert evidence, I am satisfied that someone selling PPI wasobliged under the ABI Code to do the following:
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(a) Refer to the product and either inform the customer explicitly of the option to declinecover (opt-out sales) or obtain their express consent to purchase it (opt-in sales);
(b) Take steps to ascertain the customer’s eligibility for it;
(c) Explain that the policy was being sold as agent on behalf of the insurer;
(d) Identify the insurer;
(e) Outline the key benefits, including the nature of the cover, and its cost;
(f) Refer to the existence of exclusions and restrictions in relation to matters such as age,employment status and pre-existing medical conditions, and the fact that these were setout in the Summary of Cover (the “Summary”);
(g) Give the customer an opportunity to read the Summary before entering into a contractso that they had a reasonable understanding of what they were buying before theysigned.

133. On the basis of the expert evidence, I accept Mr Zellick’s submission that prior to 2005,the concept of “suitability” as referred to in the ABI Code was regarded as synonymouswith “eligibility” (i.e., age limits and employment status) and did not include theconsideration of demands and needs which would be required now.  I therefore acceptthat it was not unreasonable at the time to take the view that if a customer was eligible totake out a policy, they would derive at least some benefit from it.  I also accept that salesstaff were not expected to reinvent the wheel for PPI if the relevant information as to ageand employment status had already been captured as part of the credit application unlessthey had reason to believe (whether from the disclosed information or otherwise) that acustomer was, for example, approaching the upper age limit or was a student or self-employed.  In that case I accept Mr Pendleton’s evidence there was an obligation underthe ABI Code to discuss and explain the eligibility requirements in more depth.
134. As regards exclusions and restrictions, the experts agreed that – other things being equal– the salesperson was not obliged to explain individual exclusions or to discuss potentiallysensitive medical conditions or financial information such as whether the customer hadother resources to cover their repayments.  Again, however, I consider that if thesalesperson had reason to believe (whether from the disclosed information or otherwise)that a customer might, for example, have a medical condition which would affect thecover, they were obliged by the ABI Code to explain the relevant restrictions more fully;
135. It was Mr Blundell’s view that the obligations in (e) and (f) were sufficiently met by asimple reference to the Summary, whether or not the customer took time to read it.  I haveserious doubts whether a bare reference without more would have been adequate, bearingin mind the emphasis placed by the ABI Code on ensuring that the essential provisions ofthe policy were explained in sufficient detail for the customer to understand what theywere buying and the Resume published in 1999 which referred expressly to giving thecustomer a Summary “and [drawing attention] to the main points.”  Be that as it may,both experts agreed that there would not be compliance with the ABI Code if thesalesperson said nothing about the Summary but just relied on the customer reading it aspart of the overall documentation given to them after signature.  As Mr Blundell explainedin cross-examination:
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“Our view as the insurer was the summary of cover was such an important part of the salesprocess in terms of the information that the customer needed, so we wanted the salesperson
− the salesperson would be expected to mention the product, limitations applied –
 Q. What do you mean by mention the product, let's just break this down?
 A. It covers you [for] life, [the] life so that if you die it pays off the balance. It coversaccident, sickness and unemployment. So it pays a monthly instalment if you are out ofwork for those reasons. There are limitations both in terms of time and money. There arepolicy exclusions which apply. All of those are detailed in the summary of cover, pleaseread the summary of cover, and the summary of cover to the insurer was such an importantpart of the process because it covers everything and without in any way wishing toundermine the sales process, we wanted the salesperson, whether it was in a branch or aretail store , to provide context within which that summary of cover would more likely beread, i.e. mentioning it covers these things, but all the detail was in the summary of cover.To merely hand the summary of cover to the customer and not say anything would not havebeen acceptable because you are not providing a context in which that summary of covermight be read.”

136. Thus, it was common ground between the experts that if the salesperson did not mention(i) the product and the areas of cover; (ii) the existence of exclusions/restrictions; and (iii)the Summary prior to concluding a sale, there would be a breach of the ABI Code.  Theyfurther agreed that such a breach could not be remedied by the fact that the customer wasgiven or sent a Summary of Cover after they had signed up for the policy even within thecooling-off period.  I concur.  It cannot have been compliant to rely on the customer toappreciate that they had been sold a policy they may not have wanted or needed and thento cancel it.
137. There is an obvious danger in this case of applying liberal doses of hindsight and oflooking at events which took place many decades ago through a contemporary regulatoryprism.  However, that danger is minimised to a large degree in this case because theexperts agreed that the obligations referred to above applied throughout the entirety of theperiod with which we are concerned.  Furthermore, I find that in these respects, there wasno sea-change in the standards required after the advent of FSMA.  This much is madeclear by the FSA Policy Statement issued in August 2010 which, in response to specificcriticism that it was applying higher standards retrospectively, stated expressly that:

“Prior to January 2005, the General Insurance Standards Council (GISC) Code and, priorto the GISC Code, the Association of British Insurers (ABI) Code, constituted the industrycodes of good practice in relation to the sale of insurance. In addition, the provisions incommon law such as the general duty of utmost good faith in insurance contracts andmisrepresentation would also have been relevant at that time.
GISC members signed up to a series of commitments set out in the Code, which in our viewhad a similar effect to the obligations set out in the current regulatory system.  For example,paragraph 1.1 of the Code set out that GISC members promise to ‘act fairly andreasonably’ when dealing with customers. This is similar to FSA Principle 6 (treatingcustomers fairly). Applying pressure to a customer to take PPI (failing 1) is undoubtedly afailure to act fairly and reasonably and as such is contrary to paragraph 1.1 of the Codeas well as a breach of FSA Principle 6.
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Another example is paragraph 1.3 of the Code which set out the GISC members’ promiseto ‘give customers enough information and help so customers could make an informeddecision before they made a final commitment to buy an insurance policy.’ This is similarin effect to FSA Principle 7, and also ICOB 2.2.3R, ICOBS 2.2.2R (which are the clear,fair and not misleading rules) and ICOBS 6.1.5R (ensuring customers can make aninformed decision). Providing misleading or inaccurate information about the policy to thecustomer most likely would be in breach of GISC paragraph 1.3 in the same way that itwould be a breach under the relevant provisions after January 2005. In addition, this couldalso amount to a misrepresentation under the general law, for example.
There will, however, be more specific failings that will not have a correspondingcommitment in the GISC Code, for example, the failure to disclose ‘price informationcalculated in a way to enable the customer to relate it to a regular budget’. The GISC Codehas commitments regarding provision of information on costs. However, they do notdescend to this level of detail. The same applies for the general law, which may notnecessarily require information on price in the specific manner described in this failing.”

138. It is therefore clear that the requirements of the ABI Code which are in issue in theseproceedings did not materially change post-FSMA.  The following points made bySantander are accordingly something of a red herring:
(a) Mr Blundell gave evidence that the concept of mis-selling did not exist in the 1980sand 1990s.  As to this, it may have been Mr Blundell’s personal experience that non-compliant sales practices were not expressly or routinely referred to as “mis-selling”,although I note that both FICL/FACL and GECB were referring explicitly to“mis-selling” in early 1998.  But how they were labelled is irrelevant.  Mr Blundellaccepted that policies were sold to ineligible people from time to time and that is mis-selling, however it may have been described at the time.  In any event, Mr Pendleton’sevidence was that what would now be regarded as “mis-selling” tended to be handledby the credit lender as a refund and processed in bulk, rather than identified specificallyas a complaint.  This may well have served to mask the problem from an insurer’sperspective.  At all events, it is clear that complaints about “mis-selling” were beginningto emerge in 1997 in sufficient numbers to be a cause for concern as evidenced by (i)the Insurance Ombudsman’s “tip of the iceberg” speech in December 1997; (ii) MrsGreenaway’s evidence; (iii) GECB’s own internal compliance review in November1997 (as to which see paragraphs 148-149 below); and (iv) the FSA’s Policy Statementof August 2010.
(b) Mr Blundell’s view was that there was no widespread abuse in the market before 2005.He said that he had never been aware of a problem and that as far as he was concerned,PPI was always sold in accordance with “our” interpretation of the ABI Code, by whichI understood him to mean the three insurance companies for whom he worked over theperiod.  He also said that his three employers had only experienced a very low level ofcomplaints.  He was inclined to dismiss the Insurance Ombudsman’s speech asunnecessary scaremongering and suggested that any perceived increase in claims wasdue to a rapid expansion of the market.  However, I cannot accept that this was the soleexplanation.  Mr Blundell accepted that he had never himself been involved in orobserved an actual sale of PPI and that all his information was anecdotal and based onwhat he had been told by colleagues.  He further accepted that the complaints whichfound their way to insurers such as FICL/FACL were predominantly about the handlingof claims under the policy or claims decisions rather than mis-selling.  Thus, the low
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level of complaints to his employers could well have been explained, at least in part, bythe fact that most mis-selling complaints were processed by the credit lenders as refundsand not passed back to the insurers.  I therefore do not place any significant weight onthis evidence.
I.2:   Was PPI sold by GECB in breach of the ABI Code?
I.2.1:   The available evidence
139. The earliest relevant document is an internal FICL/FACL memorandum dated March1996 which records that GECB was refusing, notwithstanding FICL/FACL’s advice, toincorporate the EC Third Directive into its documentation.  Moreover, it was notproviding FICL/FACL on a regular basis with updated marketing material for legalapproval but was simply reprinting the material on its own initiative.  The documents donot show how this concern was addressed but in August that year, Mr Jones contactedVanessa Carter (then the Marketing Manager at GECF) in relation a new client launch ofwhich he had been informed specifically in order to discuss how the EC Directives wouldbe communicated at or before the point of sale in PPI telephone sales.
140. In late 1996/early 1997, FICL/FACL undertook a wholesale review of all GECB’sproduct literature following the ABI Statement of Practice, which Mr Jones was anxiousto address.  At around the same time, GECB’s status for regulatory purposes changedfrom that of independent broker to tied agent and Mr Jones noted in an internal email thatFICL/FACL were discussing compliance in tandem with finalising the AgencyAgreement.  Changes to all sales and marketing documentation were also required as aresult of GECB’s name change in January 1997 (referred to contemporaneously as“Project Hook”).
141. It appears that regular quarterly meetings were held between FICL/FACL and GECB, aswell as less formal meetings between Mr Jones and Ms Carter and others from time totime.  At a meeting on 4 October 1996, Mr Jones chased for penetration analysis datawhich he had previously requested.  His earlier request seems to have fallen on deaf ears,since Ms Carter had to ask again about the nature and extent of information required.  MrJones also suggested that GECB might like to use FICL/FACL’s “wide-ranging anddynamic Training Department services”.  This was left for Ms Carter to consider andadvise.  She never reverted.
142. On 3 December 1996, Mr Jones wrote to Ms Carter asking her to supply all of GECB’smarketing materials in order for him to ensure that GECB was complying with the ABICode.  On a balance of probabilities, I find that this was not prompted by any request fromGECB but was part of Mr Jones’s follow-up to the ABI Statement of Practice and thechange in GECB’s agency status.  Only some documentation was provided, however, andMr Jones accordingly had to chase again on 4 February 1997.  In his letter he expresslyreminded GECB that it was a requirement of its agency agreement and its status as aFICL/FACL agent that all marketing material which mentioned insurance was submittedto FICL/FACL for approval.  He also emphasised that, irrespective of Project Hook, “itis necessary to see drafts of marketing material before launch of a new scheme or whenan existing scheme is changed.”
143. On 27 February 1997, Mr Jones met Lisa Hardstaff of GECB to discuss, amongst otherthings, the relationship between GECB and FICL/FACL and the status of GECB as a
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FICL/FACL agent and its implications.  Mr Jones’s handwritten annotation to the agendarecords that no minutes were taken as this was “very much a training-type session”.However, the documents attached to the agenda contain notes in his handwriting whichrefer to the meeting and show that some discussion of training took place.  They alsocontain two template checklists, one for creditor schemes and one for non-creditorschemes.  Both checklists contained boxes for confirmation that documentation had beenchecked and agreed, but while the non-creditor checklist contained entries relating toclient training, the former (which would have applied to GECB) did not.  Mr Jones wasasked about the discrepancy in cross-examination but ultimately could not recall anythingto assist.  In the absence of any further evidence as to what information these documentswere intended to capture and the extent to which they were used by FICL/FACL – eitherfor GECB business or business introduced by other parties – I am unable to derive muchassistance from them.
144. Mr Zellick sought to make something of the fact that a Product Information Sheet for aFrasercard scheme recorded that the premium payable to FICL/FACL did not include anytraining days.  But that on its own does not mean that training was not provided, or offeredor at least available on request.
145. On 4 March 1997, Mr Jones raised an instance of mis-selling by GECB’s telesales unitwhich had been drawn to his attention by a colleague.  The documents do not revealGECB’s response, but Mr Jones’ recollection in oral evidence was that it undertook toretrain its telesales unit as a result.
146. On 13 May 1997, Mr Jones held one of his meetings with Ms Carter.  FICL/FACL’sinternal minutes record that as part of a discussion about the Agency Agreement, MsCarter asked FICL/FACL to specify the services covered by their 5.6% premium retentionin order to “expand the definitions of services offered under the agency agreement withparticular regard to training, research and marketing services.”  Ms Carter told Mr Jonesthat she wished to make greater use of FICL/FACL’s training facilities and needed toknow how much GECB could get for free and what it would have to pay for.
147. In September 1997, FICL/FACL actively promoted to GECB an ABI initiative to providelaminated cards to retail staff at the point of sale which contained a guide to policyconditions and exclusions.  Mr Jones’s letter of 29 September 1997 to Ms Carter statedthat:

“This initiative is in response to concerns which have been raised, most recently by theInsurance Ombudsman, over sales people's over-reliance on using written, rather thanoral, communication of PPI's features and benefits and, more particularly, conditions &exclusions, at the point of sale. The idea behind the laminated card is that it should beavailable to, & used with, the prospective customer to raise their awareness of the dutiesof the seller under the ABI Code of Practice to ensure that the policy being offered suits asfar as possible their particular circumstances.”
He concluded by recognising that use of the laminated card was not compulsory butrequested GECB to consider its use on the basis that there would be some retail sales whichwere outside its control.
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148. On 21 November 1997, GECB held a “workout” session as part of an internal compliancereview (the “Compliance Workout”).12  It is revealing.
149. Numerous compliance concerns were identified across the board. “Unless otherwisespecified, it should be assumed that the concern is generic to all retailers.”  Of particularrelevance to the present dispute were the following (which relate to the sale of the creditagreement as much as to the sale of PPI):

(a) Retail staff training was self-based, end-user training with the onus on the staff to trainthemselves.
(b) GECB did not train all retailers and it was difficult to know how well staff were trained.The two major factors were (i) the scale of some retail operations and (ii) the amountof training that retailers would permit.
(c) Training material was not reviewed by GECB’s legal department.
(d) Retailers did not monitor the identity of staff who had been trained and there was aparticular concern about part-time and Saturday staff.  Although application formsidentified the salesperson, no subsequent check was made to see whether they had beentrained.
(e) Generally there was only one training manual per store, which was not at the point ofsale.  Where sales were rung through to GECB, heavy reliance was placed on the GECBtelephone operator to ensure that the agreement was signed and the ID documentnumber recorded.  For accounts opened via an online system, even this safety checkwas not present.
(f) While each retail chain should have had a procedure manual with an up-to-date copy ineach retail outlet targeted at the staff who needed to refer to it:

(i) Some chains did not and had never had a procedures manual;
(ii) Procedural refinements would generally only be introduced by GECB for newretailers rather than being imposed on existing retailers;
(iii)It was unclear whether the procedures manuals for older retailers had been updated.GECB had produced updates for Debenhams but did not know whether these hadbeen incorporated into the individual manuals held in the stores;
(iv)Few retailer contracts contained provision for effective charge-back in the event offailure to comply with agreed procedures;
(v) It was possible that GECB was over-incentivising point of sale staff to openaccounts and sell insurance;

(g) No attempt was made to make the customer read the application form although acustomer would not be denied the opportunity to do so if requested.  However, there
12 The final record of the workout was based on a draft which contains further details of the discussion and theconcerns raised by particular individuals.  I have taken account primarily of the final version only.
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had been a change of emphasis in the law which increased the obligation on GECB asa business to take an active approach to ensuring that the customer understood theagreement they were signing.
(h) Specifically in relation to the sale of PPI:

(i) There was limited training of sales staff and limited understanding on their part ofthe insurance product;
(ii) Staff might be tempted by the incentives to operate inertia selling;
(iii)Sales staff were giving the impression that a successful credit application was morelikely if insurance was also taken;
(iv)One month’s “free” PPI was being offered without it being made clear that thecustomer would automatically be charged thereafter;
(v) Insurance was the subject of a separate report;13

(i) Schedule 2 to the review, which referred specifically to the account opening process forDebenhams, also recorded that:
(i) The procedures manual was being revised but it was unclear whether the sameversion was being used in all the stores.  It was thought that many managers did notupdate the individual manuals when updates were issued.  Only one audit had beencarried out on Debenhams procedures some four years previously;
(ii) A significant number of complaints were being made by customers who claimedthey had been charged for PPI insurance they had not requested;
(iii)While GECB did not pay incentives to sales staff to open accounts or sell PPI, therewas considerable management pressure from Debenhams to open accounts (thisbeing a KPI for branch managers) and the store paid limited incentives to point ofsale staff.  By contrast, on the Burtons account GECB paid retail staff 50p for anuninsured account and £1.00 for an insured account with a further incentive tobranch managers equivalent to 25% of branch earnings on these incentives.

150. There is no evidence that the full scale of these problems was made known toFICL/FACL.  Instead, Ms Carter contacted Mr Jones on 23 December 1997 to say thatGECB had received complaints from the Trading Standards Office about inertia selling(presumably a reference to the concern identified in paragraph 149(i)(ii) above).  She saidthat GECB planned to introduce a new selling message but had a major logistical problemin retraining at least 40,000 retail staff, which it wished to do by the end of January.  Sheasked for input on the training side and stated that FICL/FACL should contribute to thecost as GECB was their tied agent.
151. To say that this was a sanitised and greatly abbreviated version of the problems that hadbeen uncovered by the November workout is an understatement.

13 Which unfortunately was not in the documentation before the court.
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152. At all events, Mr Jones agreed to look into the training aspect and arrangements weremade for him to visit GECB’s telemarketing unit in the New Year to see how it operated.A follow-up meeting then took place on 23 January 1998 which was also attended byKeith Hall of FICL/FACL and GECB’s Assistant Marketing Manager, Guy Mallon.  Asrecorded by Mr Jones in an internal report, he was told by Ms Carter that:
(a) GECB had become increasingly conscious that complaints were being escalated to avery high level with the retailers;
(b) GECB had traditionally provided one month’s free cover at the start of the policy buthad always felt that the customer may have felt pressurised into purchasing PPI.  Thelength of queues at the till (especially during sales periods) meant that sales staff wereunder pressure to complete the store card operating procedures as quickly as possible.It was estimated that they had 20-30 seconds to make the PPI sale.
(c) This had resulted in a sales pitch which involved minimal selling of policy benefits,with particular focus on Purchase Cover and Price Protection (where applicable),minimal discussion of cost, limited to “it’s cheap”, and reliance on the provision ofone month’s free cover on the basis that the customer could always cancel if they didnot want it.
(d) GECB’s proposed solution was to retrain all the sales staff so that they instead“suggested” that customers should protect their purchases and payments.
(e) Store staff training was supported by a 3-4 person unit providing technical finance andinsurance support to retail branches.  GECB also offered support to retailers via some90-100 Regional Sales Managers.
(f) GECB had created a training pack containing:

(i) Trainer notes;
(ii) A staff training checklist;
(iii)Posters and a pocket guide;
(iv)Plan details outlining key product benefits.

153. The minutes of the meeting indicate that the attendees went through the training pack andagreed that the overall concept addressed the problem of inertia selling which had beenhighlighted at the meeting.  However, FICL/FACL indicated that the wording would alsoneed to be specifically checked for compliance with the ABI Code and also by their legaldepartment in relation to the product itself.  GECB did not request any assistance ortraining from FICL/FACL beyond approval of the training pack.  During the course ofthe hearing, Mr Zellick made much of a discussion which took place about the costs ofcompliance and FICL/FACL’s expressed resistance to being asked by GECB for acontribution.  However, earlier and subsequent communications make clear that thisrelated to the costs of printing and postage and had nothing to do with the provision oftraining as was suggested to some of the witnesses.
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154. Meanwhile, on 9 January 1998, the FLA had produced an agreed form of welcome letterto accompany every certificate sent to an insured customer following the conclusion of asale.  As stated by the FLA in its covering letter:
“Despite the requirements of the ABI General Business Code of Practice, and the morerecently introduced ABI Statement of Best Practice for Payment Protection Insurance,customers in many instances are not given the marketing material, and if they are theyrarely read it.  This is particularly prevalent in the retail market where finance companiesrely heavily on third party introduced business.
…
The purpose of the letter would be to thank the customer for taking out the cover in acustomer-friendly way, and would then go on to reiterate the eligibility criteria and anyparticular pertinent aspects of the cover such as self-employed exclusions which should bebrought to the customer’s attention…
This is a belts and braces procedure which in no way detracts from the obligation of point-of-sale personnel to explain the essential terms and conditions of the policy, and inparticular the eligibility criteria…”

155. Ms Carter forwarded this letter to Mr Jones, indicating that GECB intended to complywith the initiative and asking for his approval.
156. Mr Jones appears to have passed the matter to a colleague, Ms Jane Dunlop, who raiseda number of queries, to which Mr Jones responded on 4 February 1998 as follows:

(a) What sales aids do GECB have and have FICL/FACL signed them off? GECB used toprovide store staff with the laminated card summarising the policy benefits, eligibilitycriteria and exclusions but these had been discontinued as they were frequently lost andit was difficult to maintain adequate and up-to-date supplies.
(b) What training materials do GECB have and have FICL/FACL signed them off?Training was nearly always provided on a “train the trainer” basis and the main trainingmaterial comprised a pack of plastic cards to be retained at the point of sale togetherwith trainer notes and a video.  Mr Jones’s view was that the technical content of thematerial was extremely light: the selling message was brief and general and staff wereasked to refer to the reverse of the credit agreement (presumably the Summary).Separate training packs were compiled for each retailer and it would be a substantialtask for FICL/FACL to sign off on each of these.  However, a full explanation of thepolicy benefits, eligibility and exclusions was included in the Summary on the back ofthe credit agreement and following Project Hook, FICL/FACL had seen and approvedall point of sale marketing material.
(c) How many scripts are there and have FICL/FACL ever seen them?  Initially a smallnumber of scripts were used which were rigidly adhered to but this was found to impactsales adversely.  There was now a huge number of scripts in use and it was not possiblefor them all to be checked by either FICL/FACL or GECB.  The scripts weresupplemented by a coaching tool which FICL/FACL would ideally have liked to see.However, the experience of both Mr Jones and FICL/FACL’s Senior Training Manager,Maureen Lloyd, suggested there was little chance of them being allowed to do so.  He
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noted that GECB was extremely reluctant to allow access to the telesales unit which itregarded as its “jewel in the crown”.
157. Mr Jones explained that in these circumstances it had therefore been agreed as an interimmeasure that GECB would refer the customer to the Summary in the credit agreement fordetails of the cover, eligibility and exclusions.  He recorded that GECB had taken onadditional resource and changed the allocation of duties within the team in order to allowa full compliance review (presumably the Compliance Workout described in paragraphs148-149 above) which had resulted in the approach to FICL/FACL by Ms Carter on 23December 1997.  A fact-finding visit by Mr Jones and Maureen Lloyd to the telesales unitwas now planned for 11 February 1998.
158. On 6 February 1998 there was another meeting between Mr Jones, Ms Carter and MrMallon at which the Insurance Ombudsman’s speech in December 1997 was discussed.FICL/FACL advised GECB that GECB had a responsibility to enforce the ABI Code andthat FICL/FACL had a responsibility to monitor GECB.  Ms Carter requested writtenconfirmation from FICL/FACL that GECB was acting correctly at the point of sale aswell as approval of its training and selling messages and use of the training pack as asubstitute for the laminated card.
159. The visit by Mr Jones and Ms Lloyd to the telesales unit took place as planned on 11February 1998.  In his report of the visit, Mr Jones concluded that the style of the unit wasnow more professional and controlled but that it was still in a developmental phase.  Hefelt that there was support for compliance but that Ms Lloyd’s observations (recordedseparately) gave rise for concern.  Unfortunately, these observations were not before thecourt.
160. On 8 May 1998, a meeting took place between FICL/FACL and GECB specifically todiscuss the introduction of GECB’s Account Cover II product and whether this was a newproduct or a product upgrade.  During the course of this meeting, FICL/FACL advisedand directed GECB specifically as to what would be required in order to ensure that theselling of Account Cover II was compliant and would not constitute negative optionselling by the back door.
161. In July 1998, it appears that GECB distributed a generic compliance pack to all its retailersin order to demonstrate to the regulatory authorities that GECB and its partner stores weretaking the matter of compliance seriously.  GECB asserted that it had always used theABI Code as the benchmark for compliant selling but that, following a review, it believedthat it was necessary to distribute additional reference information at store level.  GECBindicated that it would support ongoing training through its sales network and task forceteams.  There is no evidence that FICL/FACL was ever asked by GECB to participate inor contribute to this training support.
162.  The material before the court contains version 1 (October 1998) of an Operations Manualprepared by GECB for Debenhams.  In the section addressing the sale of PPI, there is adescription of the product and its benefits, eligibility and exclusions.  However, themanual is mainly notable in that the step-by-step guide for retail staff completing anapplication does not include any requirement to refer to the Summary of cover beforeobtaining the customer’s signature notwithstanding that GECB had apparently agreed todo this (see paragraph 157 above).
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163. The question of ABI compliance was again discussed between FICL/FACL and GECB ata meeting on 26 November 1998.  FICL/FACL emphasised that they had a duty to ensurethat GECB complied with the ABI Code.  GECB’s legal department was accordinglyrequired to respond to FICL/FACL’s questionnaire regarding ABI compliance byFebruary 1999.
164. This was followed by a further meeting on 17 December 1998 at which FICL/FACLspelled out to GECB that it was FICL/FACL’s agent to sell PPI and that the retailers wereits sub-agents.  Accordingly, GECB had to sign and return a guarantee that they and theirsub-agents were ABI compliant.  On behalf of GECB, Mr McPhail queried therequirement for sub-agents to explain the benefits and exclusions of cover prior tocompleting a sale.  He said that GECB was not in a position to guarantee this and couldonly offer their best endeavours.  He confirmed that compliance had assumed a highprofile within GE, albeit seemingly only because of problems experienced recently in theUnited States, and asked whether it would be sufficient for GECB to make sure that staffwere regularly audited, trained and updated.
165. Several days later, Ms Dunlop had a telephone conference with GECB to discusstelephone scripts for the selling of Account Cover.  This seems to have involved acustomer being sent a hard copy application form which had to be returned before a saletook place.  It was therefore rather different from an in-person sale in a store.  At allevents, while minimal details of the cover would be given over the telephone, theproposed script required customers to be expressly advised that further details could befound on the back of the application form and that they would have to sign a box toindicate that they wanted insurance cover.
166. The documents then become rather sporadic.  In April 1999, GECB prepared a CreditOperations Manual for Russell & Bromley which did not refer to PPI at all.
167. In May 1999 there was an exchange of correspondence regarding a specific problemwhich had arisen in connection with the upgrade of certain covers.  The exchange isrelevant only because: (i) the reason the problem had arisen was because FICL/FACL’soriginal advice had been ignored by GECB; (ii) it was in this context that FICL/FACLhad requested an indemnity from GECB which had been resisted on the grounds thatindemnities between affiliates was not normal GE policy – a point of which Mr Zellickmade much in his submissions on AXA’s indemnity claim  (see paragraph 274 below).
168. On 21 May 1999, Ms Dunlop commented on GECB’s training pack for Account Cover IIand raised a number of concerns, including the lack of reference to policy exclusions.  InJune 1999 further concerns were raised by FICL/FACL about GECB’s sales trainingvideo script which was assessed to fall short of point of sale requirements.  MrsGreenaway (who was then working for FICL/FACL) was asked to suggest amendments.
169. In September 1999, GECB conducted a customer survey of its Account Cover product.This revealed that awareness of the product was generally low and that a significantproportion of customers did not realise they had the cover.  Of those who cancelled cover,40% felt it was not suitable, 29% did not ask for it, 22% were mis-sold the product and9% felt forced to take it.  The survey further indicated that a significant proportion ofcustomers responding did not agree (even slightly) that all their queries had beenanswered, that staff were entirely sure about the details of cover, that they had sufficienttime to consider the benefits, or that they had information about all the different levels of
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cover.  14% had felt pressurised into taking it.  It was recognised that the attitudes of thosecancelling the cover were worrying.
170. The results of this survey do not make pretty reading, particularly after the specific focusin the previous year on compliant selling of Account Cover.  However, I do not place toomuch weight on them, since there is no reliable information to indicate how extensive thesurvey was.  More concerning is the concluding comment by GECB that “we must avoidpassive sales because of the detrimental effect on satisfaction with the store card,” whichgives some idea of GECB’s priorities, at least in the eyes of the author.
171. In late 1999/early 2000, GECB compiled some training notes for Harrods’ forthcomingJanuary sale.  PPI was covered in a single page which did not contain any directions onhow to sell the product but only a brief description of the cover.
172. During the course of the summer of 2000, GECB was considering a proposal byDebenhams for new products to be launched on 14 August 2000.  It is not clear that thisdirectly affected the sale of PPI.  However, a draft discussion document records thatGECB would provide stores with a product and process training pack to contain a productoverview, process flow and script.  A “train the trainer” session was to take place on 25July 2000 carried out by GECB’s Client Field Sales team.  This would be followed bystaff training in August 2000 on the basis of materials developed by Debenhams andGECB, also delivered by the Client Field Sales team.  An Operations Manual outliningall process flows was to be drafted and included as an appendix.  There is no indicationthat GECB sought to involve FICL/FACL in any of these steps or to seek their advice.
173. On 1 December 2000, the Agency Agreement was signed at a meeting attended by MrsGreenaway amongst others.  There was some discussion about where GECB andFICL/FACL stood in relation to the GISC, which had been launched that summer, andalso as to how best GECB could utilise its allocated 50 training days.  However, GECB’sfocus in this respect seems to have been on motivational training and increasingpenetration rather than on compliance.
174. Subsequent correspondence shows GECB querying with Mrs Greenaway whether therewas any benefit in GECB joining the GISC, since FICL/FACL would have to becomemembers anyway and would thereby assume responsibility for GECB’s compliance withthe ABI Code in any event.  GECB said that it would look to FICL/FACL for guidance.FICL/FACL’s response is unfortunately not in the papers.
175.  On 19 February 2001, some trainer notes were prepared for training in relation toAccount Cover.  Mrs Greenaway could not recall whether FICL/FACL had had any inputinto these notes but I find it more likely than not that they had, given the concerns thatFICL/FACL had been raising in this regard since mid-1999.  The notes expressly drewattention to the need to adhere to the ABI Code in the sales process and to ensure that theinformation and presentation was clear, accurate and not misleading, that the cover wassufficiently explained and that customers understood what they are buying.
176. By October 2002, GECB was contemplating a further upgrade of the Account Coverproduct but was concerned about certain aspects of the proposed pricing in the light ofthe UCTA Regulations.  In response to a query from GECB, FICL/FACL confirmed that,provided the customer was made fully aware of what they were buying and the applicableterms and conditions, the question of pricing was really an internal matter for GECB.
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177. In January 2003, correspondence was exchanged between GECB and FICL/FACLregarding the need for a signature box rather than a simple tick box to indicate acustomer’s election to take PPI.  GECB acknowledged that there had been significantproblems in the past with a tick box when staff were incentivised simply to tick the boxon behalf the customer without their explicit consent.  In response, FICL/FACL insistedon a signature box absent a convincing argument to the contrary.  In a follow-up emailcirculated within GECB on 3 April 2003, Mr Farrar of GEBC stressed that a signaturebox was therefore required and that push-back from the retail client was not an option.Similarly the Summary was to be included on the application form and not provided in aseparate leaflet.  He said:
“I need to draw your attention to the GISC rulebook, and in particular the PrivateCustomer Code, section 3 'How you find insurance to meet your needs'. This clearly statesthat when selling any general insurance, the customer must be made aware of what theyare buying before signing up to this…
The Summary of Cover we provide at application does gives the amount of information weneed to provide at the time a policy is sold. As nobody can be 100% confident about givinga leaflet out with the application form, we could be liable for breaching the rules. Asmembers of GISC, GEIH will not allow us to put ourselves in this position. Generalinsurance is increasingly coming under the spotlight, and I don't want to take thisretrograde step now, especially as there are plans for the FSA to regulate in January2005.”

178. On 13 June 2003, an updated Credit Operations Manual was produced by GECB forDebenhams.  As with the October 1998 version (paragraph 166 above), the one-pagesection dealing with PPI merely contained a brief outline of benefits and eligibility andcontained nothing about compliant selling.
179. By this time, GECB was well aware that it needed to prepare for statutory regulation tobe introduced in January 2005 and on 24 September 2003, Mr Coorland drew up anAction Plan.  This summarised the changes that would be required to ensure compliancewith the new regime.  Of note for present purposes are the following:

(a) The FSA had accepted during the consultation period that GECB’s sales were non-advised.  Accordingly, it did not need to carry out a suitability assessment.  However,it still needed to conduct training and change its applications forms in line with the newrequirements.
(b) The proposed new sales scripts incorporated an express reference to the Summary.
(c) A training plan was to be prepared.

180. Ms Greenaway could not recall whether FICL/FACL was asked to help with the trainingor to work on the sales scripts, although they did look at the application forms.  There isnothing in the documents to suggest that GECB had insufficient resources to carry out thenecessary training, or that it ever approached FICL/FACL for assistance.  MrsGreenaway’s evidence was that it would have done had it felt the need.
181. In February 2006, Genworth confirmed that all sales literature, including scripts, policydocuments and disclosure documents, had been reviewed and confirmed as compliant
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with current regulatory requirements.  As far as Genworth was concerned, the AgencyAgreement accurately reflected the parties’ respective responsibilities in this regard.
182. Finally, in January 2007, GECB was fined £610,000 for having failed in 2005 to complywith the FSA’s regulatory requirements.  An internal GECB email records that the FSAfound that the sales procedure had been designed by GECB but that GECB had failed, inthe light of emerging evidence, to review, amend or effectively operate that procedure.In some cases, retail staff had not followed the correct sales procedures by drawingattention to the Summary.  The email recorded that GECB fully accepted responsibilityfor how policies were sold.
183. I heard no evidence from anyone who was actually involved in the physical sale of PPI,whether in a retail environment or over the telephone and, as already mentioned, theexperts had no such direct experience either.  Nor did Santander call evidence from anystore manager with responsibility for overseeing the sales process or from any GECBretail account manager or from anyone involved in providing training.  There wastherefore no evidence at all from Santander as to what steps were taken by sales staff tocomply with the ABI Code or what measures were taken by GECB to ensure compliance,save for what I could glean from the documents.
I.2.2:   Findings as to breach
184. Although I have well in mind the fact that the documentary record was incomplete, I amnonetheless satisfied that I can make the following findings as to actual selling practiceson a balance of probabilities:

(a) Although the papers before the court did not contain any documents earlier than 1996,I find it more likely than not that in relation to opt-out sales before they were phasedout, GECB was routinely not drawing the attention of customers to the fact that theywere being sold PPI which they could choose not to have.  The natural inference fromthe findings of the Compliance Workout was that customers were not being invited toread the application form and that there was a continuing problem with inertia sellingeven after it had supposedly been outlawed.
(b) Even after 1994 when a positive opt-in was required, the time taken to sell PPI was veryshort – around 20-30 seconds according to GECB’s own estimate in 1997.
(c) There was pressure from both the stores and GECB to sell as many policies as possibleand the approach adopted was fairly described as “hard sell” which, even if just withinthe bounds of what was acceptable, gave rise to a legitimate concern that customerswere being pressurised.  Even the change in selling pitch introduced in early 1998involved positively promoting the product rather than simply presenting the customerwith an option and leaving it to their choice.  This may well have been in accordancewith the approach adopted across the industry at the time, but that does notautomatically mean that it satisfied the prevailing regulatory standards.
(d) Customers were not routinely directed to the Summary before agreeing to buy PPI.This was expressly recognised by the Compliance Workout and is consistent with theconcerns expressed by the Insurance Ombudsman in his December 1997 speech andwith the FLA’s “welcome letter” initiative in February 1998 which made clear thatsome customers were not being given any marketing material at all, let alone prior to
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conclusion of the sale.  Even in the training notes prepared by GECB after 2000, therewas no explicit instruction to refer to the Summary before concluding a sale.  Mostdamning of all is the Action Plan proposal to change all sales script to incorporate anexpress reference to the Summary, from which I draw the almost inevitable inferencethat this had not previously been a feature of PPI sales, notwithstanding the agreementreached in February 1998 and Mr Farrar’s email of 3 April 2003.  While the Summarywas in many cases printed on the reverse of a triplicate form, the customer was typicallyonly given a copy after they had already agreed to take cover and although it was opento them to ask for time to read the Summary, this put all the onus on them and was inany event irrelevant unless their attention had been drawn to the existence of theSummary in the first place.
(e) Undoubtedly a full copy of the policy wording was sent to the customer later with fulldocumentation but, as the experts agreed, it was by then far too late.  Failure to refer tothe Summary before the sale was concluded could not be cured by providingdocumentation later.
(f) GECB’s primary concern was to maximise sales.  Many sales were conducted by staffwho did not fully understand the product and were incentivised to achieve as many salesas possible.  While GECB ensured that its marketing materials were approved byFICL/FACL, it relied heavily on the fact that those materials were handed over oncompletion of the transaction and that the customer could cancel during the cooling offperiod.  This was a very lucrative market for GECB accounting for around one-third ofits net income14 and prior to 2005 it was largely content to pay lip-service to complianceand to absorb any mis-selling complaints which did emerge.  However, GECB’scomment in the September 1999 customer survey is revealing in so far as itdemonstrates that the vice of inertia selling from GECB’s point of view was thedetrimental impact on customer satisfaction with the store card rather than any genuineconcern about compliance.  The Compliance Workout showed that there were asignificant number of complaints although it is impossible to say how many, since therewas no evidence on the point.
(g) The available evidence suggests that these sales practices persisted throughout theentirety of the period with which this dispute is concerned:

(i) There is no suggestion in the Compliance Workout that the compliance failuresdisclosed were of recent origin.  On the contrary, the clear impression given is thatthey were systemic and endemic.
(ii) Mrs Greenaway’s evidence was that the practices highlighted by the FSA when theyissued GECB with a Final Notice in 2007 accurately represented the sales practicesfollowed by GECB before 2005 as well as after.  She accepted that GECB appliedmuch more rigorous techniques and practices after it became regulated, from thisthe natural, indeed inevitable, inference is that they were not as strict or rigorouspreviously.
(iii)The point can also be made that the problems identified by GECB in late 1997/early1998 were still being identified in 2007.  Mrs Greenaway very fairly accepted that

14 88% of 39% according to the initial notes of the November 1997 compliance workout session.
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she could not say whether this meant that there had been failures throughout theentirety of the intervening period or just at those two points in time.  However, thelatter proposition would be remarkable and I cannot accept it.  Indeed, it isinherently unlikely that the level of compliance on the part of intermediaries suchas GECB would have got worse after regulation and GECB’s own efforts to preparefor the advent of FSMA indicates that it was trying to improve its practices fromthose which had previously prevailed.
185. The ABI resume made clear that the ABI Code required the exercise of best endeavoursto ensure compliance, which was explained as meaning every practical effort withinreasonable bounds.  I am satisfied, based on the expert evidence, that this required thesteps set out in paragraph 132 above to be taken and that the consequence of my findingsabove is that there were systemic breaches of the Code in at least in the following respects:

(i) A routine failure in opt-out sales to make the customer aware that they werepurchasing PPI at all and that there was an option to decline cover;
(ii) A routine failure to provide even an outline explanation of the policy.  I cannot sayhow reliable the 20-30 second estimate was, but it was GECB’s own estimate andit stuck with it.  The idea that this would have been sufficient for a sales assistant toexplain that the store was acting as an agent, to outline the key coverage of theproduct and the cost, to mention the existence of exclusions/limitations and to referto the Summary as well as to secure an express opt-in is frankly bordering on thedelusional.  It was clearly inadequate and I am satisfied that it would have been bothpractical and reasonable to have taken longer over the sales process to ensurecompliance;
(iii)A routine failure to draw attention to the Summary before concluding the sale.

186. While these were very much systemic failings, they would inevitably have led to breachesof the ABI Code in individual cases and the application of my findings to the sample filesis considered further in the Appendix to this judgment.
I.3:   Responsibility as between FICL/FACL and GECB: did FICL/FACL fail to exercisebest endeavours?
187.  It was a constant refrain running through Mr Zellick’s submissions that FICL/FACL hadthe primary and overriding responsibility from a regulatory point of view for selling PPIand that they abjectly failed to discharge those responsibilities.   His criticisms ofFICL/FACL in this regard were aimed at three principal targets: first, a general failure byFICL/FACL to provide GECB with the necessary training and direction; second,FICL/FACL’s failure to intervene or take any corrective action when they either knew orshould have known exactly how the product was being sold by GECB and its sub-agents;and third, the Budget Account policies (see paragraph 116 above).
I.3.1:   Assistance and training
188. On the basis of the evidence set out above, I am unable to find that there was any failureby FICL/FACL to exercise best endeavours or to take reasonable steps so far as concernsthe provision of assistance or training.
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189. It is abundantly clear that GECB knew about the ABI Code and what it entailed: seeparagraphs 147, 154 and 161 above and also the evidence of Mrs Greenaway that GECBwas aware at all times of the need to comply with the ABI Code.  Moreover, FICL/FACLknew that GECB had this knowledge, not least because they repeatedly drew it to GECB’sattention (paragraphs 158, 163 and 164167 above) and because the Agency Agreementincluded an express obligation on the part of GECB to comply with the ABI Code.  TheCode was not difficult to understand and there is nothing in the evidence which eitherwould or should have given FICL/FACL reason to suspect that GECB itself required anytraining in its requirements – as opposed to the store staff.
190. Mr Zellick nonetheless submitted that in order to exercise best endeavours, FICL/FACLshould have audited the sale process by observing actual sales or watching GECB trainingsessions.  However, given the extent to which FICL/FACL was kept firmly at arm’s lengthby GECB from any involvement in the retail side of the operation, the idea thatFICL/FACL could have monitored the sales process in order to identify any training needsis fanciful.  To the contrary, the 4 February 1998 memo referred to in paragraph 156 aboveshows that Mr Jones and Ms Lloyd very much wanted to obtain a copy of GECB’scoaching tools but regarded it as a forlorn hope.
191. In any event, an express offer of training was made to Ms Carter in 1996 but this seemsto have been simply ignored and GECB only turned to FICL/FACL for any assistance atall at the very end of 1997 following the Compliance Workout.  Even then, FICL/FACLwas only made aware of one very limited aspect of the findings of the workout.
192. Thereafter there seem to have been occasional specific requests from GECB forFICL/FACL’s input into specific aspects of training/training materials and for assistancewith particular issues, and this was provided promptly and readily.15  Otherwise, the clearimpression created was that GECB considered itself capable of designing, organising anddelivering training itself.  This can most clearly be seen in the fact that when GECB startedpreparing for FSMA, it automatically assumed responsibility for training without anyreference to FICL/FACL. GECB never suggested that its resources were insufficient orinadequate to provide adequate training through a “train the trainer” approach and thereis certainly no evidence that FICL/FACL were made aware that in fact store retail staffhad to train themselves, that GECB had no idea who had been trained or how effectiveany training was, and that there was a general paucity of training documentation availablein the retail stores.
193. From 1 December 2000 onwards, the Agency Agreement expressly provided in clauses7.1(a) and (b) that FICL/FACL should:

“(a) provide GECB with such market research, marketing and technical assistance as[FICL/FACL] think necessary to assist GECB with the marketing and sale of the Insurance;
(b) provide GECB with such specialised training in relation to the Insurance and themarketing and sale thereof as [FICL/FACL] determine in their reasonable discretion isnecessary to enable GECB to comply with its obligations under this agreement, limited to50 days annually.”

15 Examples are the provision in July 2003 of a Powerpoint presentation on the ABI’s Consistent PolicyInterpretations for Creditors; the provision of training on the claims process in October 2004.
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194.  Mr Zellick sought to suggest that this placed an obligation on FICL/FACL to identifyany training needs on the part of GECB in relation to the sales process.  However, for thereasons already set out, I regard that as a wholly impractical construction to put on theagreement in the context of the relationship between the parties, particularly when theproducts were largely designed by GECB itself on the basis of its own market researchfrom which FICL/FACL was firmly excluded.  In my judgment, these provisions insteadhad in mind assistance and training relating to the PPI product itself rather than the salesprocess.  Thus, if a new product were to be introduced, then FICL/FACL would provideany specialised training or market research required in relation to the specificcharacteristics of the product.  In fact, however, all PPI products tended to be variationson a common theme, most of which had been designed and proposed by GECB itself.Nonetheless, so far as the technical aspects of cover were concerned, FICL/FACLreviewed and approved all marketing materials to make sure that correct and accuratedescriptions were given.
195. I reject the suggestion put to Mr Jones that a charge for training over and above a 50-dayallowance was inconsistent with the exercise of best endeavours by FICL/FACL. Giventhe premium split between the parties, I do not regard FICL/FACL’s obligation to exercisebest endeavours as extending to the provision of services to an agent gratis.  In any event,had GECB ever taken advantage of the training on offer (which it does not appear to havedone), it would have been charged at a preferential rate.  In fact, the discussion on 1December 2000 about use of the allocated training days (paragraph 173 above)demonstrates that GECB was more interested in training for its own commercial purposesrather than in order to ensure compliance.
196. In any event, clauses 7.1(a) and (b) only required FICL/FACL to provide such assistanceor training as they considered necessary, i.e., they had a discretion.  However, they couldonly have concluded that assistance and training were necessary if and to the extent thatthey were given reason to believe that it might be.  In her evidence, Mrs Greenaway wasunable to identify any specific example of training that could have been provided byFICL/FACL which would not have been obvious to GECB in any event.  The ComplianceWorkout also demonstrates that GECB was perfectly aware of what compliance requiredand the problem was not that it had been insufficiently trained itself, but that it was eitherunwilling or unable to take the necessary steps to ensure compliance by the retailers.
197. In truth, the reality is that FICL/FACL always stood ready to provide training but thatGECB was uninterested.  This was confirmed both by Mrs Greenaway and by MrBrandon-Cross who accepted that there were occasions when FICL/FACL were doingtheir best to try to help GECB but that the latter did not want to accept that assistance.Mrs Smith’s evidence was to similar effect: the sales process was “owned by GECB” andFICL/FACL routinely offered training on product knowledge but this was rarely, if ever,taken up by GECB.
198. The evidence does not therefore support a finding that FICL/FACL failed to exercise bestendeavours in relation to either clauses 7.1(a) or (b).
I.3.2:   Inaction by FICL/FACL
199. Mr Zellick’s second main criticism of FICL/FACL is that they were fully aware of howsales were being conducted and yet never made any complaint, let alone attempt to correctany deficiencies.
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200. I regard the premise of this submission as flawed.  The starting point is that GECB wasaware from at least November 1997 following the Compliance Workout that there wereserious deficiencies in its sales processes which were leading to a significant number ofcomplaints.  However, GECB never made FICL/FACL aware of the full findings of theCompliance Workout and only a very limited and sanitised version was presented to MrJones in January 1998.  Moreover, from FICL/FACL’s point of view, GECB gave themto understand that it recognised the issue and was addressing it.  Whatever reservationsFICL/FACL might or might not have had about the proposed revised selling message andthe huge variety of potential scripts, it nonetheless took steps to secure GECB’s agreementto refer the customer expressly to the Summary before a sale was concluded which, ifdone, would at least have meant that the sale was compliant.
201.  It is not disputed that FICL/FACL reviewed and approved all marketing materials toensure that they met the regulatory requirements.  Otherwise, GECB only soughtassistance in relation to specific issues and the impression created is that it was keepingthe question of compliance by the retailers entirely in-house.  Whether this was for reasonsof confidentiality or because of resistance by the stores to the involvement of a third partymatters not.  What is clear is that GECB was very definitely not looking to FICL/FACLto ensure regulatory compliance at the point of sale generally.  As I have found above,GECB knew for itself full well what was required and regarded the relationship with theretailers as its exclusive prerogative.
202. This is not to say that FICL/FACL were oblivious to their responsibilities to monitorGECB’s activities as their agent.  On the contrary, they were acutely aware that they boreresponsibility vis-à-vis the regulator and it was for that reason that they insisted on GECBsigning a guarantee of compliance on behalf of itself and its sub-agents.
203.  In the circumstances, it is unfair to criticise FICL/FACL for failing to deal with problemswhich they did not know about and had no reason to suspect.  No doubt FICL/FACL knewin general terms the nature of the sales process that was supposed to be followed but thatis very different from knowing whether it was being followed in practice.  If GECB didnot know what was going on at the point of sale in the stores and was taking no steps tomonitor the position (as the Compliance Workout demonstrates), it is fanciful to supposethat FICL/FACL should have had any more extensive knowledge.  GECB was aware ofthe requirements of the ABI Code to FICL/FACL’s knowledge and FICL/FACL wasentitled to assume in the absence of evidence to the contrary that GECB was taking allreasonable steps to ensure compliance.
204. I am therefore not satisfied that FICL/FACL knew that sales staff were routinely failingto comply with the requirement to draw attention to key information prior the sale, and,in particular, failing to refer to the Summary.  I have accepted that a salesperson was notexpected to sit down and start discussing policy exclusions, pre-existing medicalconditions, financial circumstances or different levels of cover in detail.  But in thosecircumstances, the experts agreed that an express reference to the Summary was essentialand this could readily be done even in the context of a short timescale for selling.
205. Mr Zellick argued that at least from January 1998, FICL/FACL was aware that sales weretaking only 20-30 seconds to conclude and that they should have appreciated forthemselves that this was inadequate (as I have held) and taken steps to direct GECB thatit was not acceptable.  However, it seems to me that this misses the point.  The essentialrequirement, as FICL/FACL made clear, was to ensure that a proper explanation of the
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product was given to the customer before the sale was concluded.  How long that wouldhave taken is irrelevant.  It would have differed from customer to customer and in anyevent, as already noted, FICL/FACL did take steps to secure GECB’s agreement that theSummary would be expressly mentioned before sale.
206. Santander also complained that FICL/FACL failed to take steps proactively to monitorsales.  But, as already pointed out, it is not clear what FICL/FACL could in practice havedone.  They approved all the marketing materials but GECB controlled all the customerdata and only reported to FICL/FACL in bulk so that there was no way in whichFICL/FACL could have identified potential mis-selling problems through an analysis ofcustomer data.  The bulk reports submitted by GECB did not even identify the number ofnew policies sold by particular retailers each month.  There is no way in whichFICL/FACL could have audited sales by way of “mystery shopping” on any scale whichwould have been meaningful, let alone representative.
207. Mr Zellick further suggested that FICL/FACL should have provided their own salesmanual to GECB.  But since FICL/FACL had no access to the retailers or to the processesfollowed at the point of sale, any such manual would have been at such a high level ofgenerality as to add virtually nothing to the provisions of the ABI Code and the relatedGuidance.
208. I asked Mr Zellick what directions or scripts or manuals Santander say should have beenprovided by FICL/FACL over and above what was already set out in the ABI Code.  Themost he could offer in response was that it was a difficult question to answer because itdepended on the prevailing standards at the time.  This did not enlighten me greatly andhe was unable to cast any further illumination on the point.
209. In short, I am not satisfied that FICL/FACL ought to have known about any problemswith the sales process other than those expressly drawn to their attention by GECB.  Noram I persuaded that there was anything more they could reasonably have done to ensurethat proper procedures were being followed by GECB.  As between FICL/FACL andGECB, the latter controlled the selling environment and FICL/FACL were effectivelyexcluded from the relationship between GECB and the retailers.  The retail agreementsbetween GECB and the stores were kept confidential and Mrs Greenaway confirmed thatFICL/FACL would not have known whether incentives were being offered to customersor staff.  Nor were they routinely permitted access to the telecentre in Leeds.  This mayhave been for legitimate reasons of confidentiality but the fact remains that FICL/FACLwere only allowed in on one or two occasions.
210. In practical terms, therefore, the most FICL/FACL could do was to put in place a systemwhich gave reasonable reassurance that the ABI Code was being enforced by GECB.True it was that FICL/FACL were the insurance experts, whereas GECB was a creditlender.  But GECB was hardly an unsophisticated ingenue.  On the contrary, it was wellaware of the requirements of the ABI Code and its obligation to comply with them and inmy judgment FICL/FACL were entitled to assume that GECB would act responsibly inthat regard and would ask if it wanted or needed input or assistance.   When such requestswere made, FICL/FACL provided assistance promptly and readily.  In thesecircumstances, I am not persuaded that FICL/FACL could realistically have done morethan they did.  No witness could point to any occasion when they became aware of acompliance failure but were indifferent or did nothing about it.
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211. In this context, I note also that FLA’s Head of Legal & Regulatory Affairs referred in aletter dated 28 January 1998 to the fact that the Insurance Ombudsman’s Bureau hadaccepted that the obligation to exercise best endeavours to ensure that a policy wasproperly sold was satisfied if the agency agreement with the intermediary required thatthey provide all prospective policyholders with sufficient information to understand thekey features of the cover.  Clauses 6.1(a) and (g) and 6.2 (a) and (c) of the AgencyAgreement achieved this by placing a primary obligation on GECB to comply with theABI Code, including an explicit requirement not to incur any liability on FICL/FACL’sbehalf otherwise than by selling PPI in accordance with the agreement.
212. Accordingly, as between FICL/FACL and GECB compliance with the ABI Code asregards the actual sale process was in both practical and legal terms the primaryresponsibility of GECB.  I find that there was no failure by FICL/FACL to exercise bestendeavours.
213. Even if FICL/FACL had attempted to issue more instructions or directives regardingcompliance, I am not persuaded that they would have had any effect:

(a) The dynamic of the relationship between the parties was that GECB did what GECBwanted and perceived was in its best commercial interests;
(b) There is evidence in relation at least to the incident described in paragraph 167 above,that GECB had ignored FICL/FACL’s advice;
(c) FICL/FACL could issue whatever instructions or directives they liked but they werenot in any position to enforce them.  Mrs Greenaway confirmed this when she gaveevidence that if FICL/FACL had asked for the sales pitch to be extended, they wouldhave been told that the retailers would not be happy to do so;
(d) The stores themselves appeared to be completely oblivious to compliance, as disclosedby the Compliance Workout, and the reality was that GECB made very little, if anyattempt, to direct them in this regard.  It is noteworthy that when GECB was asked byFICL/FACL in December 1998 to provide a guarantee of regulatory compliance onbehalf of its sub-agents, it objected on the ground that it could only exercise bestendeavours in that regard.  If GECB, with its much closer relationship with the retailers,could not guarantee compliance, FICL/FACL was hardly in a position to do more;
(e) The overriding impression is that GECB only showed any interest in compliance at allwhen it looked as if there might be meaningful adverse consequences for it, forexample, when complaints began to be received from the Trading Standards Office,when the Insurance Ombudsman’s speech started to make waves, after problemsemerged in the United States (paragraph 164 above) and (most notably) when FSMAwas on the horizon.  Mr Jones’ evidence in his witness statement was to similar effect,namely that GECB normally only showed any interest in compliance when there was astatute or an EC Directive that needed to be observed.  Protestations by Santander thatGECB would have complied with any directives or instructions issued by FICL/FACLaccordingly ring rather hollow.

214. It is all very well to argue, as Mr Zellick did, that it was unrealistic to suppose thatabsolutely no useful training or instruction/direction could have been provided byFICL/FACL to GECB.  However, it is Santander which is alleging that any non-
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compliance was caused by failures on the part of FICL/FACL and accordingly Santanderbears at least an evidential burden in this respect, as he accepted.  If Santander is unableto identify anything specific which it says that FICL/FACL should have done but failedto do, it is equally impossible for Santander to say how that failure would have changedanything in practice.  I am not prepared on the basis of the material before me to draw theinference that some form of unidentified and unspecific training or instruction shouldhave been given which would - in some equally unidentified manner - have prevented thecompliance failures which occurred.
I.3.3: Budget Accounts
215. In so far as it is suggested that the design of Budget Accounts was inherently flawed, thisis a hopeless argument.
216. In my judgment, none of the clauses of the Agency Agreement on which Santander relieswere on their true construction aimed at product design.  Clause 7.1(d) was clearly aimedat the regulatory aspects of matters such as licensing, solvency and authorisation toconduct business, while clause 7.1(f) was addressing ethical business practices rather thanproduct design.  The same is true of clause 5 since I agree with AXA that the objective ofthe ABI Code was clearly to regulate the sale of insurance products rather than the designof the products being sold.
217. It is arguable, I suppose, that clauses 5 and 7.1(d) could cover product design but only ifit was so obviously flawed that it was unethical to sell the product at all.  This is a highhurdle to meet, and while there was an allegation to this effect in Santander’s writtenopening it did not feature in Mr Zellick’s oral submissions or written closing.  I would inany event have rejected the suggestion.  Budget Accounts were in fact finance productsdesigned originally by GECB’s predecessor for customers on limited budgets whotypically maintained lower balances on their accounts.  The customer would select amaximum monthly repayment level and the credit limit was then pegged by reference tothat amount.  While cover under the associated PPI product was limited to the chosenmonthly repayment rather than the full outstanding balance, the premium tended also tobe commensurately lower because of the generally lower outstanding balances on theaccount.
218. The only reference to Budget Accounts as inherently flawed products appears in aninternal Santander email where Ms Webdale relayed what was said to be the view of theFOS in November 2015 that Budget Accounts were flawed and should not have been soldto anyone.  This was apparently on the basis that the cost of cover delivered next to novalue on what the customer could get back.  The email confirms that this was only arelevant concern for a limited number of brands.
219. However, an earlier email from the FOS on 1 April 2015 explained its thinking in slightlymore detail, namely that these accounts did not represent good value for customers witha higher spend or higher average balanced.  While the FOS accepted that they wererelatively cheaper for customers with a low spend relative to the credit limit, they did notthink that such customers would actually need the policy and that “in most cases wherethe customer had alternative and worthwhile provision (say, 3 months’ worth of employeebenefits or savings), we don’t think they’d have bought the policy with a fullunderstanding.”
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220. Several points can be made about this.  First, and perhaps most importantly, the PPIproduct associated with a Budget Account was a standard policy.  The only differencefrom other types of account lay in the pricing and the credit limit, neither of which wereanything to do with FICL/FACL.  Secondly, the FOS seems in April 2015 to haveregarded the real vice of the policies as being that they had been sold without adequateexplanation of their coverage so that customers did not understand the full implicationsof having a Budget Account.  This is more a concern about the overall package and/or thesales process, rather than the inherent design of the policy itself.  Thirdly, there was aconcern that the policy was unnecessary where the customer had alternative means.However, this begs the question as to whether that was necessarily the case.  Fourthly, thevery type of customer at which the Budget Account was targeted was those who werelikely to spend less, in which case the FOS appears to have accepted that they receivedsome value – at least where they did not have alternative means.
221. Neither Ms Webdale nor anyone from the FOS was called as a witness and I am notinclined to place much, if any, weight on these emails.  Both were hearsay and there wasno proper opportunity of interrogating the allegation or establishing why the FOS hadapparently hardened its view by November – if indeed it had, which in the absence ofevidence cannot be regarded as certain.  Without much harder evidence, I would find itdifficult to conclude that the insurance product associated with Budget Accounts was sodeeply flawed that it was positively unethical to sell it in any circumstances whatsoever.If the vice was that the cost/benefit relationship was not properly explained, that issomething for which GECB itself was responsible.
222. As stated in paragraph 252 above, the comments of the FOS in relation to BudgetAccounts were used by Santander as a fig-leaf to excuse its failure to sign the SettlementAgreement.  The fact that it only raised the point nine months after first becoming awareof it, does not suggest any genuine concern about the design of the product.  I do notaccept that there was any fault or failure to exercise best endeavours in this regard on thepart of FICL/FACL.
223. In summary, I reject Santander’s primary submission that any failings by GECB withregard to the sale of PPI was attributable to FICL/FACL’s own failure to meet theirregulatory responsibility to exercise best endeavours to ensure compliance with the ABICode or to provide appropriate training or direction.  As Ms Greenaway accepted, it wouldbe “slightly laughable” to lay the blame for the mis-selling at FICL/FACL’s door.
224. I am therefore now in a position to turn to the specific causes of action relied upon byAXA.
J:   THE SETTLEMENT CLAIM
225. AXA contends that a binding settlement was reached with Santander that it would beliable for all the consequences of any mis-selling prior to 2005, albeit not for any on-going administration costs incurred by Genworth after the new claims handlingarrangements were put in place.  It submits that binding agreement to this effect wasreached either on 4 June 2015 at the meeting or on 9 June 2015 by an exchange of emailsbetween Mr Rember and Ms Day.  A further suggested alternative, namely that agreementwas reached as a result of communications between Mr Rember and Mr Conway inOctober 2015 when Santander asked for execution copies of the Settlement Agreement tobe distributed, is no longer pursued.
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226. I have set out the relevant sequence of events in section H above.  No minutes were takenof the 4 June 2015 meeting and the closest we get to a written record is Mr Rember’sfollow-up email of 5 June 2015 where (in accordance with his usual practice) heconfirmed the discussions in writing so as to put something on the record.  This wasaccepted to be an accurate record of the meeting and there is accordingly no dispute thatthe parties reached agreement that:
(a) Santander would assume liability for redress payments, FOS fees and Genworth’sadministrative costs to date, including the costs of claims handling, since it wasanticipated that these would be virtually eliminated for Genworth once the new ClaimsHandling Agreement came into effect;
(b) Various other steps would be taken by the parties as set out in paragraph 112 above;
(c) The agreement would be incorporated into a written agreement.

227. It was also common ground that nothing was expressly said on either side to indicate thatthe agreement was subject to contract or not binding until the written agreement wassigned.
228. Mr Pateman’s evidence was that he believed the meeting was only concerned with saleswhich had taken place after the conclusion of the Agency Agreement on 1 December 2000and that it was only on that assumption that he agreed Santander would continue to payredress.  However, this subjective understanding was never articulated at the meeting andthere was nothing in the correspondence to suggest that any such distinction was to bedrawn between pre- and post-Agency Agreement sales.  Accordingly, Mr Pateman’sbeliefs cannot detract from the fact that there was, as all parties accepted, an objectiveagreement by Santander to pay redress, FOS fees and administrative costs to dateirrespective of the date of sale.
229.  Santander also argued that its consistent opinion since May 2012 had been that it wasunder no actual liability in respect of pre-2005 policies and that this position had neverchanged, notwithstanding the interim agreements reached in 2012 and 2013.  That maybe so, but I regard it as irrelevant.  To the extent that Mr Pateman objectively agreedotherwise at the meeting without objection from anyone else, Genworth was entitled tobelieve that Santander had changed its mind.
J.1:   Agreement at the 4 June 2015 meeting
230. Two questions arise for determination: (i) was the agreement “subject to contract”?  (ii)if not, can the agreement reached be split into discrete elements relating to liability (saidto have been definitively agreed) and operational matters (admittedly left for furthernegotiation)?
231. Unsurprisingly, there was no dispute between the parties as to the applicable law.  Thequestion is whether the parties intended to be bound in advance of executing a writtenagreement.  For this purpose, the court must look at the whole course of conduct andcommunication between them in order to discern their objective intention.  I do not acceptthat there is any presumption or “normal inference” to be drawn in this regard; it is aquestion which depends on the particular facts.  Thus, in an appropriate case, the partiescan be bound by an oral agreement even if they intend to memorialise it but subsequently
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fail to enter into a formal document: Bear Stearns Bank plc v Forum Global Equity Ltd,[2007] EWHC 1576 (Comm) at [171]; Newbury v Sun Microsystems Ltd, [2013] EWHC20180 (QB) at [32].
232. However, although the subjective intentions of the parties are generally inadmissible inrelation to questions of construction, there is a quasi-exception where oral agreements areconcerned.  In this specific context, evidence of subjective understanding and subsequentconduct is admissible in so far as it tends to show, objectively, whether agreement wasreached, what the terms of that agreement were and whether it was intended to be binding.In Blue v Ashley, [2017] EWHC 1928 (Comm) at [64], Leggatt J (as he then was)explained the rationale for the exception as follows:

“In the case of an oral agreement, unless a recording was made, the court cannot know theexact words spoken nor the tone in which they were spoken, nor the facial expressions andbody language of those involved. In these circumstances, the parties’ subjectiveunderstanding may be a good guide to how, in their context, the words used wouldreasonably have been understood. It is for that reason that the House of Lords inCarmichael v National Power Plc [1999] 1 WLR 2042 held that evidence of the subjectiveunderstanding of the parties is admissible in deciding what obligations were establishedby an oral agreement.”
233. What I understand this passage to mean is not that the court can admit evidence of whata party subjectively hoped to achieve or intended to convey by its words.  Rather the courtcan admit evidence as to what each party subjectively understood the other party to beconveying.
234. I accept that the context of the meeting was to find a definitive solution to a problemwhich had been dragging on for years and was beginning to show worrying signs ofattracting regulatory attention.  Genworth felt that it had been given the runaround for avery long time talking to different teams, none of which seemed to know what other teamswithin Santander were saying or doing.  It is clear from the evidence of Mr Pateman andMr Hazell that Santander operated in a very rigid manner where there was little co-operation or co-ordination between departments.  Each division had its own reportinglines and procedures and other departments did not get involved unless asked.  This wasparticularly the case with PPI remediation which appears to have been completely ring-fenced.  Little wonder, then, that Mr Rember had become frustrated at his inability to geta consistent or coherent response from Santander and was anxious to ensure that anyagreed solution would “stick”.  This obviously required the involvement of senior peoplewho could commit Santander to what was agreed.
235. I also accept that there was no impediment from a regulatory point of view to Santandercommitting itself to the agreement orally.  The contrary was put to Mr Rember in cross-examination but it lacked any evidential support, although that of course is not the sameas saying that Mr Pateman necessarily had authority or intended to conclude a bindingagreement at the meeting.
236. The meeting itself was expressly held “without prejudice” and this is a powerfulindication that the parties would not necessarily have felt under any pressure to reach abinding agreement.  An equally powerful point on the other side is that “withoutprejudice” and “subject to contract” are paradigmatic ways of indicating that noagreement has been reached until reduced to writing: see, for example, Whitehead Mann
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Ltd v Cheverny Consulting Ltd, [2006] EWCA Civ. 1303 at [42].  Yet, none of theexperienced lawyers on Santander’s side thereafter used the expression in theircorrespondence.  Nonetheless, as Whitehead makes clear, it is not essential to have anexpress stipulation and, in my judgment, the objective observer would have expected aregulated banking entity the size of Santander to have internal governance proceduresand, at the very least, only to commit to a permanent solution of a long-standing andcontentious issue in writing.  It would be unusual and surprising to find it entering into amulti-million pound settlement orally on the basis of a meeting lasting less than an hour.
237. I therefore conclude that the agreement reached at the meeting was, in effect, subject tocontract.  For the avoidance of doubt, this is not because the agreement was subject to anyfurther review, or because further authority was necessarily required in order to committo the substance of the agreement.  Mr Pateman was sufficiently senior in the organisationto make the agreement.  He had been briefed in the context of Genworth’s express demandthat key decision-makers would be present and I find that he and Mr Lloyd had authorityto bind both SCL and SISUK.16  Moreover, none of the Santander witnesses was able topoint to any formal policy requiring ExCo approval or indeed any other procedure forentering into agreements.  I accept AXA’s submission that if this had in fact been the case,something would have been said either at the meeting itself or during the subsequentnegotiations on the outstanding matters.  If there were any doubt about this, Ms Day onlyconfirmed the accuracy of Mr Rember’s 5 June 2015 email after obtaining the “relevantinputs” which in itself implies the existence of due authority to make the agreement.
238. Nevertheless, none of that answers the question as to whether Santander intended toconclude a binding agreement prior to signature.  All the witnesses agreed that the meetingwas shorter than anticipated (estimates varied from 20-40 minutes) because Mr Patemanhad to leave for his pre-arranged meeting with the FOS on another matter.  This, combinedwith the express consensus that the agreement would need to be recorded, militatesagainst an objective intention to reach a binding agreement there and then.
239. Mr Green made much of the fact that Santander had previously paid out substantial sumsand had made provision in its accounts on the basis that it would be assuming liability forclaims handling and redress - all without any written agreement or suggestion that ExCoapproval or higher authority was required.  However, I do not regard this as a particularlyweighty point given that the previous agreements in 2012 and 2013 were never understoodto be a definitive solution for all time.  On the contrary, they were clearly only interimagreements intended to hold the ring pending the introduction of the new claims handlingprocess.
240. AXA further relied on the fact that although Mr Hazell had insisted he had strongobjections to Mr Pateman’s approach, he said and did nothing to raise this either at thetime or subsequently.  This is a double-edged sword.  It could equally be said that MrHazell was reluctant to embarrass Mr Pateman in public and only kept quiet because heunderstood that no finally binding agreement would be made at the meeting.
241. More importantly, even on AXA’s case, consensus still had to be reached on a number ofother matters and I regard it as unrealistic to separate the acceptance of liability
16 No distinction was ever drawn between the companies and they were certainly held out as having authority toact on behalf of both.
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(Genworth’s desideratum) from those other matters (Santander’s desiderata).  I thereforereject Mr Green’s submission that agreement on liability can be separated out and treatedas binding on the basis that it was the price of Genworth’s co-operation in relation to theother matters.
242. It is true that most of the matters left outstanding at the meeting were purely ancillary, forexample, the reconciliation of the balances owing each way and the termination of theAgency Agreement.  However, others were more substantive.  For example, the respectiveobligations of the parties under any claims handling agreement, and the nature of anyfuture operational costs which might be incurred by Genworth.  Although it was expectedthat the latter would largely be eliminated by the new claims handling arrangements, thiswas by no means settled and it was also possible that the new arrangements might affectthe extent of FOS fees to be incurred.  Furthermore, what would have been the position ifthe FOS had not agreed to deal directly with Santander, so that costs were not reduced asanticipated?  As it happens, the FOS did agree to this in principle at its meeting with MrPateman later on the same day, but this could not have been known at the time.  I alsodoubt that Santander would have been quite so sanguine about concluding an agreementunless satisfactory assurances were given with regard to NewDay and this was almostcertainly an important factor in Mr Pateman’s willingness to reach agreement.
243. For these reasons, I am satisfied that the agreement reached at the meeting was a packagewhich must be viewed as a whole and cannot be artificially dissected into separateelements.
244. Mr Green nonetheless relied on the fact that Santander subsequently conducted itself onthe basis that agreement had been reached, for example in its provisioning policy.However, this is not conclusive.  As with the draft Agency Agreement, the parties mayhave anticipated and expected it to be concluded, but the fact that preparations forimplementation were being made on the ground, or even that some employees thought italready applied, does not take the matter any further.  In any event, it would have beenthe height of imprudence not to make appropriate financial provision immediately if itwas expected that the agreement would in due course be signed.
245. I regard it as equally irrelevant that the final version of the Settlement Agreement signedby AXA still left the CHA open for further negotiation.  The position must be assessed asat the date of the meeting when it could not have been known that the parties would notin fact be able to finalise the CHA by the time that all the other matters were agreed.
246. Decisions like RTS Flexible Systems Ltd v Molkerei Alois Müller GMBH & Co KG (UKProduction), [2010] UKSC 14 are therefore not in point.  In that case, agreement wasreached which was expressly subject to contract but which was subsequently performedand paid in part on an amended basis.  The Supreme Court rejected the idea that there wasno contract at all but equally was unable to find that only some of the terms had beenconclusively agreed.  In the event it held that a contract had been concluded by conducton the terms originally agreed as subsequently varied, and that the parties had impliedlywaived the “subject to contract” provision.
247. Does evidence as to subjective understanding make any difference in this case?  In myjudgment it does not.  On the contrary, I am satisfied that Genworth did not understandthat any binding agreement had been reached at the meeting.  Mr Rember clearlyunderstood that agreement on the substance had been reached.  That is not in dispute.  But
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despite his evidence to the contrary, I cannot accept that he subjectively thought thatSantander was bound to liability in advance of a full written agreement.  If that were thecase, it is inconceivable that he would not have raised this – forcefully – on at least oneof the following occasions:
(a) When Santander refused to sign the Settlement Agreement in January 2016;
(b) In the formal letter sent by AXA’s solicitors on 4 September 2017 relying on a bindingagreement having been reached in 2012 as the basis of Santander’s liability.  Mentionof the 4 June 2015 meeting was conspicuous by its absence;
(c) When negotiating the provisions in the CHA regarding the irrecoverability of servicecharges.  An obvious reason which could have been deployed for resistingirrecoverability was that Santander had already agreed to pay these charges;
(d) When negotiating the standstill agreement.

248. In fact, the first suggestion that a binding agreement had been reached on 4 June 2015was only made some years later in December 2020.  The reason given for this by AXAwas that it was pointless to mention it earlier because Santander had long since renegedon the agreement and AXA had no choice but to agree to its demands.  I find thisunconvincing.  The most likely explanation to my mind is that the argument wassubsequently forged in a legal crucible as an ingenious afterthought.  I hasten to add thatthere is nothing improper in this.  It is for the court to decide whether or not a bindingagreement was concluded, irrespective of what the parties may or may not have thought.Litigants are entitled to present the facts in whatever legal guise seems best to them.  If aparticular argument only comes late to the party, that may be something which goes to itsweight, but it is not objectionable to put it forward.  In my judgment, however, thecomplete absence of any previous assertion that binding agreement had been reached inJune 2015 seriously undermines any suggestion that this was in fact Genworth’ssubjective understanding at the time.
249. For their part, the Santander witnesses unsurprisingly all gave evidence that no bindingcontract had been concluded, but I agree with Mr Zellick that if AXA cannot get home onthe basis of Mr Rember’s evidence, then Santander’s subjective understanding isirrelevant.  I was, nonetheless, invited by Mr Green to draw adverse inferences fromSantander’s failure to call Ms Day to give evidence.  The drawing of adverse inferencesfrom the absence of a witness is largely a matter of common sense depending on theparticular context and circumstances, including: (a) whether the witness is available; (b)whether it is reasonable to expect that they have relevant evidence to give; (c) what otherevidence is available on those points; and (d) the significance of the points in the contextof the case: Efobi v Royal Mail Group Ltd, [2021] UKSC 33; [2021] 1 WLR 3863 at [41].
250. Here, Ms Day’s fingerprints were all over the prior correspondence and the subsequentnegotiations.  She also attended the meeting itself and clearly had relevant evidence togive on the critical point of whether binding agreement had been reached.  None of MessrsLloyd, Hazell or Pateman could really recall exactly what was said, whereas Ms Day hadbeen much more closely involved both beforehand and afterwards and could reasonablyhave been expected to have a more detailed and accurate recollection.  No explanationwas offered as to why she had not been called and there was no suggestion that she waseither unwilling or unavailable to attend.  I understand that she has now retired, but so
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have Mr Lloyd and Mr Conway, both of whom were proffered as witnesses.  My hunchis that she was hugely embarrassed by Santander’s subsequent withdrawal from theagreement and possibly reluctant to give evidence for that reason, but that does not meanthat I can infer she would have supported AXA’s case on whether a binding agreementwas reached – certainly where I have found that Mr Rember himself did not have thatunderstanding.
251. I therefore decline to draw any adverse inference from her absence, although the failureto provide any explanation for the decision not to call her does not reflect well onSantander.
252. In these circumstances, the precise reason why the Settlement Agreement was not signedby Santander is irrelevant.  It did not necessarily have to go back to ExCo and if it hadbeen signed in October 2015 it would have been fully binding.  It was sheer bad luck fromAXA’s point of view that Mr Pateman left when he did and that his replacement decidedthat a review was necessary.  It can well be said that this was opportunistic on Santander’spart.  I cannot accept that the ostensible reason given for the refusal to sign, namelyconcerns about the allegedly flawed design of the Budget Accounts (for which GECBitself was responsible) was genuine.  Nonetheless, for as long as the agreement remainedunsigned, Santander was at liberty to withdraw for good reason, bad reason or no reasonat all and this no doubt presented itself as a convenient peg on which to hang its changeof heart.
J.2:  Agreement by subsequent exchange of emails
253. So far as concerns AXA’s alternative case based on the exchange of emails following themeeting, this cannot have led to a binding agreement if none had been reached at themeeting (which is the necessary premise of the argument).  Mr Rember’s email did nomore than request confirmation of the substance of what had been agreed and, as I put toMr Campbell KC in argument, recording a non-binding agreement cannot make it bindingeven when coupled with confirmation that the record was accurate.  In any event, Ms Daywould clearly not have had authority on her own to commit Santander to an agreement ofthis nature if it had not already been concluded and no-one could reasonably havesupposed that she did.
254. AXA is undoubtedly entitled to feel ill-used but, as I have already made clear, abstractnotions of justice and equity are no substitute for legal merit.  This head of claimaccordingly fails.
K:   THE INDEMNITY CLAIM
255. The relevant provisions of the Agency Agreement are set out in the Annex to thisjudgment.
256. Seven issues fall to be addressed:

(a) The construction of clause 12.2 of the Agency Agreement, specifically whether itapplies to losses arising from sales concluded before the Effective Date (i.e., 1December 2000);
(b) Whether the losses claimed are “liabilities” within the meaning of clause 12.2;
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(c) Whether the pre-condition requiring compliance by FICL/FACL with their duties underthe Agency Agreement is satisfied;
(d) Causation;
(e) Whether a claim under clause 12.2 is precluded because GECB’s conduct wasauthorised by FICL/FACL;
(f) Limitation;
(g) Identity of the correct defendant following the novation between SCL and SISUK.

K.1:  Pre-agreement sales
257. The Agency Agreement formalised a relationship that had been ongoing for many years.This is clear from clauses 1.1 and 1.2, which I set out again for ease of reference:

“1.1 GE-CB has prior to the date of this agreement acted as the Insurers' agent inrespect of the marketing and sale of the Insurance. The parties now wish torecord the terms and conditions on which GE-CB shall continue to act as theInsurers' agent.
1.2 Unless otherwise stated herein, the parties agree that, notwithstanding clause3, this agreement shall apply to and govern the marketing and sale of theInsurance under all of the Schemes (including the Schemes set out in schedule4 in respect of which there are in existence at the date of this agreement ExistingOn-Risk Policies), the ongoing administration of all Existing On-Risk Policiesand New Policies entered into between insured customers and the Insurerspursuant to such Schemes and the parties respective rights and obligations inrespect thereof.”

258. The agreement itself had been under negotiation since at least 1996 in substantially similarform to its eventual incarnation.  None of the evidence suggested that it was intended toeffect any material change in the pre-existing relationship.  As such, it contained regimesfor dealing with both (i) existing policies under existing retailer schemes; and (ii) newpolicies under either existing or new schemes: see the definitions of “Existing On-RiskPolicy” and “New Policy”.
259. It is common ground that in relation to premium/cost allocation, administration and claimshandling, the Agency Agreement drew no distinction between Existing Policies and NewPolicies.  They were all treated the same no matter when they were sold.  Nonetheless,Santander argues that for the purposes of the indemnity provisions in clause 12, adistinction between them falls to be made even though it could not point to any otherclause of the agreement where such a distinction was drawn.  AXA points out that, ifcorrect, this would mean that from 1 December 2000 Santander continued to receivearound 95% of any premium paid (after payment of claims) in respect of pre-agreementpolicies but was not to be liable for any mis-selling of the policies even if due to its ownacts or omissions.  Mr Green submits that such a startling asymmetry of risk and rewardwould require a very clear intention, particularly where one of the principal purposes ofPPI in the first place was to protect Santander’s own credit risk.
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260. In this case I have reached the clear conclusion that the objective intention of the partieswas that the entire Agency Agreement, including clause 12, should apply withoutdistinction to all policies sold by GECB on behalf of FICL/FACL irrespective of the dateof sale.
261. The aim of the agreement was clearly to effect continuity in the relationship between theparties rather than to bring about any bright-line change.  This is the natural inferencefrom clause 1.2 which is underlined by the fact that clause 1.2 expressly applies“notwithstanding clause 3”, i.e., irrespective of the date on which the Agency Agreemententered into force.
262. There was, however, a lively debate as to the correct construction of clause 1.2.  OnAXA’s construction, the Agency Agreement applied to:

(a) The marketing and sale of insurance “under all of the Schemes” including those wherethere were Existing Policies;
(b) The ongoing administration of all Existing Policies and New Policies;
(c) The parties’ respective rights and obligations in respect of (a) and (b).

263. Mr Green pointed out that “Schemes” under the agreement was defined to includeexisting schemes as well as new schemes.  The wording was thus apt to express anintention that the provisions of the agreement should apply to the marketing and sale ofany policy whenever sold.  He further submitted that the agreement could have referredto “ongoing marketing and sale” or to “marketing and sale of New Policies” if it had beenintended to exclude the marketing and sale of Existing Policies.  Santander’s riposte wasthat could equally have said “including Existing Policies”.  It is not uncommon for bothsides to deploy arguments to the effect that the rival construction could have beenexpressly spelled out if it had been intended.  Such arguments take the matter no further,particularly where the likelihood is that no-one addressed their minds to this particularpoint.  The court’s task is to discern the parties’ objective intention from what they haveactually said, not from what they could or might have said, which can only ever bespeculative.
264. In its written closing submissions, Santander’s case was that clause 1.2 applied to:

(a) The marketing and sale of insurance after 1 December 2000 under all schemesirrespective of the date of the scheme;
(b) The ongoing administration of all Existing Policies and New Policies;
(c) The parties’ respective rights and obligations in respect of (a) and (b).

265. In oral closings, however, Mr Zellick advanced an entirely new construction, namely thatthe clause applied to:
(a) The marketing and sale of insurance after 1 December 2000 under all schemesirrespective of the date of the scheme;
(b) The ongoing administration of all Existing Policies;



MRS JUSTICE DIASApproved Judgment Axa France IARD SA v Santander Cards UK Ltd

69

(c) New Policies and the parties’ respective rights and obligations in respect thereof.
266. It had never occurred to anyone to read the clause in this way until virtually the dyingminutes of the case.  Nonetheless, Mr Zellick resolutely argued that this was the correctconstruction to put on the agreement and the distinction it drew between Existing Policiesand New Policies indicated an overarching intention for the agreement only to apply tofuture conduct. The historic marketing and sale of Existing Policies was thereby excludedfrom its purview.
267. I suppose this is a possible construction, but it does not seem to me at all to accord withthe objective intention of the parties.  The effect would be that Existing Policies and NewPolicies were treated together in relation to the commercial aspects of the agency(premium, commission and claims handling etc.) but not for the purposes of the indemnityprovisions.  This is a most unlikely intention viewed objectively.  The suggestedconstruction is also tautologous, because if the agreement applies to New Policies underhead (c), it necessarily applies to the marketing and sale of those policies, making head(a) redundant to that extent.
268. Despite Mr Zellick’s submissions to the contrary, the words “notwithstanding clause 3”clearly demonstrate to my mind that the operation of the agreement was not tied to theEffective Date, which simply set the date at which the provisions of the agreement wereto start applying.
269. Moreover, as I suggested to Mr Zellick, his construction would create a logisticalnightmare in terms of reporting.  According to Mrs Greenaway’s evidence, the system ofbulk reporting adopted throughout the relationship did not distinguish between newly-sold policies and pre-existing policies.  It simply recorded the total number of activepolicies under each separate scheme.  There was therefore no way of identifying NewPolicies for the purposes of treating them differently unless GECB were to adopt a wholenew reporting system and there is no evidence that the parties envisaged any such change.
270. I therefore reject Santander’s proposed construction of clause 1.2 in favour of AXA’sinterpretation.
271. The idea of continuity was further supported by the terms of clause 4.1 where theappointment of GECB as agent was “confirmed” by FICL/FACL, and also by the factualevidence of Mrs Greenaway, Mr Halse and Mr Brandon-Cross, all of whom confirmedthat there had been no intention to alter the nature of the relationship between the parties.In other words it was very much “business as usual”.
272. The background and genesis of the Agency Agreement was to achieve a formalisation ofarrangements which were already being operated.  That being the case, one would expectit to be clearly stated (particularly given the long gestation period of the final agreement)if it had nevertheless been intended to draw a distinction for any specific purpose betweenpolicies sold after the Effective Date and those sold before.  Further, I can see no logicalor commercial reason why the parties would have intended GECB to be liable for theconsequences of its acts and omissions in relation to New Policies but not ExistingPolicies, particularly when the Agency Agreement was concluded at a time when (to theknowledge of both parties) the impending FSMA regime did not distinguish betweenfuture and historic sales.
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273. I entirely accept that there was no express indemnity provision governing the priorrelationship between the parties and that none could be implied.  To that extent clause 12was a “new” provision.  But the evidence of both the factual and expert witnesses wasthat agency agreements between insurers and credit lenders invariably contained anindemnity agreement of this nature and that would have formed part of the factual matrixwhich was known to both parties.  It is also true that all but one of the draft agreementsbefore the court contained a materially identical clause.  But it is trite law that reliancecannot be placed on drafts or negotiations in order to construe a contract and I leave thatparticular consideration out of account.
274.  Mr Zellick also prayed in aid the fact that no-one at the time anticipated the deluge ofclaims that would subsequently materialise and that it was therefore unlikely that anyonethought an indemnity was required.  That may be so, but it is another point which cutsboth ways.  If no claims were anticipated, there would be no reason not to give anindemnity.  He also attempted to derive support from GECB’s refusal to give an indemnityin relation to the Account Cover issue (see paragraph 167 above).  However, that involvedrefusal of a specific indemnity in the context of a specific problem, and in any event it isincontrovertible that the Agency Agreement did contemplate mutual indemnities,whatever GE’s “normal” policy might have been.
275. A more powerful argument on behalf of Santander was based on the wording of clause12.2 itself, namely that it only applied to acts or omissions of GECB while performing itsduties “under this agreement”.  Mr Zellick submitted that GECB only had duties underthe agreement on and after the Effective Date.  By definition, therefore, acts and omissionsprior to the Effective Date fell outside the scope of the indemnity.
276. I am not persuaded by this argument.  As I have concluded above, the clear intention ofclauses 1.1 and 1.2 was that from the Effective Date the regime set out in the AgencyAgreement should be applied to the entirety of the parties’ relationship, past and future.It is not without significance that these were bespoke clauses specifically negotiated inthe context of a particular longstanding relationship, and there is nothing heterodox in theidea that the duties set out in the agreement were duties which were contractually agreedto be applicable to the entirety of that relationship.  The same, obviously, would be trueof FICL/FACL’s duties under the agreement.
277. There is no question of any conflict with the entire agreement provision in clause 17.  Onthe contrary, clause 17 merely confirms that the Agency Agreement regime applies fromthe Effective Date.
278. Clause 12.2 accordingly covers liabilities incurred by reason of GECB performing theduties described in the Agency Agreement as agent for FICL/FACL whenever they wereperformed.  In this way the indemnity was tied to GECB’s activities as agent in respectof the schemes covered by the agreement.  The restriction thus relates to the scope of theagency rather than being temporal.  Any other conclusion would lead to a situation wherethere was potentially no indemnity for the mis-selling of Existing Policies sold prior tothe Effective Date, but acts and omissions after that date could incur liabilities.  Thatwould be contrary to what I find to have been the objective intention of the parties to drawno distinction between any of the policies for any purpose.  It would also allow aneffectively standard form indemnity provision to override the clearly bespoke provisionsin clauses 1.1 and 1.2.
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279. If Santander were right that the mis-selling of policies prior to the Effective Date wasexcluded from the scope of the Agency Agreement, I agree with AXA that it would leadto a surprising asymmetry, with the majority of the commercial benefits going to GECBand FICL/FACL picking up all of the liabilities even if attributable to GECB’s acts andomissions.  In my view, much clearer wording would have been required to achieve thiseffect.
280. Santander made the forensic point that if the lack of an indemnity had been thought to bea problem, then it is surprising that it took over 20 years to rectify the position.  However,since it is common ground that mis-selling claims only began to take off in the late 1990s,this point has limited weight.  It cuts both ways anyway.  If the agreement is to beconstrued as Santander suggests, it is equally surprising that it was not introduced sooner.
281. Santander’s final point was that if AXA’s construction were correct, it made no sense tolimit the Agency Agreement to existing schemes while ignoring schemes which had beendiscontinued.  However, the submission is factually flawed.  Mrs Greenaway’s evidenceconfirmed that the only schemes which were regarded as “discontinued” for the purposesof the Agency Agreement were those under which no policies had ever been sold.Schemes under which policies had been sold which could still be reactivated or give riseto claims despite being dormant for years were not treated as “discontinued” but wereregarded as existing schemes covered by the Agency Agreement.  Thus Appendix 4 tothe agreement included several schemes under which no premium had been collectedsince 1995 and under which no new policies could have been sold after the Effective Date.This also provides some support for the view that the Agency Agreement must have beenintended to apply to historic marketing and sale under those schemes.
K.2:   Liabilities
282. The sums claimed by AXA fall into four categories:

(a) £451.9 million in redress payments made to customers either directly or indirectly viaSUK under the Claims Handling Agreement;
(b) £70.6 million in respect of fees paid to the FOS in respect of complaints referred to itby disgruntled customers;
(c) £6.1 million in respect of internal administration costs incurred by Genworth/AXA inhandling complaints;
(d) £24 million paid to the Official Receiver by way of global settlement of putative claimson behalf of bankrupt estates in respect of mis-sold PPI prior to 2005 (the “ORsettlement”).

283.  Santander argues that none of these payments represents a “liability” for the purposes ofclause 12.2 of the Agency Agreement.  It submits that “liability” in this context means acivil liability incurred to a third party which (a) could be established against FICL/FACL17

17 For simplicity, I shall continue to refer to FICL/FACL notwithstanding that with the passage of time, therelevant liability may have been that of Genworth or AXA.
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in the civil courts at the suit of the third party and (b) is of a type and extent that wouldhave been within the contemplation of the parties at the date of the agreement.
K.2.1: Redress payments and FOS fees
284. I consider these arguments first in relation to the redress payments and FOS fees.
285. As to (a), the meaning of “liability” is a question of construction which depends on theparticular facts of the case.  Mr Zellick relied on certain comments of the Court of Appealin Smit Tak Offshore Services Ltd v Youell, [1992] 1 Lloyd’s Rep. 154, 159 but those wereconcerned with a very different situation, namely whether a letter from the DubaiDepartment of Ports and Customs instructing the claimant to remove a wreck on pain ofnon-renewal of a licence to operate in Dubai waters created a liability for the purposes ofa liability insurance policy.  Unsurprisingly, the court held that it did not, although MustillLJ stated that if the letter had been cast in the form of an instruction from the Ruler ofDubai himself – he being the source of all law – the result would have been different asthe letter would then have created a legal obligation to raise the wreck.
286. Reliance was also placed on Conister Trust Ltd v John Harman & Co., [2008] EWCACiv. 841 but that concerned liability under an agreement which was altogetherunenforceable under the Consumer Credit Act 1974.  That again was an entirely differentsituation as no-one in this case suggests that FICL/FACL did not have valid obligationsof some description to pay these sums.  The question is “to whom”?  Indeed at paragraph87 of that case, Lewison LJ expressly accepted that “liability” does not necessarily implyenforceability, although it did in the particular context before him.
287. Thus, neither of these authorities unequivocally supports Santander’s construction thatthe liability must be directly enforceable by the third party and I decline so to hold.  Itseems to me that the word is apt to include any liability or binding obligation which couldhave been enforced against FICL/FACL irrespective of by whom or on what basis, be ittort, contract, breach of statutory duty or a purely regulatory liability.  In the context ofan agency agreement between parties specifically relating to regulated activities, I can seeno reason to exclude regulatory liabilities even if they could not necessarily have beenenforced directly by the consumer against FICL/FACL in a civil action.  I do, however,accept that the liability must be one which is imposed on FICL/FACL rather than onewhich only exists as a result of having been voluntarily assumed.
288.  In respect of the redress payments, the relevant regulatory provisions which were said byAXA to create the relevant liability were set out in DISP as follows:

“DISP 1.4 Complaints resolution rules
DISP 1.4.1 R
Once a complaint has been received by a respondent, it must:
(1) investigate the complaint competently, diligently and impartially;
(2) assess fairly, consistently and promptly:

(a) the subject matter of the complaint;
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(b) whether the complaint should be upheld;
(c) what remedial action or redress (or both) may be appropriate;
(d) if appropriate, whether it has reasonable grounds to be satisfied that anotherrespondent may be solely or jointly responsible for the matter alleged in the complaint;

taking into account all relevant factors;
(3) offer redress or remedial action when it decides this is appropriate;
…
(4) comply promptly with any offer of remedial action or redress accepted by thecomplainant.

…
DISP 1.4.4 R
Where a complaint against a respondent is referred to the Financial Ombudsman Service, therespondent must cooperate fully with the Financial Ombudsman Service and comply promptlywith any settlements or awards made by it.”
289. These provisions had the status of delegated legislation under section 137A of FSMA andwere binding on FICL/FACL.  They were also rules, rather than guidance, contraventionof which could be sanctioned by enforcement action.  In a Policy Statement dated August2010, the FSA expressed the clear view that breaches of the FSA Principles gave rise toliabilities and that the complaints handling rules accordingly required a firm to uphold acomplaint and pay appropriate redress when the conduct in question was in breach of thePrinciples.
290. FICL/FACL was thus mandatorily required under the DISP rules to offer redress whereappropriate and to comply promptly when the offer was accepted.  By virtue of section138D(2) of FSMA, breach of the complaints handling rules was actionable at the suit ofa consumer who suffered loss as a result of the contravention.
291. Santander nonetheless submits that even in these circumstances, FICL/FACL was underno liability to pay redress which could have been enforced by civil action.  At most, aconsumer could have brought a claim on the basis that FICL/FACL had not handled theclaim in accordance with the DISP rules.  Admittedly they could recover damages for thatbreach but it would not have been a claim for redress as such.
292. However, while Mr Zellick’s analysis of the consumer’s right of action is undoubtedlycorrect, I am unable to accept that FICL/FACL were under no liability to pay the redressin question.  On the contrary, they were under a binding regulatory obligation, which hadstatutory force, to pay such redress as was appropriate under the relevant rules.  Thesausage which came out of the regulatory machine was accordingly a liability to payredress and if FICL/FACL had failed to do so, not only could the regulator have takenenforcement action against them, but the customer had a civil route by which it couldsecure payment, even if only indirectly by way of damages.
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293. In my judgment, this is a sufficient liability for the purposes of the indemnity under clause12.2 of the Agency Agreement, although not necessarily for other purposes.
294. Likewise in relation to complaints referred to the FOS, FICL/FACL were under a bindingregulatory obligation to comply with any FOS award.  Under FSMA, FOS awards couldbe enforced as if they were orders of the court and, if accepted by the complainant, gaverise to a res judicata precluding further proceedings.  Santander nonetheless submittedthat, with one exception, none of the complaints referred to the FOS resulted in a bindingaward because FICL/FACL chose to pay on the basis of a provisional decision rather thana final award.   Accordingly, even on the basis of the analysis above, there was no liabilityon the part of FICL/FACL to make payment.  In my judgment, this is a distinction withouta difference.  The decision of the FOS may have been provisional, but it was still adecision which stood unless and until challenged by either party.  I am therefore satisfiedthat payment pursuant to such a decision was also a liability for the purposes of theindemnity.
295. As regards the FOS fees, the unchallenged evidence of Mr Doherty was that FICL/FACLhad a legal obligation to pay fees to the FOS in respect of all complaints referred, whetherultimately upheld or not.  Such fees could have been recovered by the FOS in legalproceedings and therefore fall squarely within the meaning of “liability” in clause 12.2.
296. As regards limb (b) of Santander’s submissions, the indemnity applies to any act oromission, not just acts which amount to a breach of contract, and there is nothing toindicate that the parties intended to incorporate contractual rules of remoteness applicableto claims for damages.  Indeed, it could be said that the whole point of an indemnity is toprovide protection against consequences which are unforeseeable as pointed out by SimonBirt KC in Rhine Shipping DMCC v Vitol SA, [2023] EWHC 1265 (Comm) at [219].  Thesituation is very different from that in BCCI v Ali (No. 1), [2001] UKHL 8; [2002] 1 AC251, where the court was concerned with a release of claims in a settlement agreement.In that situation, it might well be the case that the parties did not intend to releaseunforeseeable future claims.
297. Accordingly, I do not see that it makes any difference in principle that at the date of theAgency Agreement, there was no regulatory route to redress such as existed later and thatat that date customers could only have enforced any claims by conventional means in theordinary courts.  In my judgment, the objective aim and purpose of clause 12.2 was toprovide FICL/FACL with an indemnity if it got into regulatory hot water because ofsomething that GECB had done.
298. The question therefore resolves into one of causation, as to which I can see no reason notto adopt the usual approach, namely that GECB’s conduct must have been the proximateor effective cause of the liability in question.  On that basis there can be no doubt that theredress payments and FOS fees are liabilities which were proximately and effectivelycaused by the mis-selling.  In any event, in the context of the relationship between theparties, they were also precisely the types of regulatory consequence which would havebeen in contemplation at the date of the Agency Agreement, even if the precise regulatorymachinery could not itself have been foreseen.
K.2.2: Administrative costs
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299.  The administrative costs incurred by Genworth/AXA relate largely to the setting up of adedicated call centre exclusively to handle PPI complaints, of which some 99.89% relatedto policies sold by GECB.  92% of the costs were payroll costs, while the remainderrepresented payments to third party suppliers for printing and postage and other servicesrequired to facilitate the operation of the call centre.
300. Clearly Genworth/AXA had a contractual obligation to pay its staff and suppliers whichcould have been enforced in the civil courts.  However, in my judgment this is not aliability which falls within the ambit of clause 12.2.  Genworth was under no obligationto anybody to set up a separate call centre to handle claims; its decision to do so wasentirely voluntary and made (no doubt for very good reason) for its own commercialconvenience.  As such, these costs do not in my judgment constitute a liability coveredby clause 12.2.
301. Furthermore, while the costs could be said to have been indirectly caused by mis-sellingin the sense that they would not have been incurred “but for” that mis-selling, this waspurely indirect consequential loss and, as such, cannot be said to have been proximatelycaused by the mis-selling.
K.2.3: The OR Settlement
302. None of the bankrupt estates comprised within the settlement had actually madecomplaints in relation to mis-selling, let alone complaints which were successful.  Thesettlement was rather concluded by Genworth/AXA to avoid such complaints being made.
303. By analogy with reinsurance cases such as Enterprise Oil Ltd v Strand Insurance Co. Ltd,[2006] EWHC 58 (Comm); [2006] 1 Lloyd’s Rep. 186  and AstraZeneca Insurance Co.Ltd v XL Insurance (Bermuda) Ltd, [2013] EWHC 349 (Comm); [2013] Lloyd’s Rep. IR290, an indemnity against liability (of whatever nature) requires the claimant to establishthat it was under an actual subsisting liability.  In this case, there may or may not havebeen such a liability and I fail to see how the mere entering into of a voluntary settlementof claims which are feared, but which have never been advanced, can have created one.Put a different way, a settlement concluded specifically in order to avoid a regulatoryliability can hardly be said to establish that liability.  At best, the settlement could be saidto represent costs incurred to avoid a liability, but in the absence of some doctrine akin tothat of sue and labour in marine insurance, such costs are not recoverable under anindemnity: see Yorkshire Water Services Ltd v Sun Alliance & London Insurance plc,[1997] 2 Lloyd’s Rep. 21.  I would in any event have held that any liability under thesettlement agreement was not proximately caused by the alleged mis-selling.
304. On that basis AXA’s claim for an indemnity cannot succeed in relation to theadministrative costs or the OR Settlement.
K.3:  Pre-condition: compliance with FICL/FACL’s duties

305. There was a dispute between the parties as to which of them bore the burden of proof inrespect of FICL/FACL’s compliance with their duties under the Agency Agreement.Relying on Sofi v Prudential Assurance Co. Ltd, [1993] 2 Lloyd’s Rep. 559 and Paine vSJO Catlines, [2004] EWHC 3054 (TCC), AXA contended that the burden was onSantander.  Santander referred in turn to Braithwaite v Thomas Cook Travellers ChequesLtd, [1989] 1 All ER 235 which it said demonstrated the contrary.  In truth, none of these
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cases provided unequivocal support for either proposition but, since I have not found itnecessary to resort to the burden of proof, I will not lengthen this judgment further byaddressing the point in detail.  Suffice it to say that I would have been inclined to holdthat Santander bore an evidential burden of showing that the pre-condition had not beencomplied with, which it would then have been for AXA to rebut as part of its legal burdenof proof.
306. The starting point is the meaning of by the words “complying with their duties under thisagreement”.  Clearly the clause cannot be read literally and indeed Santander acceptedthat not every breach by FICL/FACL of an obligation under the Agency Agreement wouldbar the indemnity, for example, a failure to provide monthly reports within 10 days of themonth end.
307. In the event, I have concluded that the most sensible construction of the pre-condition,which is likely to have been objectively intended, is to underline the necessity for aneffective causal link between FICL/FACL’s breach of duty and GECB’s conduct.  In otherwords, if GECB’s acts and omissions were themselves effectively or proximately causedby FICL/FACL’s failure to comply with their duties, any resulting liability would falloutside the scope of the indemnity.

308. As ultimately articulated in closing, Santander’s case was that FICL/FACL werein breach of:
(a) clauses 5 and/or 7.1(d) and (f) of the Agency Agreement and their overridingresponsibilities in having:

(i) stood by and allowed GECB to mis-sell policies without taking any steps to ensurethat they did so compliantly; and
(ii) required GECB to market policies (in particular the Budget Account policies) whichwere considered by the FOS to have been so defective and/or to have offered suchpoor value for money that they should not have been offered to sale to customers atall;

(b) clause 7.1(a) in having failed to provide GECB with any or any adequate marketresearch, marketing or technical assistance;
(c) clause 7.1(b) in having failed to provide GECB with any or any adequate specialisedtraining in relation to the insurance and its marketing and sale.

309. FICL/FACL’s obligation under the ABI Code both as regards their own compliance andthat of GECB was to exercise best endeavours.  I have found in paragraphs 188-223 abovethat there was no failure by FICL/FACL to exercise best endeavours and it follows thatthere was no non-compliance with their duties under the Agency Agreement in thisrespect.  Even if it could be said that FICL/FACL were automatically in breach of theABI Code by virtue of defaults by GECB, that would have been attributable to GECB,which was under its own independent obligation of compliance by virtue of clause 6.1(g).
310. There is therefore no basis for saying that FICL/FACL failed to comply with the pre-condition in clause 12.2 and Santander’s defence to the indemnity claim on this groundfails.
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K.4:  Causation
311. The question here is whether the categories of loss claimed are liabilities which arise “byreason of” GECB’s acts or omissions while performing their duties.
312. On the basis that (as I have held) the Agency Agreement applies to the marketing and saleof existing policies, it cannot sensibly be disputed that mis-selling of those policies byGECB amounted to conduct while performing its duties under the agreement, whetherthose duties are limited to the specific duties set out in clause 6 or regarded more broadlyas the duties attendant on GECB as an agent.  Indeed Santander did not argue the contrary.
313. I have already addressed the required causal link in paragraph 298 above.  For the reasonsalready given, I am satisfied that FICL/FACL’s liability for redress payments and FOSfees arose by reason of GECB’s mis-selling and are therefore covered by the indemnity.By contrast, the administrative costs and sums paid under the OR settlement cannot, evenif they can properly be regarded as “liabilities” for this purpose.  For the avoidance ofdoubt, the basis of my decision on this head of claim is that GECB is liable for all theregulatory consequences of its mis-selling and is therefore liable for all redress and FOSfees paid by AXA under the regulatory regime, irrespective of whether individualcomplaints would have succeeded in a court of law.
K.5:  Authorisation
314. Santander argued that the manner in which the policies had been sold had been authorisedby FICL/FACL and that GECB was therefore not itself in breach of the AgencyAgreement.
315. I struggle to see the relevance of whether GECB was in breach of the agreement or not.The indemnity is expressly not limited to negligence or breach of contract but is triggeredby any act or omission, culpable or otherwise.  More broadly, however, Santander’ssubmission was that FICL/FACL cannot have incurred any liability for GECB’s actscommitted outside the permitted scope of the agency so that it must be assumed that theconduct in question was within the scope of the agency and had thus been authorised.  Inso far as this was intended to suggest that GECB’s conduct was expressly authorised, thatwould be tantamount to an allegation of deliberate misconduct.  However, the case is notpleaded in that way and I have in any event accepted that FICL/FACL were aware onlyof the general process by which PPI was sold and not that systemic mis-selling was takingplace.  In my judgment, it would make a nonsense of the indemnity to hold that it did notapply to the carrying out of authorised activities (the sale of PPI) in an unauthorisedmanner (by mis-selling).
316.  Accordingly, I reject this ground of defence.
K.6:  Limitation
317. The dispute in relation to limitation concerns the hoary old chestnut of whether the causeof action for an indemnity accrues on the date of the transaction under which the liabilityis incurred (here the date of sale) or only when the liability crystallises.
318. In support of its argument that the correct date is the date of sale, Santander relied on thewell-known case of Bosma v Larsen, [1966] 1 Lloyd’s Rep. 22.  That was a shipping case
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where there was an express indemnity against “all consequences or liabilities arisingfrom the Master … signing Bills of Lading or other documents or other complying with[the Charterers’] orders.” McNair J held that the obligation to indemnify against “allliabilities” was to provide indemnity against the incurring of the liability, not itsdischarge.  He did not expressly consider the indemnity against “all consequences”.  Itshould also be noted that this particular indemnity was given in the specific context of acharterparty where signature of the bill of lading creates a contractual nexus with anyoneto whom the bill is indorsed.
319. The preponderance of modern authority has sought to distinguish Bosma and confine it toits specific facts: see, for example, The Caroline P, [1985] 1 WLR 553 (a case involvingthe implied general indemnity under clause 8 of the NYPE form of the charter) whereNeill J held that in the case of an express indemnity the accrual of the cause of action wasa question of construction.  He thereby drew a distinction between the express indemnityagainst liabilities and a “general indemnity”, no doubt in an attempt to distance himselffrom Bosma.  However, there are difficulties with that distinction which are welldescribed in the summary of authority by Picken J in Cape Distribution Ltd v CapeIntermedia Holdings plc, [2016] EWHC 1796 (QB) [85]-[92] where the judge held thatthe critical question is not so much the subject matter of the indemnity as its properconstruction in the context in which it was given: see Chitty on Contracts (35th ed.) (2023)(Sweet & Maxwell) para. 32-049.  It follows that no rigid meanings can be ascribed toany particular form of words.
320. The general modern rule, referred to by Chitty, is that time in relation to an indemnityagainst liability starts to run when the relevant liability is established and ascertained byjudgment, award or binding settlement.  In this case, as at the date of sale, any liabilitiesarising from mis-selling were purely contingent and not such as to cause any measurableloss or immediate impairment of FICL/FACL’s assets.  They were not established orascertained until such time as payment was made following a complaint.  I see nothing inthe wording of this particular indemnity to suggest that the general rule should not apply.
321. The position might have been different if the incurring of a contingent liability hadimmediately diminished the value of FICL/FACL’s assets or rights – the so-called“impaired asset” line of authority reflected in cases such as Forster v Outred & Co.,[1982] 1 WLR 86 and Co-operative Group Ltd v Birse Developments Ltd, [2014] EWHC530 (TCC).  In this type of case, the indemnifier’s actions have an immediate impact onthe value of the claimant’s assets or some other property, such as an equity of redemption.It can therefore properly be said that the cause of action arises at that point, because thereis an actual loss which is capable of measurement.  Here, however, until such time as acustomer made a complaint which was either upheld or agreed, any liability was inchoateand there would have been nothing to indemnify.
322. Appeals to the commercial consequences of one construction or another do not take thematter any further.  Limitation inevitably draws an arbitrary line and it will always bepossible to posit circumstances in which it works harshly against one party or the other.But that is an inherent feature of all arbitrary lines.
323. I accordingly hold that the indemnity under clause 12.2 was triggered when FICL/FACL’sliability was established and ascertained, which for practical purposes can be taken asbeing the date of payment.  Since it is common ground that this was all within six years
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of the standstill agreement, it follows that the indemnity claim – in so far as it succeedson the facts – is not time barred.
K.7:  Novation and the identity of the correct defendant
324. It is Santander’s case that the indemnity claim lies only against SCL.  This depends onthe construction of the novation agreement between SCL and SISUK dated 22 January2010, whereby certain rights and obligations of SCL were novated to SISUK with effectfrom 1 January 2010.  AXA contends that this is a matter of some importance becauseSISUK’s assets are greater than those of SCL and Santander has expressly declined toconfirm that it will stand behind SCL should the claim against it be otherwise successful.
325. The relevant provisions of the novation agreement were the following:

“1.1 The parties to this Novation Agreement agree that as from 1 January 2010 (the"Effective Date"):
1.1.1 SISUK shall have the benefit of all rights under the UK Agreement as if SISUKhad executed the [Agency] Agreement instead of SCL;
1.1.2 SISUK shall perform all of the obligations of SCL under the [Agency]Agreement; and
1.1.3 Genworth accepts the assumption of liability by SISUK in place of SCL inrespect of the [Agency]Agreement.

1.2 SISUK and Genworth hereby acknowledge and agree that each shall have no liabilityto the other in respect of any duties, obligations, causes of action, claims or liabilitieswhatsoever pursuant to or in connection with the [Agency] Agreement arising prior to theEffective Date or in connection with the Ireland Agreement.
1.3 SCL and Genworth hereby acknowledge and agree that each shall have no liability tothe other in respect of any duties, obligations, causes of action, claims and liabilitieswhatsoever pursuant to or in connection with the [Agency] Agreement arising after theEffective Date.
1.4 This Novation Agreement shall be without prejudice to any accrued rights of SCL orGenworth arising prior to the Effective Date or under the Ireland Agreement.”

326. Had clause 1.1 stood alone, it would have had the effect that SISUK not only undertookto perform all of SCL’s obligations under the Agency Agreement from 1 January 2010but also agreed to assume any liability of SCL in respect of the agreement, irrespective ofwhen or how that liability arose.  However, clause 1.1 was qualified and limited by theprovisions of clauses 1.2 and 1.3 which provided that SISUK and Genworth should haveno liability to each other in respect of duties, obligations, causes of action, claims orliabilities arising before 1 January 2010, while SCL and Genworth should have no liabilityto each other in respect of such matters arising after that date.  For this purpose, it seemstolerably clear that the word “liabilities” does not refer to the liability incurred byFICL/FACL in respect of which indemnity is sought, but rather to GECB’s liability toindemnify.
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327. There was some debate at the hearing about how these provisions should be construedgiven that a duty or obligation could arise before the relevant date while the cause ofaction to which it gave rise might only arise later.  For example a breach of duty mighthave occurred in June 2009 but loss might not have been suffered until February 2010.This gave rise to the distinctly unattractive possibility that a particular set ofcircumstances might potentially be covered by both clauses or by neither.
328. In my judgment, the straightforward approach is the most satisfactory and the objectiveintention to be discerned from these clauses is that where FICL/FACL could have calledupon GECB to perform a duty or obligation under the Agency Agreement or if they couldhave issued proceedings against GECB or required it to satisfy a liability before 1 January2010, then liability should stay with SCL.  If only after 1 January 2010, then liabilitypassed to SISUK.18

329. As I have found above, AXA’s cause of action for an indemnity against GECB accruedwhen it was called upon to pay.  Since it is common ground that this was within six years ofthe standstill agreement, it must necessarily have been after 1 January 2010 and liability wasaccordingly novated to SISUK.  This would also be consistent with the provision in clause 1.4for rights accrued before 1 January 2010 to remain where they were.  The fact that any mis-selling arose because of GECB’s breaches of duty prior to 2010 is irrelevant.  The mis-sellinghad already long-since occurred and there would no longer have been any question of callingupon GECB to perform its duties in that respect at the date of the novation.
K.8:  Conclusion on the indemnity claim
330. I therefore conclude that AXA has a valid claim for an indemnity against SISUK inrespect of the redress payments and FOS fees but not otherwise.
L:  THE CONTRIBUTION CLAIM
331. The next basis of claim asserted by AXA against Santander lies under the ContributionAct 1978, albeit this is maintained only in respect of the redress payments and the ORSettlement.  AXA accepts that the FOS fees and administrative costs are not sums forwhich Santander was “liable” within the meaning of the Act.
332. The Act provides as follows:

“1 Entitlement to contribution.
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section, any person liable in respect of anydamage suffered by another person may recover contribution from any other person liablein respect of the same damage (whether jointly with him or otherwise).
(2) A person shall be entitled to recover contribution by virtue of subsection (1) abovenotwithstanding that he has ceased to be liable in respect of the damage in question sincethe time when the damage occurred, provided that he was so liable immediately before he

18 On this construction, 1 January 2010 itself is rather left in limbo, but it must be hoped that this does not giverise to any practical difficulty.  If it does, and the parties cannot reach an amicable solution the court will have todeal with it.
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made or was ordered or agreed to make the payment in respect of which the contributionis sought.
(3) A person shall be liable to make contribution by virtue of subsection (1) abovenotwithstanding that he has ceased to be liable in respect of the damage in question sincethe time when the damage occurred, unless he ceased to be liable by virtue of the expiry ofa period of limitation or prescription which extinguished the right on which the claimagainst him in respect of the damage was based.
(4) A person who has made or agreed to make any payment in bona fide settlement orcompromise of any claim made against him in respect of any damage (including a paymentinto court which has been accepted) shall be entitled to recover contribution in accordancewith this section without regard to whether or not he himself is or ever was liable in respectof the damage, provided, however, that he would have been liable assuming that the factualbasis of the claim against him could be established.
…
(6) References in this section to a person’s liability in respect of any damage are referencesto any such liability which has been or could be established in an action brought againsthim in England and Wales by or on behalf of the person who suffered the damage; but it isimmaterial whether any issue arising in any such action was or would be determined (inaccordance with the rules of private international law) by reference to the law of a countryoutside England and Wales.
2 Assessment of contribution.
(1) Subject to subsection (3) below, in any proceedings for contribution under section 1above the amount of the contribution recoverable from any person shall be such as may befound by the court to be just and equitable having regard to the extent of that person’sresponsibility for the damage in question.
(2) Subject to subsection (3) below, the court shall have power in any such proceedings toexempt any person from liability to make contribution, or to direct that the contribution tobe recovered from any person shall amount to a complete indemnity.
…
6 Interpretation.
(1) A person is liable in respect of any damage for the purposes of this Act if the personwho suffered it (or anyone representing his estate or dependants) is entitled to recovercompensation from him in respect of that damage (whatever the legal basis of his liability,whether tort, breach of contract, breach of trust or otherwise).”

333. Five issues arise:
(a) Whether AXA is “liable” for damage suffered by a third party;
(b) Whether Santander has any liability to the third party;
(c) If so, whether such liability is for the same damage;
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(d) The appropriate apportionment;
(e) Limitation.

L.1:   AXA’s liability for damage
334. Section 1(6) defines “damage” for the purposes of the Act as meaning any liability whichhas been or could have been established in an action against AXA by the person sufferingthe damage.  Section 6(1) further clarifies that the basis of the liability is irrelevant.  InRoyal Brompton Hospital NHS Trust v Hammond, [2002] UKHL 14; [2002] 1 WLR 1397the House of Lords stated at [26] that “damage” was accordingly to be given a broadinterpretation and affirmed the proposition that it meant little more than “a loss of somesort”.
335. Nonetheless, the Act clearly requires some form of legal liability which could beestablished against AXA in the civil courts.  I reject Santander’s submission that it mustalso be a “conventional” liability, which seems to me to be an impermissible gloss on theplain meaning of the statutory language.
336.  As far as the redress payments are concerned, I have already concluded that AXA wasunder a regulatory liability to pay redress by virtue of its obligations under DISP: seeparagraphs 288-293 above.  However, Santander argues that this is not a liability thatcould have been enforced as such in the civil courts by the complainants.  The only claimthat could be brought would be for default in the handling of the complaint whereas noneof the claims by consumers was made on this basis.
337. While I rejected this argument in the context of the indemnity claim, I have concludedthat in this context, it is correct.  Section 1(6) contemplates that the action brought by theperson who suffered the damage must be one which has established or is capable ofestablishing the liability.  However, the only civil claims that could have been asserted byconsumers would have been for breach of rules 1.4.1 or 1.4.4 of DISP (set out atparagraphs 288 above) and, far from being in breach these rules, AXA/Genworth appearto have observed them meticulously.  Likewise, it may be that AXA/Genworth were undera regulatory liability to pay redress or satisfy FOS awards, but that was because of anobligation owed to the regulator, not because they were under any liability to theconsumer which the consumer could enforce directly.  Moreover, the obligation underrule 1.4.1 is to pay redress when the insurer decides it is appropriate to do so.  It is difficultto see how an action for breach of 1.4.1 can prescribe positively how that discretion shouldhave been exercised.
338. The same difficulty arises in relation to the obligation under rule 1.4.4 to satisfy FOSawards.  While paragraph 16 of Schedule 17 to FSMA entitles the customer to enforce aFOS award as if it were payable under a county court judgment, this presupposes thatliability has already been established by the award.  Neither a claim for breach of rule1.4.4 nor enforcement under paragraph 16 is itself capable of establishing any liability.
339. These may seem somewhat technical distinctions because the ultimate damage sufferedby the consumer and compensated by the redress payments is still the same (although Inote that a similar distinction was drawn by AXA in the Genworth proceedings, albeit inthe specific context of the SPA).  AXA also complains that this means it is worse off asregards a contribution claim for having complied with its regulatory obligations than it
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would have been if it had ignored or disobeyed them.  However, this is a statutory remedyand the statutory requirements must be observed.  Where those requirements are clear, asthey are, it is not for the courts to correct any perceived illogicality or injustice in theiroperation.
340. In closing, Mr Green argued that a consumer could have claimed directly againstGenworth/AXA on the basis of a liability in negligence or for breach of contract.However, AXA’s case was not pleaded or argued on that basis.  The only liability assertedwas a regulatory liability and in my judgment a claim for contribution on that basis cannotsucceed.
341. For the sake of completeness, if I am wrong in this conclusion, I would have rejectedSantander’s submission that redress paid in accordance with a provisional decision of theFOS fell outside the scope of the Act because it was not an enforceable monetary awardbut only advisory.  First, for the reason given in paragraph 294 above, namely that aprovisional decision is more than merely advisory; and secondly, because I do not seewhy payment pursuant to a provisional decision would not have amounted to a bona fidesettlement or compromise of a claim within section 1(4) of the Act.  I agree with AXAthat it would be perverse to adopt a construction of the Act which required the customerto pursue a complaint to the bitter end.
342. As it is, however, I conclude that AXA is not under a relevant liability in respect of theredress payments for the purposes of the 1978 Act.
343. Turning to the OR Settlement, AXA argued that this fell within section 1(4) of the Act.  Ido not agree.  As discussed at paragraphs 302-304 above, the settlement did notcompromise any claims because no claims had been made.  It was essentially a paymentmade to forestall any such claims and it cannot be said that AXA was under any liabilityto the bankrupt estates save in so far as created by the settlement agreement itself.
344.  The claim for contribution does not therefore get off the ground in respect of eithercategory of loss.  In the circumstances, I need only deal very briefly with the remainingingredients.
L.2:   Santander’s liability
345. Assuming that my conclusion above is wrong and that AXA was under a liability toconsumers in relation to the redress payments or the OR Settlement, it argues thatSantander was liable for the same damage on any one of the following three bases:

(a) Negligence;
(b) Negligent misstatement;
(c) Under the Consumer Credit Act 1974.

L.2.1:  Negligence
346. Mr Green submitted that in all the circumstances GECB assumed a duty of care to thecustomers to whom it sold PPI.  I am unable to accept this submission.  GECB had nodirect nexus with the customers and certainly no contractual link.  I am not persuaded thatit was in a sufficiently proximate relationship with customers to say that it voluntarily
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assumed responsibility to them for the sale of the policy – at least in the absence ofcircumstances taking a particular case out of the norm.  In these circumstances, it wouldnot be fair, just or reasonable to impose a direct duty on GECB which ultimately only hada relationship with the customers in relation to PPI as agent for FICL/FACL and not in itsown right.  It is further arguable that the imposition of a generalised direct duty in thissituation would cut across the contractual allocation of responsibilities as betweenFICL/FACL and GECB and as between GECB and the retail stores.
347. AXA submitted that an analogy was to be drawn with insurance brokers but to my mindthis is inapt.  GECB was not acting as an independent broker but as a tied agent ofFICL/FACL.  It was therefore very firmly on the insurer’s side of the fence and I can seeno justification whatsoever for any “incremental” extension of a duty of care to thissituation.  The fact that as between GECB and FICL/FACL, GECB was the principaleconomic beneficiary of the policies sold was irrelevant so far as the customer wasconcerned.
348. I likewise regard it as irrelevant whether policies were sold on an advised or non-advisedbasis.  Given the hard sell tactics employed, I accept that it is open to doubt whether thesewere genuinely non-advised sales.  But even if they were advised, it makes no difference.Vis-à-vis the customer, GECB was still selling as agent for FICL/FACL.
349. A more promising argument might have been that GECB was under a duty of care in itscapacity as credit lender to ensure that the store card was sold in a compliant manner andthat this duty extended to the sale of ancillary products.  However, I did not hear argumenton the point and it still does not meet the point that GECB only sold the ancillary PPI inan agency capacity.  As it makes no difference to the ultimate result, I leave the pointopen.
350. I accept that if a duty had existed, then on the basis of my findings above it is very likelythat GECB was in breach on many occasions.  However, in the context of a claim underthe 1978 Act, it is not sufficient, as it is in the context of the indemnity claim, merely topoint to systemic failures as having been the effective cause of the entirety of the redresspayments.  There is an express statutory requirement that GECB be liable for the samedamage “suffered by another person” as AXA.  AXA therefore needs to be able toidentify actual damage suffered by a particular customer which necessarily requiresanalysis of each individual case to see whether it discloses a breach of duty and, if so, theextent of any damage caused as a result.  This is in contrast to the claim for an indemnityor in negligence where the focus is on the loss or damage caused to AXA, where I acceptthat the loss can be looked at globally.
L.2.2:  Negligent misstatement
351. Even if GECB was not under any general duty of care, AXA nonetheless argues that itwas under a duty not to mislead customers but that it did so by impliedly representing inwords or conduct that the policies had at least some benefit for the customer.  AXAaccepts that this argument cannot succeed in relation to customers who were not even toldthat they were buying PPI, but maintain it in relation to all other cases.
352. The test for misrepresentation is what a reasonable person would have understood thewords used to mean in their context.  If the representation is implied, it is what areasonable person would have inferred was being implicitly represented by the relevant
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conduct: IFE Fund SA v Goldman Sachs International, [2006] EWHC 2887 (QB)(Comm) at [50].
353. We are not concerned for the purposes of this discussion with any express representation.That would obviously depend on the evidence in specific cases, for example where acustomer was wrongly told that taking out PPI was required in order to be approved forcredit.  Considerations of this nature will be addressed in relation to the SampleComplaints but I am not asked in these proceedings to look at individual cases any morewidely than that.  Rather AXA argued that, by inviting a customer to buy PPI, GECB wasnecessarily impliedly representing in every case that the policy offered at least somebenefit.  In response, Mr Zellick submitted that there was no scope for an impliedrepresentation in a non-advised sale.  I am by no means persuaded by this latter argument.Whether advised or non-advised, the test is as set out above and it is by no meansimpossible to envisage circumstances in which an implied representation could be madeeven in the context of a non-advised sale.
354. Nonetheless, I reject the suggestion that the court can make any generalised finding ofmisrepresentation in particular categories of sale.  The question of whether amisrepresentation was made, whether expressly or impliedly, is intensely fact-specificand cannot be determined on an indiscriminate global basis.  In any event, the need toshow specific damage to a specific customer applies just as much here as it does to a claimbased on misrepresentation as it does to an argument that GECB was liable forstraightforward negligence.
L.2.3:  Consumer Credit Act 1974
355. The relevant provisions of the Consumer Credit Act are as follows:

“140A Unfair relationships between creditors and debtors
(1) The court may make an order under section 140B in connection with a credit agreementif it determines that the relationship between the creditor and the debtor arising out of theagreement (or the agreement taken with any related agreement) is unfair to the debtorbecause of one or more of the following–

(a) any of the terms of the agreement or of any related agreement;
(b) the way in which the creditor has exercised or enforced any of his rights under theagreement or any related agreement;
(c) any other thing done (or not done) by, or on behalf of, the creditor (either beforeor after the making of the agreement or any related agreement).

(2) In deciding whether to make a determination under this section the court shall haveregard to all matters it thinks relevant (including matters relating to the creditor andmatters relating to the debtor).
…
(4) A determination may be made under this section in relation to a relationshipnotwithstanding that the relationship may have ended.
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…
140B Powers of court in relation to unfair relationships
(1) An order under this section in connection with a credit agreement may do one or moreof the following–

(a) require the creditor, or any associate or former associate of his, to repay (in holeor in part) any sum paid by the debtor or by a surety by virtue of the agreement or anyrelated agreement …;
(2) An order under this section may be made in connection with a credit agreement only–

(a) on an application made by the debtor or by a surety;
(b) at the instance of the debtor or a surety in any proceedings in any court to whichthe debtor and the creditor are parties, being proceedings to enforce the agreement orany related agreement; or
(c) at the instance of the debtor or a surety in any other proceedings in any court wherethe amount paid or payable under the agreement or any related agreement is relevant.

…
140C Interpretation of ss. 140A and 140B
(1) In this section and in sections 140A and 140B ‘credit agreement’ means any agreementbetween an individual (the ‘debtor’) and any other person (the ‘creditor’) by which thecreditor provides the debtor with credit of any amount.
…
(4) References in sections 140A and 140B to an agreement related to a credit agreement(the ‘main agreement’) are references to–

…
(b) a linked transaction in relation to the main agreement or to a credit agreementwithin paragraph (a);
…”

356. In so far as the following was not common ground, I am prepared to assume that:
(a) The store card agreement was a credit agreement and the PPI policy was a relatedagreement within the meaning of the Act: Smith v Royal Bank of Scotland plc, [2023]UKSC 34; [2024] AC 955 at [15];
(b) It does not matter for the purposes of the Act that the credit agreement and the relatedagreement are between different parties.  A credit agreement can still be unfair inrelation to matters which arise in connection with the related agreement: Plevin vParagon Personal Finance Ltd, [2014] UKSC 61; [2014] 1 WLR 4222.
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357. The principles to be applied in assessing unfairness are set out in Self v Santander CardsUK Ltd, [2024] EWCA Civ. 1106 at [55].  A broad and holistic assessment is requiredand there is no restriction on what can be taken into account provided the court thinks itrelevant.  AXA submits that the court should therefore have regard to the fact thatcustomers considering the purchase of PPI (assuming they were aware of it at all) werelikely to be concerned about their ability to repay and thus financially vulnerable andunsophisticated.  It was a not a situation where they had voluntarily sought the opportunityto purchase PPI and in circumstances where they were first being offered an unsolicitedstore card and then PPI on top, there was a risk of them being bounced into a series offinancial decisions at speed without having had a proper opportunity to think themthrough.  Also relevant was the fact that GECB had a substantial interest in maximisingsales which was not disclosed and that the retail staff were also often incentivised toachieve sales.
358. For these reasons, AXA argued that:

(a) There was unfairness on the grounds of extreme inequality of knowledge andunderstanding which prevented a genuine evaluation of the arrangement - a fortioriwhere the customer was not aware they were purchasing PPI at all;
(b) The notional opportunity to withdraw or cancel during the cooling-off period post-salecould not cure the unfairness because it would not reasonably be expected thatcustomers would scrutinise documentation after the event and then take active steps tocancel.  Fairness required a proper explanation before the sale was concluded – as,indeed, was the position under the ABI Code;
(c) The remedies set out in section 140B included an order to repay the premium.  This wasthe same as the damage that AXA was required to compensate by way of redresspayments.

359. I agree with AXA that it does not matter that any remedy under the 1974 Act was purelyhypothetical.  Section 1(6) of the 1978 Act requires only a liability which has or couldhave been established.  The authorities are clear that a notional liability is sufficient: BDWTrading Ltd v URS Corporation Ltd, [2023] EWCA Civ. 772; [2024] KB 827 at [201].
360. More difficult, however, is the fact that repayment would have been a discretionaryremedy.  The objective of section 1(6) is not to create or deem a liability where none canexist, but to recognise that it need not be formally established.  In this case, there was awhole range of possible remedies under section 140B, some of which did not involvepayment at all (for example, altering the terms of the agreement).  In those circumstances,repayment might never have been ordered and it is therefore difficult to see how GECBwould be said to have been liable to make such repayment.
361. For these reasons, AXA has failed to persuade me that GECB was under any liability toconsumers on the bases asserted.
L.3:   Same damage
362.  The 1978 Act only requires that GECB be liable for the same “damage” as FICL/FACL,not the same “damages”: Royal Brompton Hospital NHS Trust v Hammond (supra) at[27].  As recognised in that case, a practical test which can sometimes be useful is to ask
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whether the discharge by FICL/FACL of their liability would pro tanto discharge GECB.In this case, it undoubtedly would, and I accept that a regulatory liability to pay redress isnot so fundamentally different from any liability that GECB might have incurred tocustomers as to take the case out of the statute altogether.  Had the point been live, I wouldtherefore not have found against AXA on this ground alone.
L.4:   Apportionment
363. Ex hypothesi, the question of apportionment only arises if the contribution claim hassucceeded so far, which necessarily pre-supposes that GECB was in breach of a commonlaw duty of care or guilty of negligent misstatement or unfairness in relation to the creditagreement.
364. However, as I have held, a claim for contribution requires a fact-specific enquiry into thefacts and circumstances of each case in order to demonstrate that both parties were liableto the particular customer for the same damage.  It is therefore impossible to make any apriori assessment of the appropriate just and equitable contribution.  All that can be saidis that, given the limited circumstances in which a claim would be likely to arise at all(i.e., where there was a specific assumption of responsibility or a specificmisrepresentation), it is difficult to envisage circumstances where the apportionmentwould not be very heavily, if not entirely, against Santander.  Likewise if Santander wereheld to have been in general breach of duty or to have made a generalisedmisrepresentation.  In this context, it is not totally without significance that Santandershouldered the entire burden of making redress payments until 2015.
L.5:   Limitation
365. Three potential limitation points arose in relation to the contribution claim but only oneof them was the subject of any debate.  This arose from the fact that section 140A of theConsumer Credit Act does not apply to “completed agreements”.  Under the Act, a“completed agreement” is one under which sum is or may become payable.  AXA thusaccepted that credit agreements which had been cancelled prior to 6 April 2008 (when therelevant provisions came into force) were “completed” for this purpose.  However, itargued that the exclusion did not apply to dormant accounts which could be resurrectedat any time.  It further argued that the exclusion does not bite simply because theassociated PPI policy had come to an end, so long as the relevant credit agreement wasstill in force.
366.  I accept both propositions.  So long as it is possible for a store card to be used, the creditagreement cannot be regarded as completed.  Moreover, as AXA pointed out, unfairnessin relation to the policy would still have tainted the credit agreement notwithstanding thesubsequent expiry of the policy, and the historic premiums might still have fallen to berepaid.
367. As for the other two limitation points, section 1(3) of the 1978 Act makes clear that a timebar of GECB’s own liability is irrelevant save in so far as the right is extinguishedaltogether.  That was not this case, since the only time bar was under the Limitation Actwhich is only procedural and bars the remedy not the right, and Santander did not argueto the contrary.  It was also common ground that as between AXA and Santander, a two-year time bar applies to any contribution claim such that AXA would have been limited
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in any event to recovery in respect of payments made on or after 7 December 2015, i.e.,two years prior to the standstill agreement.
368.  As it is, however, the consequence of my findings is that the contribution claim failsaltogether.  Santander’s counterclaim does not therefore arise and need not be addressedfurther.
M:  THE NEGLIGENCE CLAIM
369. As already noted, this final way of putting the claim is maintained by AXA very much asa fall-back, since it accepts that it is almost entirely time-barred by virtue of the long-stoplimitation period and only survives in respect of policies sold after 7 December 2002.
370. The issues for consideration fall under five heads:

(a) Duty;
(b) Breach;
(c) Causation and remoteness;
(d) Contributory negligence;
(e) Limitation under section 2 of the Limitation Act 1980.

M.1: Duty
371. The duty asserted here is a duty owed to FICL/FACL rather than, as with the contributionclaim, to the end customer.  Ultimately, it was not controversial that an agent owes itsprincipal a duty at common law to exercise reasonable skill and care in the performanceof its duties19 and that at least from the date of the Agency Agreement, GECB’s duties asagent included an express obligation to comply with the ABI Code.
372. To the extent that it was disputed, I am satisfied that this was also the position even priorto the conclusion of the Agency Agreement.   As I have already found on the basis of theevidence set out at paragraphs 139-182 above, GECB knew not only (i) that FICL/FACLwere members of the ABI and thus under a duty to exercise best endeavours to complywith the ABI Code themselves and to ensure that GECB did likewise, but also (ii) that itwas required to comply with the ABI Code itself.  Indeed, that is what it claimed to bedoing: see, for example, paragraph 161 above.
373. Mr Blundell agreed that if GECB was aware that FICL/FACL had adopted therecommendations of the applicable code and were required to sell within those standards,then GECB could not itself ignore the requirements when selling.  Frequently, of course,compliance would be covered by an express provision in any agency agreement, as wasthe case here after 1 December 2000.  However, drafts of an agency agreement were underdiscussion from at least 1996 onwards which included comparable provisions.  In these
19 Santander’s pleaded case was that there was no expectation of liability between the parties but that was not asubmission which was pursued by Mr Zellick with any great vigour, if at all.  It is in any event belied by theexpress stipulation for an indemnity in the Agency Agreement.
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circumstances, it is pure sophistry to argue that GECB was not at all times aware that itwas required itself to comply with ABI Code in its capacity as FICL/FACL’s agent.
374. Mr Zellick’s main point under this head, however, was rather different.  He submitted thatit was not foreseeable prior to 2010 that a statutory regime might subsequently be put inplace which would require redress to be paid for historic sales by reference to modernstandards of acceptable selling and what is fair and reasonable, without regard to the rulesof evidence and whether or not there was in fact any liability.  He pointed to certaincategories of mis-sale, such as opt-out sales or sales of Budget Accounts, which wererequired to be “auto-upheld” without further investigation into the facts.  In these cases,compensation had to be paid notwithstanding that more detailed enquiry might havedisclosed that the customer had all the relevant information and wanted the policyanyway.  Relying on the recent decisions of the Supreme Court in Manchester BuildingSociety v Grant Thornton UK LLP, [2021] UKSC 20: [2022] AC 783 and Khan vMeadows, [2021] UKSC 21; [2022] AC 852, he argued that losses resulting from theseunforeseeable matters fell outside the scope of any duty altogether because there was nosufficient nexus between the loss and the subject-matter of GECB’s duty - the so-called“duty nexus” requirement.
375. It is fair to note that the Supreme Court’s analysis of liability for negligence in ManchesterBuilding Society and Khan has not been universally adopted in subsequent cases.  Indeed,there is some indication that its application may be somewhat limited beyond its specificcontext, namely the negligent provision of advice or information causing economic loss.But in any event, there is force in AXA’s submission that Santander’s argument elidesthe analytically separate concepts of foreseeability in ascertaining the scope of duty andremoteness.
376. As Manchester Building Society makes clear, the scope of duty is to be determinedprimarily by reference to the purpose of the duty, judged objectively.  In this case, theobvious purpose of GECB’s duty to comply with the ABI Code was to avoid FICL/FACLbeing placed in breach by virtue of their agent’s conduct.  Further:

(a) As held above, the relevant regulatory standards were materially the same over theentire period under consideration;
(b) It could self-evidently be expected that a breach of regulatory standards would lead tocomplaints being made and ensuing regulatory consequences;
(c) It is in the nature of a regulatory regime that it evolves over time.  It is thereforeirrelevant that the specific way in which the regulatory framework might develop couldnot be foreseen.

377. In my judgment this is sufficient to bring the regulatory consequences of GECB’s conductgenerically within the scope of its duty.  I would observe that the nature of thecompensatory scheme eventually adopted in DISP was almost certainly dictated to a largeextent by the situation confronting the regulator where sales dated back decades and thelikelihood of being able to carry out minute factual scrutiny of each individual complaintwith any degree of rigour was vanishingly small.  It is therefore unsurprising that it choseto adopt a broad and flexible approach to evidential requirements.  Indeed it could be saidthat this is simply the consequence of the long-standing systemic failings of the industry(including GECB).
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378. Nor do I accept that the mere fact that the regulator required redress to be paid incircumstances when it might not have been recoverable in a civil claim makes it a differentkind of damage or takes it outside the scope of GECB’s duty for the purposes of a claimin negligence.  The redress still constitutes the measurable financial consequences of thebreach.
379. Thus, whether analysed in terms of a voluntary assumption of responsibility, or arelationship of proximity or in accordance with the Manchester Building Societyframework, I am satisfied that GECB owed FICL/FACL a duty to avoid causing losses ofthe general kind claimed here.
M.2: Breach
380. I have already held that the appropriate standard of care was defined by the ABI Codeand that GECB was in breach of the Code by virtue of its systemic failings.  Sincecompliance with the ABI Code is itself conditioned by considerations of reasonableness(i.e., an obligation to exercise best endeavours), it is axiomatic that GECB failed toexercise all reasonable skill and care in the performance of its duties.  Breach is thereforeestablished.
M.3: Causation and remoteness
381. I have discussed above whether there was anything FICL/FACL could have done to avoidor ameliorate GECB’s failings and concluded that there was not.  Santander’s argumentthat FICL/FACL’s losses were caused by their own acts and omissions rather than thoseof GECB must accordingly fail.
382. That then leaves the question whether the specific losses claimed were caused by GECB’sbreaches and/or whether they were too remote.
M.3.1:  Redress payments
383. The first point to consider is whether it is necessary for AXA to prove that Santander’sbreach or breaches of duty caused loss in each individual case.  In my judgment, it is.Although my findings above are of systemic failings on the part of GECB which inthemselves constitute breaches of duty, the focus of the claim in negligence is on whetherthose failings caused actual loss and damage rather than (as with the claim for anindemnity) whether they resulted in AXA incurring a regulatory liability to operate aprescribed redress scheme.  I therefore hold that AXA must prove that Santander’s breachor breaches caused a loss in each individual case.
384. So far as remoteness is concerned, however, it is Santander’s systemic failings which ledto the entire problem.  It would have been obvious that a systemic failure to comply withregulatory requirements would have regulatory consequences of some sort and it is besidethe point that the precise nature of those subsequent consequences could not necessarilyhave been foreseen.  On the basis that the regulatory consequences which in fact ensuedrequired AXA to make the redress payments that it did, I am satisfied that the redresspayments were not too remote a consequence of GECB’s breaches.
M.3.2:   FOS fees
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385. Santander’s submission that, even if it is liable for the redress payments, the FOS fees arenonetheless irrecoverable because they were unforeseeable must be rejected for the samereason.
386. However, AXA conceded that it could not recover in negligence for fees levied in respectof complaints which were ultimately dismissed.  It seems to me that this concession iscorrect.
M.3.3:  Administrative costs
387. There is force in Santander’s submission that AXA’s internal administrative costs areirrecoverable has force.  In principle, internal administrative costs that would have had tobe paid anyway cannot be said to have been caused by GECB’s breach in any meaningfulsense.  In this case, however, almost the entirety of the costs related to additional costsincurred in setting up a dedicated complaints unit.  It is possible that changes in theregulatory landscape would have required such a department to be established in anyevent, but I do not at present see why any genuinely additional costs of handlingcomplaints should not be recoverable in principle.
388. However, I did not hear full argument on the point and in any event it raises questions ofquantification which cannot be determined now.  This point likewise can be left for furtherargument if necessary.
M.3.4:  OR Settlement
389. A finding that GECB is liable for the consequences of its negligence cannot on any viewextend to the consequences of a settlement agreement concluded precisely in order to pre-empt such consequences.  Such a settlement was not reasonably foreseeable and the claimfor this head of loss thus fails in any event.
390. It is irrelevant that the Official Receiver may have acted reasonably in negotiating a bulksettlement.  That is a matter between him or her and the bankruptcy court, but it cannotaffect the extent to which GECB is liable to pay compensation for losses caused by itsbreach of duty.  In so far as AXA might say that it concluded the settlement in order tomitigate or avoid a potentially greater liability if complaints had actually been made, theshort answer is that the rules of mitigation do not apply to claims in tort.
M.4: Contributory negligence
391. On the basis of my findings above there is no basis for making any deduction from AXA’sclaim on grounds of contributory negligence.
M.5: Limitation
392. It is accepted by AXA that the long-stop limitation period under section 14B of theLimitation Act 1980 applies, and that section 2 of the Act additionally bars claims wheremore than 6 years have elapsed since AXA paid or agreed to make payment.
393. What was controversial was Santander’s submission that actionable damage for thepurposes of a claim in tort was sustained when the relevant policy was mis-sold and thatAXA’s cause of action in negligence accrued at that date.  If that is correct, section 2
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would have the effect of barring all claims in respect of any policy sold more than sixyears prior to the date of the standstill agreement.
394. There is a considerable overlap between this argument and the similar argument made inthe context of the indemnity claim (see paragraphs 317-323 above) and I have no doubtthat on this point AXA is correct.  The present situation is almost exactly analogous withthat which arose in Law Society v Sephton & Co., [2006] UKHL 22; [2006] 2 AC 543where accountants had negligently certified the probity of a solicitor who had in factmisappropriated client funds.  When this came to light much later, the Law Societycompensated the defrauded clients in accordance with its statutory obligations and thenclaimed over against the accountants.  The House of Lords held that the Law Society didnot suffer damage as a result of the negligent certification until it was called upon to pay.The mere possibility of becoming obliged to pay money in the future was not damage.  Inreaching this decision the House approved the Australian decision in Wardley AustraliaLtd v State of Western Australia (1992), 175 CLR 514 in which the High Court ofAustralia held that entry into a contract exposing the claimant to contingent loss orliability does not cause actual loss until the contingency is fulfilled and the losscrystallises.
395. A distinction is therefore to be drawn between this type of case and the “damagedasset/package of rights” type of case exemplified by Forster v Outred (supra). In Forsterv Outred, negligent advice from a solicitor caused Mrs Forster to enter into a mortgage tosecure her son’s borrowing.  It was held that she suffered an immediate measurable lossin so far as her equity of redemption was impaired as soon as she entered the mortgage.Similarly, where a solicitor negligently drafts a lease with the result that the client acquiresa flawed asset.  In both types of case, it can fairly be said that the asset is damaged fromthe outset and that the claimant suffers an actual immediate loss to that extent.  This is tobe contrasted with cases such as Nykredit Mortgage Bank plc v Edward Erdmann GroupLtd, [1997] 1 WLR 1627 where there was a negligent valuation of property.  The assetitself was not damaged but the negligent valuation meant that a lender who relied on it inentering into a mortgage might find that its security became insufficient as the marketfluctuated.  The House of Lords held that the lender only suffered loss when the value ofthe security in fact fell below the amount of the loan.  The security rights themselves werenot flawed; it was simply a question of their adequacy at a particular point in time.
396. The present case is not remotely like the Forster v Outred line of authority.  GECB’snegligence in this case did not impair the value of any other property of FICL/FACL.  MrZellick argued rather faintly that a contingent liability to pay compensation impaired thevalue of FICL/FACL’s overall book of business in the sense that FICL/FACL’s rightsunder the policies were encumbered by the risk of having to pay compensation.  However,by parity of reasoning with Sephton, this was a purely contingent liability, which wasincapable of quantification unless and until a complaint was made and liability actuallyincurred.  The contingent risk of having to pay compensation had nothing to do withFICL/FACL’s rights under the policy itself, which remained unchanged andundiminished at all times.
397. I therefore reject Santander’s argument on this point.
M.6: Novation
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398. It was conceded by AXA that liability for any negligence claims stays with SCL underthe novation. In the light of my construction of that agreement, I am again not convincedthat this concession was well made, but I make no finding on the point.  Should it everbecome a live issue (bearing in mind the very limited ambit of the negligence claim) itcan always be revisited.
N:   CONCLUSION
399. My decision on the matters raised for determination at this stage is therefore as follows:

(a) The settlement claim fails and is dismissed;
(b) The indemnity claim succeeds against SISUK in relation to the redress payments andFOS fees but not otherwise;
(c) The contribution claim fails and is dismissed.  Santander’s counterclaim forcontribution is likewise also dismissed;
(d) Subject to limitation the claim in negligence succeeds in principle, save in respect ofthe OR Settlement, without deduction for contributory negligence.  Further argumentmay, however, be necessary in relation to the claim to recover FOS fees andadministrative costs and as to the identity of the correct defendant.

400. So far as concerns the Sample Complaints which I was asked to consider, theconsequences of my findings are set out in a separate Appendix to this judgment.
401. It only remains for me to express my thanks to counsel, both leading and junior, for thethoroughness and quality of their submissions.  I am particularly pleased to have beenaddressed by junior counsel as the reduction in the number of smaller-scale commercialcases means that they all too seldom have the opportunity to hone their advocacy skills.This is a practice which is therefore much to be encouraged.
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APPENDIXTHE FRAMEWORK
1. The task of the parties is now to apply my judgment to the Complaints Sample.  For thispurpose, they have invited me to give them as much guidance as is feasibly possible by (a)considering certain specific files in detail and (b) determining some fifty “Points ofPrinciple” in the hope that this will assist them in their endeavours.
2. The first and most important point to make is that this exercise has no relevance to AXA’sindemnity claim, which is the principal basis on which I have found that the claim succeeds.As I have held, Santander is liable for all the regulatory consequences of GECB’s mis-selling.  Accordingly, to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress inaccordance with the regulatory regime, the loss is covered by the indemnity even if aparticular complaint might not have succeeded in court.  By contrast, the claim innegligence does require assessment of individual cases (as would the contribution claimhad it succeeded).  The relevance of what follows is therefore limited to that basis of claim..
3. The first Point of Principle is a threshold question which goes to the heart of the difficultieslikely to be faced at the quantum stage:

“If the customer alleged in their complaint that PPI was not drawn to their attentionand/or not explained to them, and/or that they were advised to take out the PPI policy,and/or that the retailer misrepresented the policy, what further evidence (if any) isrequired to prove such allegations on a balance of probabilities?”
4. AXA’s proposed answer is that the customer’s assertion should be accepted in the absenceof evidence to the contrary, on the basis that:

(a) The allegations made are plausible and unsurprising given the manner in which PPI wasroutinely sold;
(b) The customer will either have signed a declaration in the complaint questionnaire (the“PPIQ”) confirming the truth of their assertions or must be taken to have been awareof the declaration;
(c) Had the claims been brought in court, they would have been allocated to the smallclaims track and determined in accordance with CPR Part 27, under which the strictrules of evidence do not necessarily apply and it would be unreasonable andinconsistent to insist on stricter standards in these proceedings.

5. In response, Santander argues that assertions in the PPIQ cannot be accepted without more.The court should approach each case in the same way as it would in any civil claim, namelyby looking at each case and reaching conclusions on a balance of probabilities taking intoaccount:
(a) The likelihood of the customer’s recollection being accurate given the considerablelapse of time since the sale of the policy, the relatively mundane nature of thetransaction and that fact that it occurred in a very short timescale;
(b) Whether the complaint made (be that in the PPIQ or in some other document) was agenuine attempt at recollection or whether it was merely a standard form declaration
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couched in the wording of a claims management company to which no real weight canbe attached;
(c) Whether the complaint was credible;
(d) Whether a declaration of truth was signed;
(e) GECB’s normal sales practice as to the provision of information;
(f) The fact that in nearly all cases, the customer accepted or maintained the cover afterreceipt of full documentation and continued to pay the premium;
(g) The absence of any contemporaneous complaint;
(h) The fact that many customers accepted that the sales were non-advised;
(i) The fact that the complaints were made in the context of a consumer-friendly regulatoryregime where no pleadings or disclosure was required and the assertions made were notseriously challenged, if at all;
(j) The fact that the vast majority of policies sold by GECB did not lead to any complaintswhatsoever;
(k) The fact that even under CPR Part 27, the court is not obliged to dispense with thenormal rules of evidence and if the claimant does not attend the hearing, his claim maybe struck out unless it is verified by a statement of truth.

6. I have found as a fact in paragraph 185 of my judgment that there were the followingsystemic failings on the part of GECB:
(a) A routine failure in opt-out sales to make the customer aware that they were purchasingPPI at all and that there was an option to decline cover;
(b) A routine failure to provide even an outline explanation of the policy;
(c) A routine failure to draw attention to the Summary before concluding the sale.

7. In my judgment this has the following consequences:
(a) Where, on a fair reading, the complaint alleges one of these systemic failings, it can beinferred that it is likely to have occurred.  That is sufficient to discharge the evidentialburden resting on AXA which it is then for Santander to rebut.  In the absence ofSantander adducing positive evidence to the contrary, however, assertions fallingwithin the sub-paragraphs of paragraph 6 above may be taken to be proved unless theyare obviously incoherent, or internally inconsistent or inherently implausible for someother reason.  For convenience, I refer to these as “default presumptions (a), (b) or (c)”as appropriate.
(b) Where the complaint does not engage a systemic failure, it must be assessed on itsparticular facts. The factors which Santander has identified above are in principlerelevant to any such assessment.
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8. The following important points should nonetheless be noted:
(a) There must generally be a complaint about something or an assertion that somethingspecific was either said or not said in order to get the claim over the starting line,otherwise there is no allegation to find proved or not proved.  It need be no more than“nothing was ever said about PPI” but a PPIQ or complaint which says nothingwhatsoever about when or how the policy was sold or what was said/not said cannot inprinciple be sufficient.  It is irrelevant that the complaint may have been auto-upheld.Notwithstanding the systemic failures which I have found, it must be recognised thatsome sales staff may have done a proper job and the customer must at least identifysome respect in which it is said that they did not.  The only exceptions of which I canpresently conceive (although I do not exclude the possibility that there might be others)would be:

(i) where a positive opt-in from the customer was required which was not obtained, inwhich case the sales process can be regarded as deficient without more;
(ii) where the customer was ineligible for any form of cover; or
(iii) where the customer can be seen from the documents to have expressly declinedcover.

(b) The fact that a complaint is made in standard form wording almost certainly formulatedby a claims management company does not, of itself, indicate that no weight is to beattached to it.  The nature of the PPIQ is such that all customers are likely to have beenasked the same questions and if they gave answers to the same effect it is unsurprisingthat the company couched it in the same terms.  Given the many hundreds of claimswhich they were no doubt handling, this is unsurprising and unobjectionable.  Whatmatters is the substance of what was said.
(c) Likewise, I pay little regard to the lack of any signature or statement of truth in thePPIQ itself.  In every case that I have looked at which involved a claims managementcompany, there was a signed letter of authority from the customer, authorising thecompany to act on their behalf.  A large number of these letters included expressagreement  to the company’s terms and conditions.  Where those terms and conditionswere in the papers before me,20 they invariably contained an undertaking by thecustomer as to the truthfulness and accuracy of the information provided.  I would befrankly astonished if some such condition was not included in every claims handlingcontract and I am prepared to infer that it was.  This could indeed explain why in manycases the PPIQ was completed by the claims management company and not separatelysigned by the customer.  Either way, there would be sufficient assurance of truth andaccuracy to justify accepting the complaint as evidence which would also extend tostatements made by the claims management company as agent on the basis ofinformation supplied to it.
(d) The grounds on which a complaint may have been upheld or rejected during theregulatory process have no evidential significance and do not bind either the parties orthe court.  The fact that a complaint may have been auto-upheld is therefore irrelevant,

20 As they were for claims submitted by The Claims Guys, YourMoneyClaim and Reclaim PPI.
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as is the fact that there may have been other grounds for upholding it which were nottaken into account.  The court is both entitled and bound to look at the availableevidence de novo.
9. As noted in paragraph 14 of the judgment, the parties have attempted to categorise theComplaints Sample by reference to 10 principal categories (A-J) identified by AXA.  Thereis a substantial overlap between many of these categories and I intend no disrespect whenI say that I have not found them entirely helpful.  In fact, it seems to me that in reality all(or virtually all) cases will fall into one of the following four categories, which I have re-named to avoid confusion:

(a) No consent;
(b) Ineligibility;
(c) Inadequate explanation;
(d) Miscellaneous.

10. No consent: Lack of consent could in principle arise in a number of different situations:
(a) Where the customer declined PPI but cover was added to the account anyway (AXA’sCategory A);
(b) Opt-out sales where the customer was not told that they were being offered PPI or giventhe option of declining the cover (AXA’s Category B);
(c) Where there was no evidence in the context of an opt-in sale that the customer’s consenthad been obtained, even ostensibly (AXA’s Category D);
(d) Where consent to an opt-in sale was ostensibly obtained but there was no actual consentbecause, for example, the box had been ticked by the salesperson without thecustomer’s knowledge.  Cases where the customer consciously ticked the box but didso without fully understanding what they were signing (AXA’s Category D1) seem tome to fall more properly into the Inadequate Explanation category below.

11. In all such cases, there will have been a clear breach of duty by GECB.  Default presumption(a) will further apply to opt-out sales and liability will be established in principle.
12. Ineligibility:  There is potential for confusion here, since the term “ineligible” could denoteineligibility for any part of the cover or only for some of the benefits offered (AXA’sCategories, F and H).  I use the term in the former sense, and since the experts agreed thatGECB should have ascertained the eligibility of the customer for the policy, it follows thatin all such cases breach will be established.  This necessarily falls to be assessed on a case-by-case basis as age limits may have differed from policy to policy.
13. If, by contrast, the customer in question was only ineligible for certain parts of the cover,it should still have been explained that there were certain restrictions and limitations oncover such that the case properly falls into the Inadequate Explanation category.
14. Inadequate explanation:  This category covers all cases where the customer was, forexample, not given key details of coverage, cost, benefits etc., or told about the existence
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of key limitations/exclusions regarding pre-existing medical conditions or employmentstatus, and/or was not directed to the Summary before conclusion of the sale (AXA’sCategories, E, G, H, I, J(BA) and J(OM)).  Although the parties may have their own reasonsfor doing so, I do not at present understand why it should be necessary to distinguishbetween the different reasons why customers might have wanted or needed to be given thisinformation in order to decide whether to take cover or not.  Likewise, I can see no obviousreason in principle to treat Budget Accounts differently from other forms of cover.  Thefundamental point in all cases is that the customers needed to have sufficient informationin order to understand what they were buying, but provided they did and were directed tothe Summary, it could be assumed that they were capable of deciding for themselveswhether to take the policy.  I have held that  there was otherwise no obligation on sales staffto discuss sensitive medical or financial information in any more detail unless they hadreason to suspect that it might be relevant.
15. Miscellaneous: This is likely to be a very small category but will pick up cases of error byGECB, such as the double insurance in AXA’s Category C,21 or positive misrepresentation,such as an assertion that taking the policy was obligatory or that the credit application wasmore likely to be successful if it was.
16. As will be obvious, Inadequate Explanation is likely to be by far the largest category anddefault presumptions (b) and (c) will in principle apply to all these cases.
17. I hope that the foregoing will enable the parties to make some headway in tackling thequestion of quantum.  However, since the context in which this exercise is being conductedis that of a claim in negligence, it is also necessary to establish that any breach was causativeof the loss suffered by the customer and compensated by AXA/Genworth.  As to this:

(a) In cases where the customer has stated that they would not have taken the policy butfor the alleged acts or omissions of GECB, I can see no reason not to accept their wordabsent evidence to the contrary.  This can in any event be inferred in cases where thecustomer explicitly declined cover but it was nonetheless added to the account.
(b) More difficult are the cases where the customer does not state what they would havedone one way or the other.  Again, however, it seems to be that inferences can inprinciple be drawn if warranted by the evidence - for example, if cover for the particularcustomer would have been severely restricted because of their age, or employmentstatus or a pre-existing medical condition, such that a reasonable person would haveconcluded that it was not worth taking.  Necessarily, this will depend on looking at thecircumstances of each case in the light of the particular policy wording, but the rule ofthumb applied by the FOS in taking six months of sick pay or redundancy benefit seemsto be a sensible and appropriate benchmark to adopt where “other means” areconcerned.
(c) Clearly if the customer was altogether ineligible for cover, or where they had expresslydeclined cover, no further proof of causation is required: the policy should simply nothave been sold to them at all.

21 There was apparently only one such case in the sample, file H147.
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18. I therefore propose to consider each of the files with which I was supplied22 within thisframework and then to attempt to answer the Points of Principle.  I emphasise that whatfollows in relation to the individual complaints should not be regarded as a definitivefinding, since not only have I left limitation out of account, but it may be that furtherinvestigation reveals a different picture.  It simply represents my provisional views on thesubstance of the complaints based on the material currently before me in the hope that itwill be of assistance to the parties in their consideration of the remaining SampleComplaints.
THE INDIVIDUAL FILES
H22 – SUCCEEDS
19. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Gladstone Brookes to act ontheir behalf and expressly accepting the latter’s terms and conditions, although these do notthemselves appear in the papers.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
20. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Topman/Topshop store card on 20 July 1987.So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The customer could not remember how the policy was sold;
(b) The sale was not advised;
(c) The customer was employed at the time but had been working for only 6 months andwas not sure whether they were entitled to sick pay or redundancy benefits;
(d) No other means were identified from which repayments could be covered;
(e) “I am unaware of the presence of payment protection insurance on my agreement,therefore these statements apply if PPI has been added.” (In fact no statements wereset out.);
(f) “I am unaware if PPI was added to my agreement”;
(g) The customer had not identified anything which made them believe that they may havehad PPI.

21. Gladstone Brookes’ covering letter states “Our client maintains that they purchased a[policy] which they would not have purchased if they had been informed of the relevantfacts.”
22. During the course of the hearing, junior counsel for Santander, Mr Taylor, was very criticalof this complaint.  He submitted that the customer clearly could not recollect the sale at all.He also pointed out that the wording set out in sub-paragraphs 20(e) and (f) above appearedin more or less identical terms in a number of other complaints and was difficult to interpret,given the reference to “statements” which were then nowhere to be found.  In hissubmission, the customer was saying only that they were unaware at the date of the

22 I have excluded file H17, since this seemed to be largely missing, both in hard and electronic copy.
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complaint whether or not they had PPI, rather than that they were unaware they were beingoffered it at the time.
23. In file H765 – another Gladstone Brookes claim – similar wording appeared in the initialPPIQ but the complaint was subsequently amplified in a FOS questionnaire, presumablyafter the initial complaint had been rejected and further enquiries had been made.  In thosecircumstances, Mr Taylor is likely to be correct that the PPIQ indicates only that thecustomer was unsure whether they had ever had PPI.  Nonetheless, a lack of recollection isentirely consistent with nothing having been said about PPI at all which, given the date ofthe transaction and the fact that it would have been an opt-out sale, is entirely plausible.Moreover, I am prepared to infer that the customer signed terms and conditions withGladstone Brookes which warranted the accuracy of what was contained in the complaint,and that this can be taken to include Gladstone Brookes’s covering letter sent as agent forthe customer.
24. On that basis, there is a prima facie credible assertion that the customer was not told thatPPI was being added to the account at all and/or was not given a proper explanation of whatit entailed.  The default presumptions apply and this is accordingly at worst a No Consentcase and at best an Inadequate Explanation case.
25. In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, causation is also established on the basis ofGladstone Brookes’s covering letter.
H52 – SUCCEEDS
26. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Burton Gold Card on 2 December 1988.
27. No claims management company appears to have been involved and there is no copy of thePPIQ in the papers.  However, the complaint has been recorded by Santander on its ownform and, so far as material, asserts that:

(a) The policy was sold in-store and the customer was offered advice by a shop assistantwho offered a 20% promotional discount if the customer took out a store card.  Thecustomer was told that the monthly payment would include an amount for PPI and thatthe policy would have to be taken out otherwise the application for the store card wouldnot be accepted;
(b) The store card application had to be signed on the day in-store in order to qualify forthe discount;
(c) The assistant had asked about the customer’s employment status and said that the policywould cover repayments if they were sick or unemployed.  No enquiry was made as towhether the customer had other means to satisfy repayments.  The customer was in factemployed and entitled to 6-12 months’ sick pay;
(d) No other information was given concerning terms and conditions or exclusions.
(e) The application form did not contain any details of the insurance.  The customer wasnot given a copy and did not have any opportunity to consider whether it wasappropriate for them;
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(f) The shop assistant concentrated on selling the benefits of the store card and not thedetails of the policy.
28. The complaint is coherent and plausible.  I have not made a finding that there was anysystemic misrepresentation about the need for PPI, although there is evidence that it didoccur.  Nonetheless, I can see no reason not to accept the customer’s allegation in thisrespect.  In any event, given the lack of reference to any limitations or exclusions, the caseis clearly one of Inadequate Explanation and default presumptions (b) and (c) apply in thatcontext.  Given that the customer was entitled to at least 6 months’ sick pay, causation canbe inferred.
H63 – FAILS
29. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising The Claims Guys to act ontheir behalf and expressly accepting the latter’s terms and conditions.  These contained anundertaking by the customer that any information provided was true, accurate andcompleted to the best of their knowledge.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
30. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 27 April 1989.  Thiswas an opt-out sale and Box 9 on page 1 of the credit application form stated as follows:

“9.  FOR YOUR PROTECTION
Payment Protection Plan is an important feature of your Debenhams Personal accountcard.  It provides Sickness, Accident and Compulsory Redundancy Cover (or additionalAccident Cover for the self-employed.)  Also included is Life Cover for you and yourspouse.
Whilst optional we feel it provides essential protection for our cardholders at a cost ofonly 66p per £100 of your statement amount per month.  Cover has been arrangedcompletely free for the first 28 days.  Full details will be sent with your card along with aclaim form for your convenience.
If you do not wish to be protected, simply return by Freepost the cancellation slip whichwill be sent to you with your new card.  You will incur no cost.  (Please see description onpage 2).

31. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:
(a) The policy was sold during a telephone conversation;
(b) The customer could not recall whether advice was given;
(c) The customer was retired at the time;
(d) No other means were identified from which repayments could be covered;
(e) The customer could not remember what was said when the policy was sold but felt itwas mis-sold.

32. In my judgment, this is a case which falls into the category identified in paragraph 8(a)above and fails to establish even a prima facie case.  If the complainant had positivelyasserted that the addition of PPI and the option to cancel were not expressly drawn to their
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attention at any stage, that would have been sufficient for default presumption (a) to apply.As it is, the application form did mention PPI and it is at least possible that the customerread and understood it at the time.  However, since they cannot now remember anything atall about the sale - for example whether they did or did not read the application form, orwhether anything was or was not said - it is impossible even on the most benevolent readingto identify any actual complaint.  This claim accordingly fails.
H96 – SUCCEEDS
33. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Financial Justice to act ontheir behalf.  The Letter of Authority specifically recorded that there was a binding contractwith Financial Justice, but there was no specific reference to terms and conditions.  ThePPIQ was also signed and dated.
34. Cover was sold as part of a joint application for a Russell & Bromley store card on 9 May1992.
35. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The sale was not advised;
(c) Both cardholders were directors of their own company and entitled to 6-12 months’sick pay and redundancy benefits;
(d) They had savings which could have been used to cover repayments;
(e) The principal cardholder had had an operation on their neck in 1989 which requiredhospitalisation and left them with mobility issues;
(f) They had been invited by store staff to apply for a store card in order to receive adiscount on their purchases.  They filled in the application form but PPI was notmentioned on the form or referred to at any stage;
(g) They would never have accepted PPI if they had known about it, as they did not needit.

36. There are some inconsistencies in this evidence.  First, the customers have misrememberedthe approximate date on which the transaction took place by some years.  However, on anyview it was a long time before the PPIQ was completed and I do not regard this as a seriousdefect.  Secondly, although there is no legible copy of the credit agreement in the papers, Iwas shown examples of others that were in use for the same retailer at the same time.  It isclear from this that the application form did in fact mention PPI in a box on the front pagein broadly similar terms to those set out in paragraph 30 above.  However, instead of beingtold to return a cancellation slip if they did not want the policy, the customer was invitedto tick a box to opt out of cover.  The box in this case was not ticked.
37. Nonetheless, the customer is clear that nothing was expressly stated about PPI during thesales process and this is consistent with what I have found to be GECB’s general practice.The fact that the customer could not remember seeing anything about PPI on the form onlyserves to confirm the fact that customers typically did not read the form in any detail -
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whether through choice or because they were given no opportunity or time to do so.  Thisemphasises why it was important for the opt-out to be drawn specifically to their attention.Default presumption (a) applies and this is therefore a No Consent case.
38. It would also qualify as an Inadequate Explanation case since the customers were not toldabout the existence of exclusions and limitations which might well have been relevant tothem in relation to both their employment status and pre-existing medical conditions.  AsMr Campbell pointed out, under the applicable policy wording they may not have beencovered if their company had stopped trading without becoming insolvent.  Defaultpresumptions (b) and (c) apply in this respect as well.
39. Causation is established, the customers having clearly stated that they would not have takenthe policy if they had known about it.
H101 – SUCCEEDS
40. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Crystal Legal Services Ltdto act on their behalf.  The Letter of Authority does not refer specifically to any terms orconditions.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
41. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 2 October 1992.The credit application form is not on file.
42. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The customer was employed at the time as a secretary and was entitled to 6-12 months’sick pay and redundancy benefits;
(c) The customer also had recourse to other means from friends and family to coverrepayments;
(d) The customer had been approached by a member of the store staff to take out a storecard.  Nothing was said about PPI being added to the account and the customer had noidea that they had been paying for it or that it was optional;
(e) If the customer had been aware of the cost of cover, its exclusions/limitation or the factthat it was optional, they would not have taken it as it would have been unnecessarygiven their statutory entitlements and recourse to other means.

43. This was an opt-out sale where it is claimed that nothing was said about the policy at alland the customer was not told that the cover was optional.  It is therefore a No Consent casewhich, so far as necessary would also fall into the Inadequate Explanation category.Causation is sufficiently established.
H150 – SUCCEEDS
44. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising We Fight Any Claims(“WFAC”) to act on their behalf.  The Letter of Authority does not on its face refer to anyterms and conditions.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
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45. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Burtons store card on 2 September 1995.  Thecredit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been ticked.
46. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person and the customer filled out an application form;
(b) The sale was advised in the sense that the customer was recommended to take thepolicy;
(c) The customer was self-employed and so had no statutory entitlement to benefits but hadsavings equivalent to 3-6 months’ earnings;
(d) The customer had broken their collar bone in about 1967;
(e) The cover had been sold while the customer was filling out the credit application formand no explanation was given about any exclusions or limitations.  No printedinformation or paperwork was received following the sale;
(f) The customer would not have taken the policy if it had been properly explained as theydid not regard it as good value for money given their savings and the likely effect oftheir age on the availability of cover.

47. On the basis of these assertions, default presumptions (b) and (c) apply and this is anInadequate Explanation case.  Causation is also established.
H159 – SUCCEEDS SUBJECT TO CAUSATION BEING ESTABLISHED
48. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 11 December 1995.The credit agreement form had a tick box on the front page to opt in to PPI which had beenticked.  A manuscript X had been inserted next to other boxes on the form to indicate wherethe customer was required to complete them, but not next to this one.
49. No claims management company appears to have been involved and the PPIQ was onSantander’s own form.  It is signed and, so far as material, asserts that:

(a) The customer could not remember how the sale took place or whether it was advised;
(b) The customer took out a store card and was not aware of anything about PPI or thatthey were paying for it;
(c) The customer did not have recourse to other means to cover repayments;
(d) The customer was employed at the date of sale but was now retired;
(e) The customer was not entitled to sick pay or redundancy benefits.

50. While I have accepted that there is evidence that some sales staff ticked opt-in boxeswithout the customer’s knowledge, I have not made any finding that this was a systemicproblem.  Accordingly, this is not a No Consent case.  However, the customer asserts thatthey were not made aware that they were purchasing PPI and were not told anything aboutit.  Necessarily, therefore, they were not told it was optional.  This is sufficient to attract
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default presumptions (b) and (c) and it therefore falls into the Inadequate Explanationcategory.
51. Nothing is said about causation and whether it can be inferred depends on whether areasonable person in the customer’s declared circumstances would have taken the cover.This will require consideration of the applicable policy wording.  Since the customer wasapparently not entitled to statutory benefits and had no recourse to other means, areasonable customer in their position might have elected to take the cover.
H164 – SUCCEEDS
52. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Gladstone Brookes to act ontheir behalf and expressly accepting the latter’s terms and conditions, although these do notthemselves appear in the papers.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
53. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 22 July 1995.  Thecredit application form had a box to decline PPI which had been ticked.
54. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The customer could not remember how the policy was sold to them;
(b) The sale was not advised;
(c) The customer was employed at the time and entitled to 6-12 months’ sick pay andredundancy benefits;
(d) The customer had recourse to other means from their partner’s income to coverrepayments;
(e) The customer was unaware the PPI was being added to the agreement and did notrequire cover as they were entitled to full sick pay benefits.

55. Gladstone Brookes’ covering letter further states “Our client maintains that they purchaseda [policy] which they would not have purchased if they had been informed of the relevantfacts.”
56. Given that the customer had expressly ticked the box to opt out of cover, it should neverhave been added in the first place.  This is a clear case of No Consent, although it wouldalso qualify as an Inadequate Explanation case as well in the absence of any mention of PPIat the point of sale.
57. Causation is sufficiently established on the basis that the customer states that they did notrequire cover and indeed expressly declined it on the face of the application form.
H170 – SUCCEEDS
58. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising We Fight Any Claims(“WFAC”) to act on their behalf.  The Letter of Authority does not on its face refer to anyterms and conditions.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
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59. Cover was sold as part of a joint application for a Debenhams store card on 29 April 1996.The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been ticked and initialledby the customer.
60. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person.  Credit limits and repayments were discussed butthere was no explanation of exclusions or limitations on cover;
(b) Both cardholders were employed at the time and entitled to 12 months’ sick pay andredundancy benefits as well as death in service benefit;
(c) They did not have other means to satisfy repayments but did not really need the cover;
(d) One customer had had a shoulder replacement some four years previously followingwhich they were off work for six months;
(e) The customers did not understand the true cost of cover or that many common reasonsfor needing to take time off work were excluded;
(f) They would not have bought the cover if a proper explanation of the cost, exclusionsand limitations had been given; it was simply included as part of the package.

61. On the basis of these assertions, default presumptions (b) and (c) apply and this is anInadequate Explanation case.  Causation is also established.
H174 – SUCCEEDS
62. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Find Your PPI to act on theirbehalf and expressly accepting their terms and conditions, although these do not themselvesappear in the papers.  The PPIQ was also signed.
63. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 8 June 1996.  Thecredit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been ticked.  This was a BudgetAccount.
64. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The customer could not remember how the policy was sold or whether the sale wasadvised;
(b) The customer was employed at the time and entitled to at least 12 months’ sick pay andredundancy benefits;
(c) The customer also had recourse to other means from their partner’s income to coverrepayments;
(d) The customer could not recall being given any information about the policy beforetaking it out, or any explanation of the cost, benefits, terms or conditions;
(e) The customer was not given the option to decline the insurance and would not havetaken it if given the choice as they did not think it was necessary.
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65. On the basis of these assertions, as with file H159 above, default presumptions (b) and (c)apply and this is an Inadequate Explanation case.  Causation is also established.
H213 – SUCCEEDS
66. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Professional ReclaimServices to act on their behalf and expressly accepting their terms and conditions, althoughthese do not themselves appear in the papers.  The PPIQ was also signed.
67. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Powerhouse store card on 16 April 1997.  Thecredit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been ticked digitally.
68. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The sale was not advised;
(c) The customer was not working at the time but had £200 savings to cover repayments;23

(d) The customer had been offered a discount if they took out a store card.  Nothing wassaid about PPI or about any terms and conditions which would apply;
(e) The customer would never have requested PPI and cover was added without theirpermission.

69. Despite the opt-in box having been ticked, it is clear that this was done digitally by the salesassistant and the customer has asserted that it was done without their permission.  This isnot implausible and in the absence of contrary evidence, the assertion can be accepted,making this a No Consent case.  It would in any event attract application of defaultpresumptions (b) and (c) so as to fall into the Inadequate Explanation category.  Causationis also sufficiently established.
H219 – FAILS
70. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising The Claims Guys to act ontheir behalf and expressly accepting the latter’s terms and conditions, which contained anundertaking by the customer as set out in paragraph 29 above.  The PPIQ itself was notsigned.
71. The customer applied for a Dorothy Perkins store card on 19 July 1995.  The creditapplication form had a box to opt out of PPI which had been ticked.  However, it appearsthat PPI was added to the account some two years later on 19 May 1997 and then cancelledagain on 21 July 1997.
72. So far as material, the Letter of Authority asserts that:

23 The customer has misremembered the date of the transaction which was in fact some 9 years earlier at a timewhen they were still working and entitled to statutory benefits.
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(a) The customer cannot recall taking out PPI or being told that their credit application wasmore likely to be accepted if they did.  Nor can they recall whether the cost wasexplained or whether they were pressurised into taking it;
(b) The customer was employed in the public sector at the time and entitled to sick pay andredundancy benefits.  They also had recourse to other means from family and friendsto cover repayments.
The PPIQ contains no additional information.

73. The customer expressly declined PPI when first taking out the store card in 1995.  However,cover was subsequently added two years later and then cancelled within months.  While thecustomer could not recall the circumstances in which PPI came to be added to the account,it is not implausible that it was sold during a telemarketing campaign or during a telephonecall after they got into difficulties with repayments (as appears to have been the case).Alternatively, it could be that cover was added by GECB in error and without thecustomer’s knowledge and consent.  The latter would be consistent with their complete lackof recollection of anything to do with PPI and their initial refusal of cover.
74. Whatever the reason, however, the customer cannot recall what, if anything, was either saidor not said by GECB, and there is accordingly no actual complaint.  This is thereforeanother claim which cannot succeed.
75. It may be that further interrogation of GECB’s internal records will cast further light onthis.  Meanwhile, it is not possible to make any findings one way or the other.
H231 – SUCCEEDS
76. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Wilson Tarquin to act ontheir behalf.  There was no express reference to any terms or conditions.  The PPIQ itselfwas not signed.
77. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 12 April 1997.  Thecredit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had not been ticked.
78. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The customer was employed at the time and entitled to at least 12 months sick pay andredundancy benefits;
(c) The customer had pre-existing medical conditions, of which asthma was the mostsignificant;
(d) There was no explanation of exclusions or limitations on cover and no paperwork aboutthe PPI policy was provided either at the point of sale or later;
(e) The customer did not have other means to satisfy repayments but did not need the covergiven their statutory entitlements;
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(f) The customer did not understand the true cost of cover or that many common reasonsfor needing to take time off work were excluded;
(g) They would not have bought the cover if a proper explanation of the cost, exclusionsand limitations had been given; it was simply included as part of the package.

79. The wording of the complaint set out in the PPIQ is strikingly similar to that in file H170submitted by WFAC.  Possibly WFAC and Wilson Tarquin were associated companies orpossibly there was a degree of co-operation and co-ordination between different claimsmanagement companies.  Either way, as I have already indicated, it is not the form of thewording which is important so much as the substance of what is conveyed.
80. In this case, there is no explicit indication that the customer ever opted in to cover.  It istherefore a No Consent case.  It would in any event also attract application of defaultpresumptions (b) and (c) so as to fall into the Inadequate Explanation category.  Causationis sufficiently established.
H232 – SUCCEEDS
81. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising YourMoneyClaim to act ontheir behalf and declaring that the information supplied was accurate and true to the best oftheir knowledge and recollection.   The PPIQ was also signed.
82. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Dorothy Perkins store card on 19 July 1997.The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been crossed through.
83. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The sale was advised;
(c) The customer was employed in the public sector and entitled to 6-12 months’ sick payand redundancy benefits;
(d) The customer suffered from asthma;
(e) The customer did not ask for PPI and was not told it was optional or that they couldpurchase it elsewhere;
(f) The insurance was added without their knowledge;
(g) The full cost was not explained.

84. In this case, the option to take PPI had been struck through, clearly indicating that thecustomer did not want cover.  It is therefore a No Consent case.  (In the circumstances, thereference to an advised sale in the PPIQ is likely to have referred to the credit application.)Default presumptions (b) and (c) would in any event apply so as to bring this into theInadequate Explanation category.
85. Since the customer had at least 6 months’ statutory sick pay from which to coverrepayments and also a pre-existing medical condition which might have restricted cover, it
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can be inferred that they would not have accepted the policy if a proper explanation hadbeen given.  Causation is therefore sufficiently established.
H303 – SUCCEEDS
86. Cover was sold as part of an application for a River Island Card on 25 March 1999.  Thecredit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been signed by the customer.
87. No claims management company appears to have been involved and the PPIQ was onSantander’s own form and signed.  So far as material, it asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The customer was self-employed at the time and had life insurance and critical illnesscover from which repayments could have been met;
(c) The customer filled out a form and ticked boxes as shown by the store assistant.Nothing was explained and no documents were provided.

88. An internal Santander note records that the customer complained on the telephone that theyhad not been aware they had been offered insurance.
89. The customer accepts that they signed to opt-in to PPI.  This is accordingly not a NoConsent case.  However, on the basis of the assertion that they signed as directed by thestore assistant without any explanation of the cover being given at all, this case falls intothe Inadequate Explanation category.
90. Given the existence of adequate other means to cover repayments, it can be inferred that areasonable person would not have taken the policy if given a proper explanation of the cost,benefits and exclusions, particularly those relating to self-employment.  Causation istherefore established.
H325 – SUCCEEDS
91. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Financial Justice to act ontheir behalf.  The Letter of Authority specifically recorded that there was a binding contractwith Financial Justice, but there was no specific reference to terms and conditions.  ThePPIQ was also signed and dated.
92. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Principles store card on 30 July 1999.  Thecredit application form had been signed by the customer to opt in to Account Cover.  Thecustomer had also ticked to say that they were a student living with their parents.
93. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person in 2006;
(b) The sale was not advised;
(c) The customer had been employed part time from 1997-1999 and was at university from1999-2001, being thereafter employed full time with entitlement to sick pay and
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redundancy benefits.  They also had recourse to other means from family and friendsto cover repayments;
(d) The customer was offered a store card on the basis that they could save money with it.They do not recall anything being said about an additional charge for insurance and nocorrespondence was received confirming that such a charge had been incurred;
(e) The customer would not have taken the insurance if they had known there would be anextra charge as it would have negated the benefit of any discounts.

94. The customer has clearly misremembered the date on which the store card was first sold,although I do not regard that as critical.  Whatever their employment status later, they wereclearly a student at the date of the sale and if that made them altogether ineligible for coverthen this is an Ineligibility case.  In any event, the customer asserts that they were notproperly informed about the cost of the insurance or given any explanation as to terms andconditions or benefits and exclusions/limitations.  Default presumptions (b) and (c) applyand this is also an Inadequate Explanation case.  Causation is sufficiently established.
H341 – SUCCEEDS
95. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Reclaim PPI to act on theirbehalf and declaring that the information supplied was accurate to the best of theirknowledge.   The PPIQ was also signed and dated.
96. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Topshop/Topman store card on 8 August1998.  The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been crossedthrough.  The customer had also ticked to indicate that they were a student living with theirparents.  This was a Budget Account.
97. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The customer could not remember how the policy was sold or whether the sale wasadvised;
(b) The customer was a student and had no other means of covering repayments.

98. As the customer seems to have been altogether ineligible for the policy, it falls into theIneligibility category.  In any event, they had declined cover by striking through the relevantbox, in which case it is also a No Consent case.  Either way, causation is established withoutmore.
H385 – FAILS
99. The customer authorised The Claims Guys to act on their behalf although there is no signedLetter of Authority in the papers.  It seems likely, however, that there was an expressagreement on The Claims Guys’ usual terms and conditions which contained the sameundertaking as previously referred to.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
100. The customer had a number of store cards with Burtons, Dorothy Perkins and House ofFraser.  The particular store card in issue in this file is the Burtons card, for which thecustomer applied on 23 November 2000.  The credit application form had a box to opt into PPI which had been signed.
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101. The PPIQ is singularly uninformative and merely discloses that the customer wasemployed at the date of the application and entitled to sick pay and redundancy benefits.They also had recourse to other means from friends and family to cover repayments.  Theyhad no pre-existing medical conditions of relevance.
102. No positive complaint is made of any acts or omissions by GECB.  No defaultpresumption can therefore apply and the claim fails to establish even a prima facie case.
H487 – SUCCEEDS

103. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising We Fight Any Claims(“WFAC”) to act on their behalf.  The Letter of Authority does not on its face refer to anyterms and conditions.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
104. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Currys store card on 24 September 2001.The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been signed by thecustomer.
105. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person and the customer filled in an application form;
(b) The customer was employed as a carer at the time and was entitled to at least 12 months’sick pay and redundancy benefits;
(c) The customer had no other means to cover repayments;
(d) The customer had suffered from arthritis and back ache but had not previously had totake any time off work as a result;
(e) The customer did not require cover given her statutory benefits;
(f) No explanation was given as to the real cost of the policy or any terms and conditionsor limitations/exclusions.  The customer did not understand that many of the commonreasons for taking time off work were not covered;
(g) The customer would not have wanted the policy if such an explanation had been given;it was simply included as part of the package.

106. On the basis of these assertions, default presumptions (b) and (c) apply and this is anInadequate Explanation case.  Causation is also established.
H507 – SUCCEEDS
107. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Allay Claims Ltd to act ontheir behalf and agreeing to the latter’s terms and conditions although these do no appearin the papers.  The PPIQ itself was not signed.
108. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Debenhams store card on 21 February1994.  The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been ticked andinitialled by the customer.
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109. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:
(a) The transaction took place in person but the customer was not aware that they had beensold PPI or that it was being attached to their account;
(b) The customer was not advised to take out insurance;
(c) The customer was employed at the time and was entitled to at least 12 months’ sickpay;
(d) The customer had no other means of covering repayments.

110. Allay’s covering letter further states that the customer was not informed that cover wasoptional or that alternative products were available elsewhere.  No explanation was givenas to any terms and conditions, limitations/exclusions or cancellation rights.  The true costof the cover was not made clear.  The customer would not have taken PPI at all if a sufficientexplanation had been given.
111. On the basis of these assertions, the customer consciously ticked the box to elect for coverbut had no proper understanding of what they were signing or what PPI involved.  This istherefore an Inadequate Explanation case and default presumptions (b) and (c) apply.Causation is established on the basis of what is stated in the covering letter.  It can also beinferred from the customer’s entitlement to at least 12 months’ sick pay.
H542 – SUCCEEDS
112. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising The Claims Guys to act ontheir behalf and expressly accepting their terms and conditions, including an undertakingthat any information supplied was true and accurate to the best of their knowledge.  ThePPIQ itself was not signed.
113. The customer applied for a Frasercard store card on 2 March 2002.  The credit applicationform had a box to opt in to PPI which had been ticked.  However, it appears that cover wasthen cancelled on 24 April 2002.
114. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) Cover was sold on the phone and the sale was advised;
(b) The customer was employed at the time and was entitled to 3-6 months’ full sick payand redundancy benefits;
(c) The customer was not told what PPI was; just that they had to have it and it was best todo so because things would happen if they did not;
(d) The customer could not recall any mention of terms and conditions, only the monthlycost, and did not believe they were aware that it was optional;
(e) The customer had recourse to other means to cover repayments.

115. The insurance was cancelled only weeks after it was first taken out.  This is inconsistentwith the customer having consciously elected to purchase cover in the light of a proper
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explanation of its costs and benefits.  As with H52 above, I can see no reason not to acceptthe customer’s allegation that they were told they had to have the cover.  In any event, giventhe lack of reference to any terms and conditions or limitations/exclusions, the case isclearly one of Inadequate Explanation and default presumptions (b) and (c) apply in thatcontext.
116. The fact that cover was cancelled within two months also supports the inference that thecustomer would not have taken the cover at all if they had been given a proper explanationat the outset.  Causation is accordingly established.
H558 – SUCCEEDS
117.  A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising WFAC to act on theirbehalf.  The Letter of Authority does not on its face refer to any terms and conditions.  ThePPIQ itself was not signed.
118. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Evans Gold Service store card on 24September 2001.  The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had beensigned by the customer.
119. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person and the customer filled in an application form;
(b) The sale was not advised;
(c) The customer was not working at the time but was receiving Incapacity Benefit.  Theywere partially sighted and partially deaf;
(d) PPI was not discussed at all and there was no explanation of the true cost or of anyexclusions/limitations;
(e) The customer did not have any interest in PPI and would not have taken the policy if aproper explanation had been given; it was simply included in the package.

120. Following an initial rejection of the complaint by Santander, it was referred to the FOSbut no additional information was supplied at that time.  It does not appear that the customerwas completely ineligible for cover but on the basis that they were not given anyexplanation of the key policy terms and conditions or exclusions/limitations, defaultpresumptions (b) and (c) apply and  this is an Inadequate Explanation case.  Cover wouldnot have been taken if a proper explanation had been given and causation is established.
H606 – FAILS

121. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising The Claims Guys to act ontheir behalf and expressly accepting their terms and conditions, including an undertakingthat any information supplied was true and accurate to the best of their knowledge.  ThePPIQ itself was not signed.
122. The customer applied for a BHS Gold Account card on 30 September 2002.  The creditapplication form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been signed.  The policy wascancelled after a few weeks.



MRS JUSTICE DIASApproved Judgment Axa France IARD SA v Santander Cards UK Ltd

116

123. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:
(a) The customer cannot remember how the policy was sold or whether the sale wasadvised;
(b) The customer was 66 and retired at the time;
(c) The customer cannot remember what was said or why they were unhappy with theinsurance.

124. Despite their age and employment status, the customer was eligible for some elements ofcover.  However, since they signed to accept PPI but make no positive allegation aboutanything that was either said or not said by GECB at the point of sale, the complaint failsto disclose even a prima facie case.
H702 – SUCCEEDS
125.  A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising WFAC to act on theirbehalf.  The Letter of Authority does not on its face refer to any terms and conditions.  ThePPIQ itself was not signed.
126. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Dorothy Perkins store card on 7 January2004.  The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been signed by thecustomer.
127. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person;
(b) The customer was 68 and not working at the time and so had no entitlement to statutorybenefits;
(c) The customer had no other means of covering repayments;
(d) The customer had previously suffered from kidney stones and a benign tumour whichrequired biennial reviews;
(e) The customer was not given any paperwork or printed information about the policyafter the sale and there was no explanation of the terms and conditions or anyexclusions/limitation;
(f) The true cost of the policy was not explained;
(g) The customer would not have wanted the policy if a proper explanation had been given;it was simply included as part of the package.

128. On the basis of these assertions, default presumptions (b) and (c) apply and this is anInadequate Explanation case.  Causation is established.
H765 – SUCCEEDS
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129.  A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Gladstone Brookes to acton their behalf and expressly accepting the latter’s terms and conditions, although these donot themselves appear in the papers.  There is both a PPIQ and a separate FOSquestionnaire, both of which were signed.
130. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Miss Selfridge store card on 26 November2004.  The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been signed by thecustomer.
131. So far as material, the PPIQ asserts that:

(a) The transaction took place in person and the customer filled out an application form;
(b) The customer was employed as a carer at the time and was entitled to 13 weeks’ fullsick pay, reducing thereafter and also had recourse other means from their partner tocover repayments;
(c) The customer suffered from Type 1 diabetes which had previously caused them to taketime off work;
(d) PPI was not required, given the customer’s entitlement to sick pay at the time.

132. Gladstone Brookes’ covering letter states “Our client maintains that they purchased a[policy] which they would not have purchased if they had been informed of the relevantfacts.”
133. The FOS questionnaire further states that:

(a) The customer was never advised about PPI and never knew they were being chargedfor it;
(b) If they had been given the option, they would not have take the cover because they wereunemployed and would not have been able to afford the additional repayments.

134. There is plainly a tension here between the two questionnaires, one of which states thatthe customer did not need the cover because they were employed and could cover therepayments while the other states that they would not have wanted the cover because theywere unemployed and could not afford the additional charges.  A further oddity is thatcorrespondence from the FOS refers to the customer suffering from asthma, rather thandiabetes although this may be a simple error, since the FOS questionnaire clearly refers todiabetes.
135. Either way, however, default presumptions (b) and (c) apply since the customer was nottold that they were being sold PPI or given a proper explanation of the policy terms andconditions or exclusions/limitations.  The customer had a potentially significant pre-existing medical condition and the existence of exclusions and limitations would thereforehave been particularly relevant.   This is therefore an Inadequate Explanation case.  Whetherbecause the customer did not need the policy or did not want the policy, it seems clear thatthey would not have taken it if a proper explanation had been given and causation can beregarded as established.
H772 – PUTATIVE FAIL SUBJECT TO FURTHER INVESTIGATION
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136. A Letter of Authority was signed by the customer authorising Allay Claims Ltd to act ontheir behalf and agreeing to the latter’s terms and conditions although these do not appearin the papers.
137. Cover was sold as part of an application for a Dorothy Perkins store card on 8 January2005.  The credit application form had a box to opt in to PPI which had been signed by thecustomer.
138. However, there is no PPIQ in the file and thus no basis on which any complaint can beassessed.  I do not know whether this is the sum total of information available.  If so, theclaim must fail.
THE POINTS OF PRINCIPLEPoints of General Application1. If the customer alleged in their complaint that PPI was not drawn to their attentionand/or not explained to them, and/or that they were advised to take out the PPI policy,and/or that the retailer misrepresented the policy, what further evidence (if any) isrequired to prove such allegations on a balance of probabilities?See paragraphs 68 of the Appendix above.  None, if and to the extent that any of thedefault presumptions applies.  Otherwise to be assessed on the basis of the availableevidence, drawing such inferences as are appropriate.2. Insofar as GECB/the retailers provided to customers, at the point of sale in store, aSummary of Cover in respect of the PPI policy:2.1. When and how was the Summary of Cover typically provided (if at all)?See paragraphs 184-185 of the judgment.  The Summary of Cover was typicallynot provided  prior to the conclusion of the sale.2.2. To the extent there was a typical practice as regards provision of the Summary ofCover, is it to be assumed that the Summary of Cover was so provided in any casewhere the customer did not allege the contrary in their complaint?Yes.  See paragraphs 6-8 of the Appendix above.2.3. If the customer alleged in their complaint that they were not provided with theSummary of Cover at the point of sale, what further evidence (if any) is requiredto prove that allegation on a balance of probabilities?None.  See paragraphs 6-8 of the Appendix above.3. Insofar as (i) GECB generally provided to customers, by post following the sale, aCertificate of Insurance setting out the terms of the PPI policy, and (ii) a customer inmaking their complaint alleged that the Certificate was not received, what furtherevidence (if any) is required to prove the customer’s allegation on a balance ofprobabilities?Not considered.  The point does not arise in the light of the finding that there was anobligation to provide a sufficient explanation of the cover prior to conclusion of thesale: see paragraph 132 of the judgment.4. Insofar as (i) GECB generally sent to customers monthly statements setting out(where applicable) the PPI premium charged, and (ii) a customer in making theircomplaint alleged that such statements were not received, what further evidence (ifany) is required to prove the customer’s allegation on a balance of probabilities?Not considered.  The point does not arise in the light of the finding that there was anobligation to provide a sufficient explanation of the cover prior to conclusion of thesale: see paragraph 132 of the judgment.
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5.  In circumstances where a complaint has been auto-upheld (for example, as aCategory B “opt-out” sale, or a Category J Budget Account, or because the redressamount would be less than £20/£40), such that the complaint was not investigated,what weight (if any) is to be given to grounds or arguments in the complaint whichwere not investigated or considered by a complaint handler?See paragraph 8(d) of the Appendix above.  The grounds or arguments in thecomplaint should be considered de novo, irrespective of the basis on which thecomplaint was upheld or rejected as the case may be.
Category B (“opt-out” PPI sales)6. Where PPI was sold to a customer on the basis that it would be added to the accountunless he/she opted out, how and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to drawthis to the customer’s attention?See paragraph 132(a) of the judgment.  The customer should have been informedexplicitly of the option to decline cover.7. Where PPI was sold to a customer on the basis that it would be added to the accountunless the customer opted out, and the customer did not opt out, did that give rise (andif so, in what circumstances) to: (i) liability in negligence on the part of GECB to (a)FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an “unfair relationship” between GECBand the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;24 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.8. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-5 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-5 above are relevant in principle.
Categories D (“customer did not consent to taking out PPI”) and D1 (“customer did notprovide their informed consent to take out PPI”)9.  What steps (if any) were GECB/retailers required to take to ensure that the customerconsented to the taking out of PPI?See paragraph 132(a) of the judgment.  The customer should have been informedexplicitly of the option to decline cover (opt-out sales) or their express consentobtained (opt-in sales).10. In cases where the consumer credit agreement signed by the customer contains anindication (such as by tick or signature) that the customer wished to take out PPI, butthe customer alleged in their complaint that they did not consent, what evidence isrequired to prove that allegation on a balance of probabilities?See paragraphs 68 of the Appendix above.  None, if and to the extent that any of thedefault presumptions applies.  Otherwise to be assessed on the basis of the availableevidence, drawing such inferences as are appropriate.11. In cases where the customer alleged in their complaint that the retailer represented tothem that PPI was obligatory in order to take out a store card (or made a similar
24 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
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representation, such as that PPI was necessary to obtain a product discount), whatevidence is required to prove that allegation on a balance of probabilities?See paragraphs 68 of the Appendix above.  None, if and to the extent that any of thedefault presumptions applies.  Otherwise to be assessed on the basis of the availableevidence, drawing such inferences as are appropriate.12. If PPI was sold to a customer in the absence of consent or having been told that thePPI was obligatory, did that give rise (and if so, in what circumstances) to: (i) liabilityin negligence on the part of GECB to (a) FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii)an “unfair relationship” between GECB and the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;25 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.13. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-5 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-5 above are relevant in principle.
Category E (customer not “adequately informed of the exclusions, costs and limitationsof PPI cover”)14.  How and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to provide customers withinformation about the “exclusions, costs and limitations of PPI cover” at the point ofsale? If so, what information was required to be provided and how?See paragraphs 132(e)-(g) of the judgment.  The key benefits of the cover, includingits nature and cost, should have been explained in outline.  There should also havebeen reference to the existence of exclusions and restrictions relating to matters suchas age, employment status and pre-existing medical conditions and the fact that thesewere set out in the Summary.  The customer should have been given an opportunity toread the Summary before entering into the contract.15. If PPI was sold to a customer who was not given information about the “exclusions,costs and limitations of PPI cover” at the point of sale, did that give rise (and if so, inwhat circumstances) to: (i) liability in negligence on the part of GECB to (a)FICL/FACL and/or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an “unfair relationship” betweenGECB and the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;26 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.16. What is the relevance in this regard of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above are relevant in principle.17. As regards any such putative liability of GECB to customers, what evidence isrequired to prove that any breach of duty caused loss and damage to such customers?Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers.
25 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
26 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
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18. If a customer shown to fall within Category E took out a PPI policy:18.1. Did GECB make an “implied representation” that the PPI “conferred ameaningful benefit on the customer”?18.2. In what circumstances (if any) did such representation induce the customer totake out the policy, and what evidence is required to establish this?18.3. In what circumstances (if any) was the representation false?
See paragraphs 351-354 of the judgment.  All these matters would need to beestablished on a balance of probabilities on the facts of each individual case.

Category F (age-related ineligibility)19.  How and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to inform the customer at thepoint of sale that, if he/she was under 18 or over 65, this would render them ineligiblefor all or part of the cover under the policy?See paragraphs 132(b), (f) and (g) of the judgment.  It should have been ascertainedthat the customer was eligible for at least some part of the cover.  They should alsohave been informed that there were exclusions and restrictions relating to matterssuch as age which were set out in the Summary, and given an opportunity to read theSummary.20. Where PPI was sold to a customer who was under 18 or over 65, did that give rise(and if so, in what circumstances) to: (i) liability in negligence on the part of GECB to(a) FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an “unfair relationship” betweenGECB and the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;27 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.21. How (if at all) does the answer to the question above differ if the customer was (i)over 65 and (ii) eligible for part (but not all) of the cover under the policy until aspecified higher age?See the answer to 19 above.22. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above are relevant in principle.23. What evidence is required to establish on a balance of probabilities that a customerwas either under 18 or over 65 at the time of the sale of the PPI policy?To be determined on the basis of the available evidence.  See also paragraph 8 of theAppendix above.24. If a customer shown to fall within Category F took out a PPI policy:24.1. In what circumstances (if any) did GECB make an “implied representation” thatthe customer “would be eligible for and covered by the PPI”?24.2. If so, in what circumstances (if any) did such representation induce the customerto take out the policy, and what evidence is required to establish this?
See paragraphs 351-354 of the judgment.  These matters would need to be establishedon a balance of probabilities on the facts of each individual case.

27 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
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Category G (self-employment)
25. How and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to inform the customer at thepoint of sale that, if he/she was self-employed (within the meaning of the relevantpolicy wording), this might engage one or more exclusions or limitations under thepolicy?See paragraphs 132(b),(f) and (g) of the judgment.  It should have been ascertainedthat the customer was eligible for at least some part of the cover.  They should alsohave been informed that there were exclusions and restrictions relating to matterssuch as employment status which were set out in the Summary, and given anopportunity to read the Summary.26. Where PPI was sold to a customer who was self-employed, did that give rise (and ifso, in what circumstances) to: (i) liability in negligence on the part of GECB to (a)FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an “unfair relationship” between GECBand the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;28 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.27. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above are relevant in principle.28. What evidence is required to establish on a balance of probabilities that a customerwas self-employed at the time of the sale of the PPI policy?To be determined on the basis of the available evidence.  See also paragraph 8 of theAppendix above.29. When a customer shown to fall within Category G took out a PPI policy:29.1. In what circumstances (if any) did GECB make an “implied representation” thatthe customer “would be eligible for and covered by the PPI”?29.2. In what circumstances (if any) did such representation induce the customer totake out the policy, and what evidence is required to establish this?29.3. In what circumstances (if any) was the representation false?

See paragraphs 351-354 of the judgment.  All these matters would need to beestablished on a balance of probabilities on the facts of each individual case.
Category H (other employment factors)30. How and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to inform the customer at thepoint of sale that, if he/she was within a type of employment arrangement listed inCategory H, this might engage one or more exclusions or limitations under the policy?See paragraphs 132(e)-(g) of the judgment.  There should have been reference to theexistence of exclusions and restrictions relating to matters such as employment statusand the fact that these were set out in the Summary.  The customer should have beengiven an opportunity to read the Summary before entering into the contract.

28 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
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31. Where PPI was sold to a customer falling within Category H, did that give rise (and ifso, in what circumstances) to: (i) liability in negligence on the part of GECB to (a)FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an “unfair relationship” between GECBand the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;29 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.32. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above are relevant in principle.33. What evidence is required to establish on a balance of probabilities that a customerwas, at the time of the sale of the PPI policy, within Category H?To be determined on the basis of the available evidence.  See also paragraph 8 of theAppendix above.34. Where a customer shown to fall within Category H took out a PPI policy:34.1. In what circumstances (if any) did GECB make an “implied representation” thatthe customer “would be eligible for and covered by the PPI”?34.2. In what circumstances (if any) did such representation induce the customer totake out the policy, and what evidence is required to establish this?34.3. In what circumstances (if any) was the representation false?
See paragraphs 351-354 of the judgment.  All these matters would need to beestablished on a balance of probabilities on the facts of each individual case.

Category I (pre-existing medical conditions)35. How and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to inform the customer at thepoint of sale that, if he/she had a pre-existing medical condition, the existence of sucha condition might engage one or more exclusions or limitations under the policy?See paragraphs 132(e)-(g) of the judgment.  There should have been reference to theexistence of exclusions and restrictions relating to matters such as pre-existingmedical conditions and the fact that these were set out in the Summary.  The customershould have been given an opportunity to read the Summary before entering into thecontract.36. Where PPI was sold to a customer who had a pre-existing medical condition whichengaged one or more exclusions or limitations under the policy (“a relevantcondition”) did that give rise (and if so, in what circumstances) to: (i) liability innegligence on the part of GECB to (a) FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an“unfair relationship” between GECB and the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;30 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.
29 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
30 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
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37. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above are relevant in principle.38. What evidence is required to establish on a balance of probabilities that a customerhad, at the time of the sale of the PPI policy, a relevant condition?To be determined on the basis of the available evidence.  See also paragraph 8 of theAppendix above.39. When a customer is shown to have had a relevant condition at the time of the sale ofthe PPI policy:39.1. In what circumstances (if any) did GECB make an “implied representation” thatthe customer “would be eligible for and covered by the PPI”?39.2. In what circumstances (if any) did such representation induce the customer totake out the policy, and what evidence is required to establish this?39.3. In what circumstances (if any) was the representation false?See paragraphs 351-354 of the judgment.  All these matters would need to beestablished on a balance of probabilities on the facts of each individual case.
Category J (cost of PPI “outweighed the benefit a customer could derive from it”)

40. How and to what extent were GECB/retailers required to state to the customer at thepoint of sale that if he/she had “other means, sick-pay benefits or readily accessiblesavings” the cost of the policy might “outweigh the benefit a customer could derivefrom it”?See paragraphs 133-134 of the judgment and paragraph 14 of the Appendix above.Provided that the customer was eligible for at least some part of the cover and anappropriate explanation of the benefits, cost, exclusions/limitations had been given, itwould have been reasonable to assume that they could make up their own mindswhether the policy would be of benefit to them or not.41. In relation to PPI policies attached to “budget” credit accounts, how and to whatextent were GECB/retailers required to state to the customer at the point of sale thatthe cost of the PPI cover might “outweigh the benefit a customer could derive fromit”, depending on the level of outstanding balance from time to time?See paragraphs 133-134 of the judgment and paragraph 14 of the Appendix above.Provided that the customer was eligible for at least some part of the cover and anappropriate explanation of the benefits, cost, exclusions/limitations had been given, itwould have been reasonable to assume that they could make up their own mindswhether the policy would be of benefit to them or not.  Budget Accounts do not fall tobe treated differently from any other form of cover.42. Where PPI was sold to a customer falling within Category J, did that give rise (and ifso, in what circumstances) to: (i) liability in negligence on the part of GECB to (a)FICL/FACL or (b) the customer; and/or (ii) an “unfair relationship” between GECBand the customer?(i) Yes to the extent that AXA/Genworth were required to pay redress and/or FOSfees;31 see paragraphs 371-390 of the judgment;(ii) Does not arise as GECB owed no general duty of care to customers: seeparagraphs 346-348 of the judgment;

31 But see paragraph 386 of the judgment in relation to FOS fees.
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(iii) Does not arise as the CCA 1974 does not apply in the circumstances of this case;see paragraphs 355-360 of the judgment.43. What (if anything) is the relevance of the matters set out in paragraphs 1-5 above inthis regard?The matters set out in paragraphs 1-3 above are relevant in principle.44. What evidence is required to establish on a balance of probabilities that the cost of aPPI policy “outweighed the benefit” a particular customer could derive from it(including that a customer’s sick pay, redundancy entitlement or savings weresufficient for this to be the case)? When a customer falling within Category J took outa PPI policy:44.1. In what circumstances (if any) did GECB make an “implied representation” thatthe PPI “conferred a meaningful benefit on the customer”?44.2. In what circumstances (if any) did such representation induce the customer totake out the policy, and what evidence is required to establish this?44.3. In what circumstances (if any) was the representation false?
See paragraphs 351-354 of the judgment.  All these matters would need to beestablished on a balance of probabilities on the facts of each individual case.
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ANNEX
Relevant Provisions of the Agency Agreement dated 1 December 2000

1. Introduction
1.1  GE-CB has prior to the date of this agreement acted as the Insurers' agent in respect ofthe marketing and sale of the Insurance.  The parties now wish to record the terms andconditions on which GE-CB shall continue to act as the Insurers' agent.
1.2  Unless otherwise stated herein, the parties agree that, notwithstanding clause 3, thisagreement shall apply to and govern the marketing and sale of the Insurance under allof the Schemes (including the Schemes set out in schedule 4 in respect of which thereare in existence at the date of this agreement Existing On-Risk Policies), the ongoingadministration of all Existing On-Risk Policies and New Policies entered into betweeninsured customers and the Insurers pursuant to such Schemes and the parties respectiverights and obligations in respect thereof.
2. Definitions and Interpretation
…
2.2  In this agreement:-

(a) "Expired Risk" means any Existing On-Risk Policy or New Policy in respect ofwhich there is (i) no outstanding claim and (ii) under which there is no further riskof a claim being made against the Insurers by the insured customer in accordancethe terms of such policy;
…
(c) "Existing On-Risk Policy" means a creditor insurance policy or personal accidentinsurance policy entered into before the date of this agreement between an insuredcustomer and the Insurers pursuant to one of the Schemes set out in schedule 4 underwhich an insured customer has made a valid claim which remains outstanding or thereremains a risk that the relevant insured customer may make a claim against the Insurersin accordance with the terms of such policy;
…
(e) "New Policy" means a creditor insurance or personal accident policy entered intoon or after the date of this agreement between an insured customer and the Insurerspursuant to any Scheme;
(f) "Schemes" means the existing schemes for the marketing and sale of the Insuranceset out in schedule 4 and any new scheme launched by the parties for the marketing andsale of the Insurance after the date of this agreement the details of which are set out inan addenda executed by the parties pursuant to clause 4.4

…
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3. Term
This agreement shall commence on the date hereof (the "Effective Date") and shallcontinue in force unless and until terminated in accordance with clause 14.

4. Appointment of Agent
4.1  The Insurers hereby confirm the appointment of GE-CR as their non-exclusive agent tomarket and sell the Insurance.
…
4.3  An addendum to this agreement in the format set out in schedule 1 will be executedeach time the parties launch a new Scheme for the marketing and sale of the Insurance.Details of all of the Schemes in respect of which there are in existence at the date ofthis agreement Existing On-Risk Policies are set out in schedule 4.
5. Association of British Insurer's (ABI)
5.1  This agreement is subject to the ABI Code of Practice for the Selling of GeneralInsurance (the "ABI Code"). Each of the parties shall comply with the terms andconditions of the ABI Code for so long as the same remains in existence.
5.2  The Insurers each acknowledge and agree that GE-CB is an agent of the Insurers forthe purposes of paragraph A of the ABI Code and agrees to accept full responsibilityfor GE-CB's conduct as set out in the ABI Code and for the conduct of GE-CB's sub-agents.
6. Agent's duties
6.1  GE-CB will:-

(a) without prejudice to clause 4.2, act in good faith, observe the Insurers' reasonableinstructions, and use its best endeavours to market and sell the Insurance to those ofGE-CB's customers as GE-CB may select and are eligible for cover in accordance withthe eligibility criteria agreed between the parties from time to time;
(b) give each insured customer a summary of cover or policy document (in a formatagreed with the Insurers) within 10 days of the cover starting;
…
(g) comply with all applicable laws, regulations and codes of practice affecting GE-CB's business activities and the sale of the Insurance, and obtain and maintain alllicences, permits and approvals which are necessary for the conduct of GE-CB'sbusiness;
(h) conduct all business in connection with this agreement ethically and with the utmostintegrity;
…
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6.2  GE-CB will not:-
(a) knowingly sell the Insurance to any customer who is not eligible for cover inaccordance with the eligibility criteria agreed between the parties from time to time;
…
(c) incur any liability on the Insurers' behalf, other than by selling the Insurance inaccordance with this agreement;
…

7. Principal's Duties
7.1  The Insurers will during the term of this agreement.

(a) provide GE-CB with such market research, marketing and technical assistance asthe Insurers think necessary to assist GE-CB with the marketing and sale of theInsurance;
(b) provide GE-CB with such specialised training in relation to the Insurance and themarketing and sale thereof as the Insurers determine in their reasonable discretion isnecessary to enable GE-CB to comply with its obligations under this agreement, limitedto 50 days annually. Additional training to be costed on activity required;
…
(f) conduct all business in connection with this agreement ethically and with the utmostintegrity;
…

12. Indemnities
12.1  Subject to GE-CB complying with their duties under this agreement, the Insurers willindemnify GE-CB against any liability which they may incur by reason only of beingheld out as the Insurers agents.
12.2  Subject to the Insurer complying with their duties under this agreement, GE-CB willindemnify the Insurer against any liability which they may incur by reason of any actor omission by GE-CB (including negligence) while performing their duties under thisagreement.
…
17. Whole Agreement

This agreement contains the entire and only agreement between the parties relating tothe marketing and sale of Insurance by GE-CB from and including the Effective Date
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and supersedes and invalidates all previous agreements and understandings in relationthereto.


